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TECHNICAL NOTE

As you have probably noticed already, this is a digital book 
meant to be reviewed on any platform, Macintosh, Windows 
or Unix, the format used: PDF is totally multiplatform so you 
can pretty much view the document and transfer it to any 
computer. If you rather read it in a more traditional fashion, 
all you have to do is hit the Print button on your computer, 
and you got a paper copy!

Feel free to print as may copies as you want. The more 
people that learn about our interesting history, the more we 
will have fulfilled our objective.

We will periodically be updating the book, so if you feel 
like making a contribution either in text, historical informa-
tion, photos, etc. please let us know.

Contact us at: losmeyer@yahoo.com

©Pablo Meyer 2005.

VERSION 3.7, OCT. 2022
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GGood old Tevye from Anatevka used to sing: Tradition, 
tradition...

A hundred years ago, it was hard to imagine relatives who 
hadn’t had the chance to meet, considering that people usu-
ally lived, and later died, not very far from where they were 
born, where their parents where born and even where their 
grandparents where born.

Today, well today it is quite a different story. We are lucky 
if we have a chance to get together with our closest relatives 
at least a few times a year.

I realized how many of us, descendents of the Meyer 
family, haven’t even had the chance to meet face to face, 
even though there is a long history and tradition that tie us 
together: more than two centuries –from the first recorded 
Meyer ancestor–.

The whole idea of doing this project started in 1998 when 
I received a warm letter from cousins Roger and Conny Meyer, 
inviting all the Meyer clan to get together and celebrate Ilse’s 
birthday in Israel, and to do a Meyer family tree. This cer-
tainly triggered my curiosity, and the more I started to learn 
about the family, the more involved I became in doing this 
project; bear in mind that my definition of a Meyer reunion 
was a casual get-together with my father –at one point, the 
only Meyer members in Mexico–. All of a sudden I have 
met, –either in person or by mail– most of the family which 
encompasses dozens of living members.

We as a family are quite fortunate to have documents, 
pictures and texts which describe in great detail the German 
Jewish way of life and of course, the Meyer way of life, going 
back more than a century. Some of these wonderful stories 
are included in a complete form in the Appendix, from Alice 

Meyer’s biography of her mother-in-law Kätchen, to Karl 
Meyer’s own recording, to Ilse’s recent interview. These are 
incredible stories that describe the trials and tribulations of 
a family trying to cope with great adversity with a depth that 
goes far beyond a trivia of names and dates. This is the real 
essence of this book.

The idea of presenting this book in a digital form was sug-
gested by my father Pedro; this way it can be easily updated 
and distributed. Feel free to print it and copy it. After all, 
the whole point is to have the unique opportunity to show 
our children part of their past, their roots and their heritage.

How ironic that we are using sophisticated technology 
of our times to present our past... Today we live in a global 
village where no one is more than just a mouse click away. 
Lets keep developing this Meyer Family Tree with the hopes 
that in 50 years our grandchildren can have a picture of today 
that is as interesting and insightful as Alice’s Meyer letter 
to her mother-in-law, written almost 70 years ago: nothing 
better to understand the past than to understand the present.

Lastly, on reading of the history of German Jews and work-
ing this project I have come to understand so much more of 
my grandparents Ernesto and Liesel Meyer, who came from 
Mannheim, then to Madrid, then to Brussels, and finally to 
Mexico, and who had to go though the pain and struggles as 
so many other relatives did. 

I wish to dedicate this work to their loving memory.

Pablo Meyer,

Mexico City, 2005

IntroductionI

I N T R O D U C T I O N
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T
Jews in Germany

The first Jews to come to Germany, set foot in those lands 
many centuries ago, probably around the times of Christ, dur-
ing the Roman Empire and possibly even before. More often 
than not they were subject to harsh discrimination. There 
were good times and bad ones, periods of calm followed by 
long stretches of persecution or, worst yet, bloody massacres 
that decimated them and drove them out. 

Since the Middle Ages, life for Jews in Germany was so 
dangerous and difficult that their numbers had dwindled to 
insignificance by the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries.

The expulsion of Jews from Spain in 1492, (the year 
Columbus discovered America) was a very important period 
which forced the Jewish Spanish population to flee to the 
south, –settling within the Arab Empire–, and to the north, 
settling in northern Europe, particularly the Rhineland, 
Poland and Russia.

The modern history of Jews in Germany though, started 
in 1671, after the end of the Thirty Years War, when the first 
of the Hohenzollerns, Frederick William of Brandenburg, 
known as the Great Elector, issued his Carta Magna and 
invited fifty Jewish families who had been expelled from 
Austria to settle in his realm.

Frederick William of Brandenburg was certainly not 
motivated by any affinity or love for Jews, but he was a 
practical man and he needed help to rebuilt his country after 
the devastating war. Together with Jews, he brought along 
other groups like the Protestants from Palatinate, Wallons, 
Salzburgers and thousands of refugees from Bohemia.
For the first hundred years or so, –except for a few who 
served as bankers and financiers– Jews were segrgated from 
mainstream Germans, their condition was governed by the 
Jew Laws, a set of special restrictive and exploitative rules 
with special taxes that served as a source of profit for many 
German princes and rulers. It is important to remember that 
Germany as a single state didn’t exist until two centuries 
later, but rather it was a land of scattered and shifting juris-
dictions among bishoprics, dukedoms, and empires.

There were however, some lucky ones who as court’s 
Jews were exempt from these laws; they played an important 
part in the economy as tax collectors, diplomats, financiers 
and bankers.

J E W S   I N   G E R M A N Y

The eighteenth century brought new ideas, enlighten-
ment and change. This had to do with the belief in man´s 
right as a citizen rather than as a mere subject, and Jews 
were not immune to these changes. More Jews started to 
break out of their narrow confines and more Christians 
tolerated receiving them in their society. In Berlin as well 
as in other cities, Jews started to get involved in universities 
and scholarly groups. As more Jews moved into the cities 
the process of Jewish assimilation into the broader German 
environment began.
During this time, Napoleon not only extended his sway over 
many German principalities but brought with him ideas and 
innovations derived from the French Revolution of 1789. 
He enlisted the rulers of Bavaria, Wuerttemberg and others 
as his allies, and he elevated the rulers to Kings. He also 
promoted a major consolidation so that the new Kingdoms 
of Bavaria and Wuerttemberg, as well as the Grandduchy of 
Baden were larger than their non royal predecessors. There 
were startling changes in borders as a result of the so called 
Reichsdeputationshauptschluss of 1803, the end of the Holy 
Roman Empire (of which Voltaire said that it was neither 
Holy nor Roman nor an Empire).

As the century drew to a close, a series of legal reforms, 
which first took effect in France and Austria, were applied in 
several German states. In 1812 a milestone was reached when 
Prussia abolished the Jew Laws, granting Jews citizenship 
rights as well as duties such as obligation to military service.

It was in the nineteenth century when the German 
Jewry really started to assimilate with such speed that it has 
often been called “one of the most spectacular social leaps 
in European history”.
Over the span of just a few generations, German Jews shed 
their medieval constraints and entered modern life, very 
taking great advantage of it, achieving extraordinary levels 
of success not seen in Jews anywhere else in Europe.
By 1860, there were already twice as many Jewish than 
non-Jewish private banks in Berlin. Throughout Germany 
these private bankers had an amazing surge, names like 
Rothschild and Warburg to name a few. Jewish capital and 
entrepreneurship developed railroads and started some of 
the largest industrial enterprises in the country: electrical, 
chemical, coal mining fields, as well as heavy industry.
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The Unification of Germany, 1815-1871.

Germany in 1834.
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The North German Federation and the German Empire in 1866.
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In 1869, William I and Bismark signed the Tolerance 
Laws granting Jews more latitude and more equality. This 
happen at the same time as similar laws were taking effect 
in other European states such as Italy and the Austro-Hun-
garian Empire. This opened the door for Jews to assimilate 
into mainstream society by allowing them to take public 
posts in government, law and medicine.

As the century drew to a close, the number of German 
Jews who had a professional career, and a college degree 
was unequaled in any other Jewish community throughout 
Europe. While Jews in Poland, Lithuania and Russia were 
mainly rural and agricultural and still quite segregated, Ger-
man Jews lived a much more cosmopolitan life in the cities 
and were already part of the greater German society.

By the beginning of the twentieth century, Germany, the 
country that Bismark had so successfully united had become 
an important world power in constant tension with Europe’s 
other powers: Russia, England and France. 
A lot can be said about the wisdom –or lack of it– of Germany 
entering the war, one thing is certain, the issues that affected 
Germany by losing World War I, such as the reparation costs 
and other conditions imposed by the Allies in the Versailles 
Treaty, the recession and the hyperinflation that followed, 
certainly played a big part on the rise of Hitler to power a 
few years later and to the fatal consequences for the Jews 
not only in Germany but throughout Europe.

During the First World War, 100,000 Jews went to war 
not as Jews but first and foremost as Germans; a third of them 
won medals and honors and 2,000 became officers. Unfortu-
nately 12,000 died in battle, among them Fritz Meyer, son 
of Julius. But far from legitimizing their claim to equality 
as contributing Germans, when the war turned sour, it was 
precisely Jews who were blamed for the loss. Jews were also 
blamed for the difficult economic conditions of post-war 
Germany: who was responsible for the situation if not the 
Jewish bankers...

It is interesting to mention that by this time the most 
prominent names in Jewish banking in Germany had already 
emigrated to the US or England. Names like Rothschild, 
Warburg, Guggenheim, Lehman, Kuhn, Seligman, Loeb 
and others, were among the Jewish aristocracy who were 
fortunate and insightful enough to either start or continue 
their financial institutions, many of which survive today. 

When Hitler came to power in 1933, the situation 
turned for the worse; in spite of the remarkable advances and 
contributions made over the previous century, the 600,000 
Jews of Germany –no more than one percent of the whole 
population– faced a bleak future. 

During the first eight years of Hitler’s government, 
300,000 Jews managed to flee Germany and look for greener 
pastures mainly in England, Palestine and the US, and an 
additional 70,000 died of natural causes. So when the doors 
were finally closed in 1941, there were only 163,000 Jews 
left, most of whom were deported East and very few survived. 
Thousands took their own lives.

In the specific situation of the Meyer Herxheimer family 
it is ironic that while most of the members where able to 
survive by emigrating, one who didn’t run with the same 
luck: Dr Karl Herxheimer (a very well known dermatologist 
in Berlin who had earlier converted to Christianism). He was 
taken to Theresienstadt where he died in 1942.

It was in 2012 that the Frankfurt University decided to 
make a memorial to honour Dr. Karl Herxheimer, a distin-
guished doctor and member of its institution.

J E W S  I N  G E R M A N Y
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I
Jewish Genealogy

In Talmudic times, people credited with bringing light or 
intellectual clarity to their subject were given the surname 
Meir (one who sheds light). A 2nd-century disciple of Rabbi 
Akiva, believed to have been named Mesha or Nehorai 
(Aramaic forms), was known as Rabbi Meir because of his 
keenness in shedding light on the Halacha (the Jewish code 
of law).

The family name Meir is documented as far back as 
Arles, France, in the 13th century. It appears as Meiger and 
Meyger in the 14th century in Strasbourg, as Meyr in 15th 
century France, as Meyer in the 17th century in Germany, 
as Maier in Germany in the 18th century. Other variants 
include May in Germany and Poland and Major in Turkey, 
both in the 16th century; Mayer in France and Germany, 
and M’riro and Merito in Morocco.
Named for their forefathers, families were called Meyerson, 
Meyerovitch, Meyrowitz, Merovic and Ben-Meir, all mean-
ing “the son of Meir”.

In 1683 Meyer is documented in Frankfurt Am Main 
with Moses Meyer.

Although there is no confirmation, it was said that our 
family came to the Rhineland, when the Jews were expelled 
from Spain after 1491. Unfortunately no documents of actual 
facts support this theory. This is explained further in Karl 
Meyer’s transcript (See Appendix).

ON THE NAME HERXHEIMER

Many Jewish family names are also derived from places 
of origin or residence, such is the case of Herxheimer.

Herxheimer, in which the German ending -er means 
of/from, is based on the German towns of Herxheim near 
Ludwigshafen or Herxheim near Karlsruhe, curiously, two 
close towns with the same name.

One of the most distinguished bearers of the Herxheimer 
surname include the German rabbi, Bible translator and 
author Salomon Herxheimer (1801-1884), who happened 
to be Kätchen Meyer’s uncle (see first graph).

J E W I S H  G E N E A L O G Y 
A N D  L A S T  N A M E S

In genealogy –or as it is often called Jewish Geography– 
the Jewish custom of patronymics (first names followed by 
the father’s first name) is important. This custom changed 
when around 1800 various jurisdictions enacted laws which 
mandated last names for Jews. The laws were quite similar but 
not identical; typically they also called for improved com-
munal records, related in turn to the need of governments 
to achieve better control of their jurisdictions. 

 
Representative of these records is a Familienregister, 

Israeliten Gemeinde Buchau – today Bad Buchau in Baden-
Wuerttemberg– which survives only as a microfilm (from 
which various printouts have been reconstituted). It begins 
on 1 January 1809 and ends in December 1853, prepared 
by Max I. Maendle, Gemeindepfleger, i.e. secretary of the 
Buchau Jewish Community. 
Many of the early entries were prepared almost certainly by 
the local Roman Catholic priest, with a focus on families. 
Since this includes the date of birth of husband and wife, 
plus the names of their parents, some entries allow research 
back to as early as about 1740.

A few of these records still exist, largely because of Nazi 
efforts to establish racial purity for its own purposes. The 
Wuerttemberg records were microfilmed as late as April 1945, 
when French and American troops were already well across 
the Rhine and the end of the Third Reich clearly was in 
sight. The few surviving originals and the many microfilmed 
records are in the Landesarchiv Baden-Wuerttemberg in 
Stuttgart, in care of the Israelitische Gemeinde in Stuttgart.

ON THE NAME MEYER

The name Meyer literally means “farmer” in German, 
it was an administrator for the estates of the nobility then 
a sort of sharecropper, as a Jewish family name, Meyer is a 
variant of the Hebrew meir. The Hebrew name meir means 
“illuminates” or “radiates”, since many Jewish given and 
family names are based on ideas and symbols embedded in 
legend and history.

Light (in Hebrew “or”) is the primal element of creation 
in all ancient cosmologies. In the Bible, it is the first creation 
of god, divine light (Gen. I, 2-3). In rabbinical literature, it 
is also the symbol of the Torah, the soul and wisdom.



10

T
The Towns

THE RHINELAND

Since most of the pre-war history of the Meyer clan took 
place in a small region of southern Germany, it is interesting 
to learn a little bit about these lands:

THE TOWN OF WIESBADEN

Wiesbaden, where most of our Meyer ancestors lived, was 
a town in the state of Hesse, Germany, until the unification 
of Germany in October 1890. The towns of Dotzheim and 
Schierstein, mentioned as the birth places of some of our 
ancestors area really now bouroughs of Wiesbaden.

During the Stone Age, there was a settlement in the 
area. During the Roman period the place was known as 
“Aqua Mattiacae” and during the period of Charlemagne 
(9th century) the place was named “Wisibada”. 

From the 13th century on it was a part of the county 
of Nassau. After the Thirty Year 
War, during which the town had 
been destroyed several times, 
there came a period of develop-
ment and prosperity. In 1866 
Wiesbaden became the county 
seat of Hessen-Nassau in the 
principality of Prussia.

In 1385, a Jew named Ger-
shon lived in the town. Until 
the 17th century few Jews lived 
there, two or three families at 
the most. A room for prayers was 
consecrated in one of the Jewish 
private homes. During the 16th 
century, the Jews were under 
the patronage of the local nobil-
ity who protected them despite 
the opposition of the Christian 
residents. During that period 
Jews from other states came as 
guests to the spa. 

Despite the small number of Jews in the town, every 
street where Jews lived was called Jew street (Judengasse). 

T H E  T O W N S

But there was neither a ghetto nor a distinct Jewish quarter 
in Wiesbaden. In 1626 all the Jews were expelled from the 
town, but they returned in 1638. A Jew named Natan was 
the first to receive the right of residence for one year and by 
1747 there were nine privileged Jewish families in the town.

In 1732 the Jewish Law was published (Judenordnung) 
severely limiting their rights. The Jews were banned from 
the baths which served the Christian guests. They were also 
forbidden to use the esplanade or gamble at the casino which 
had been opened in 1771. The Jews of Wiesbaden and their 
Jewish guests could only use the Jewish baths. The local Jews 
opened their own restaurants. There was discrimination in 
commerce too, Jews were allowed to shop in the market only 
at designated hours. Until 1800 the head of the community 
was appointed by the German authorities.

At the beginning of the 19th century there were only 
18 Jewish families in Wiesbaden. Most of them lived on 
one street: Langgasse. The rabbi also served as shochet, 
judge and community leader. By 1820 the number had in-
creased to 85 Jews, among which we find our own relatives. 

Finally in 1848, as in the rest 
of Germany, the spirit of the 
emancipation penetrated into 
Nassau and the Jews received 
equal civil rights.

From 1732 until 1826 
prayers were held in different 
private houses. A synagogue 
was established only in 1826, 
with the cost of the building 
being donated by the Roths-
childs of the Frankfurt house; 
the synagogue seated 200. 
During the years 1832-1838 
Dr. Abraham Geiger was rabbi 
of the Wiesbaden congrega-
tion and he instituted changes 
in the prayer service in keep-
ing with his liberal beliefs. 

During the 19th century 
with the growing prosperity of the town, the Jewish com-
munity grew and in August 1896 a new synagogue was 
dedicated, seating 358. The Emperor Wilhelm I attended 
the dedication ceremonies. The prayers were in the liberal 
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style, most of them in Hebrew with the accompaniment of 
an organ. During that period a community center was built 
which contained a prayer-hall seating 40 men only and a 
library. When the new synagogue was built some left and 
organized an orthodox congregation that was recognized by 
the authorities in 1879. In 1897 the orthodox synagogue 
seating 200 was built. The orthodox buried their dead in 
the Wiesbaden Jewish cemetery until 1877 when they es-
tablished a cemetery of their own.

Besides the liberal and orthodox synagogues there were 
several other places of Jewish worship, one conservative, 
some were active only on the Sabbath and Jewish holidays 
and served the Jews from Eastern Europe.

The Wiesbaden community had three cemeteries. The 
first was constructed in 1750 and in use until 1890. It had 
553 tombstones. The second was opened in 1891 and Jews 
from other places who died in Wiesbaden were also buried 
there. The orthodox cemetery contained 372 graves.

The compulsory education law passed in 1819 obliged 
Jewish children to attend the local schools. There were 

separate Jewish schools for the study of Bible and Hebrew.

In the 1800’s as cities grew due to the industrial revolu-
tion (Wiesbaden grew from 2,200 inhabitants in 1800 to 
86,000 in 1900) Jews also began moving from small towns 
and villages to the cities. 

From the middle of the 19th century until the outbreak 
of the Second World War in 1939, various community 
organizations were established in Wiesbaden; There were 
about ten communal organizations: a burial society, womens’ 
associations, a loan society, a craftmen’s union and organiza-
tions supporting orphanages and hospitals. There was also 
an old-age home, a kindergarten, a kosher public kitchen 
and a choir.

Branches of the Jewish Foundation fund and the Zionist 
Organization were established in 1900. In 1905 there were 
2,109 Jews in Wiesbaden. Fifty-seven Jewish soldiers from 
Wiesbaden were killed in action in World War I (1914-
1918).

T H E  T O W N S

Wiesbaden, 1910.



12

T H E  T O W N S

An old postcard with a photo af Wiesbaden's sinagoge.
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The Jews of Wiesbaden occupied an important part of 
the business sector of Wiesbaden. They were merchants, 
craftsmen, factory owners, bankers, owners of hotels and 
restaurants. Among the Jewish members of the free profes-
sions were judges, doctors, some of them famous professors, 
architects, musicians, teachers, writers and actors. Some Jews 
served as members of the municipal council.

By 1933 there were 2,713 Jews in the town, 2.7% of the 
general population.

THE HOLOCAUST PERIOD

In 1937, four years after the advent of the Nazis to power, 
most of the Jews had left Wiesbaden. In 1938, the licences of 
all the Jewish doctors and lawyers were revoked. During the 
Krystallnacht Pogrom on November 9, 1938 the liberal syna-
gogue was completely destroyed and the orthodox synagogue 
partly destroyed. The plaque, commemorating the Jewish 
soldiers who died in World War I, was damaged.
The synagogue was burned, the clothing store, Gebrüder 
Baum had all of its windows and display cases destroyed, as 
did every other Jewish owned store. The Jewish men were 
arrested.  After that night many Jews committed suicide, 
and during the years 1941-42 about 800 Jews were sent to 
Theresienstadt and other camps in Eastern Europe. Finally, 
in 1943-44 Jews who were descendants of mixed marriages 
were also deported.

After the War, in December 1946, a new community was 
founded in the town with the help of the American Army Oc-
cupation Authorities. The orthodox synagogue was repaired. 
In 1940-50 there were 350 Jews left and on September 11, 
1966 a synagogue seating 174 was consecrated. 

On the site of the liberal synagogue, the town of Wies-
baden planted a public park in 1962 named after Heinrich 

Heine, and there is a plaque commemorating the liberal 
synagogue.

In 1970, 345 Jews remained in Wiesbaden.

MANNHEIM

Jews first settled in Mannheim (which was founded in 
1606) around 1652, and the first rabbi, Naphtali Herz, served 
from 1657 to 1671. The community was granted a highly 
favorable charter in 1660. A cemetery was acquired a year 
later (in use until 1839), and a synagogue and mikveh were 
built in 1664. 
In 1663 there were 15 Jewish families in the town, two of 
them Portuguese, founders of a Portuguese community that 
later maintained its own schoolteacher and enjoyed par-
ticular privileges. By 1680 there were 78 Jewish families in 
Mannheim; in 1689 they aided the Burghers in the defense 
of the city against the French; on its destruction they took 
refuge in the communities of Heidelberg and Frankfurt.
84 families had returned to the city by 1691 when a new 
charter was issued. Modeled on the first one, the charter 
fixed the number of tolerated families at 86 (increased to 
150 in 1698), established an interest rate of 5% on loans, 
and abolished the yellow badge. The charter of 1717 raised 
the number of tolerated families to 200 and permitted an 
interest rate of 10%. The favorable position of the Jews there 
is expressed in a contemporary reference to Mannheim as 
“new Jerusalem.” There were many local followers of Shab-
betai Tzevi in the community, vigorously opposed by its 
rabbi, Samuel Helman (1726-51). In 1708 the synagogue 
and cheder (klaus), donated by Lemle Moses Rheinganum, 
was consecrated and later endowed with 100,000 gulden 
(it remained in use until 1940). An unsuccessful attempt 
was made when the Jewish charter was renewed in 1765 to 
establish a separate Jewish quarter. 

T H E  T O W N S

A panoramic view of Mannheim, 1850.
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Political emancipation came in 1807, followed by full 
civil rights in 1862. The main synagogue was consecrated in 
1855. The number of Jews in Mannheim rose from 940 in 
1801, to 4,249 in 1885, 6,402 in 1913, and 6,400 (2.3% of 
the total population) in 1933. 

The community issued a monthly bulletin (1922-38) and 
maintained a lehrhaus (school for adults) between 1922 and 
1938, as well as numerous charitable, cultural, and social 
organizations. Jews were active in the social, cultural, and 
political life of the city.

City plan of Mannheim, 1850.

T H E  T O W N S

The interior of the synagogue was demolished on April 1, 
1933, and by 1938 only 3,000 Jews remained in Mannheim. 
On November 10, 1938, the main synagogue was burned and 
the community was forced to transfer the remains of 3,586 
bodies interned in the old cemetery to the public one. On Oc-
tober 22, 1940, 2,000 Jews were deported to the internment 
camp of Gurs and the remainder to Auschwitz a year later. 

After World War II, Jews returned to Mannheim; they 
numbered 68 in 1945 and 386 in 1970. Finally, in 1957 a new 
synagogue was opened.
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The Theatre Plaza, Mannheim, 1850.

The Apollo Temple, Mannheim, 1850.

T H E  T O W N S
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T H E  T O W N S
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The Meyer Herxheimer ClanT H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N

The Meyer family, 1926.
Standing: Theodor Kronenberger, Gustav Meyer, Karl Meyer       , Ernst Meyer,  Anni & Paul Meyer, grandmother 
Schlesinger, (?), Ludwig Meyer. Sitting: Ilse Meyer,  Alice Meyer, Jenny and Julius, Kätchen,  Amelie and Lotte (Ludwig's 
wife).

II
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ISAAC HERXHEIMER
(SELIGMAN)

b. Herxheim 1756  d.1833

HERZ HERXHEIMER
b. 1803 d. Wiesbaden 1879

AMELIE MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1882  d. Montreal 1968

PROF. LUDWIG MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1879  d.  Tel Aviv 1954

MATHILDE MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1872  d.  Aachen 1941

EMIL MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1870  d.  Wiesbaden 1913

DR. GUSTAV MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1868  d. 1939

JULIUS MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1866  d. Madrid 1934

Jacob b. 1840 d. 1867 

Dr. Salomon b. 1841 d. 1899

Lina b. 1843 d. 1883

KÄTCHEN b. 1846  d. 1936

Elise b. 1848 d. 1923

Amalie b. 1849 d. 1943

Minna b. 1851 d. ?

Clara b. 1854 d. 1934

Ferdinand b. 1856 d. 1918

Prof. Karl b. 1861 d. 1942

Jacob b. 1840 d. 1867

Abraham 
JANNETTE b. 1817 d. 1897

Maier b. 1822

Karoline b. 1826

Jacob b. 1826 d. 1836

Hannchen b. 1829 d.1830

Carl
Luisa b. 1831

Klara
Julie b. 1836 

Hannchen
Salomon b. 1801 d. 1884

Dorotte b. 1810 d. 1880

Minna b. 1812 d. 1878

ZERLINE MEYER
b. Dotzheim 17981  d.1843

JACOB LIEBMAN
b. Schierstein 1790 d. Wiesbaden 1871

VEILCHEN OPPENHEIM
b.   ? d.1873

b. Schierstein 1817 d. Wiesbaden 1897

SAMUEL JACOB MEYER
b. Grenzhansen 1813 d. Wiesbaden 1887

JACOB MEYER

?

b.  Grenzhansen 17? d.18?

b. Hamburg 1812 d. Wiesbaden 1873

AMALIE ROSEMBERG

JANETTE LIEBMAN

b. 1828
HENRIETTE ?

MORITZ MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1841 d. Wiesbaden 1914

KÄTCHEN HERXHEIMER
b.  Wiesbaden 1846 d. Wiesbaden 1936

EPHRAIM ROSEMBERG

?

Hamburg

See HERZ' BRANCH I

WOLF BENJAMIN 
b. ? d. Schierstein 1749

 ABRAHAM WOLF 
 b. ?  d. Schierstein 1798

 Therese

   JACOB ABRAHAM 
   b. 1760  d. 1828

   Gutel

SELGMANN ISAAK
b. Herxheim

THE MEYER-HERXHEIMER CLAN

NOTE:
Due to space constraints, not all the members could be fitted in one single page; 
each branch of Moritz and Kätchen’s children is identified by a different color and is presented in the following pages.
More on this side of the Herxheimer family can be found at this link:
www.ancestry.co.uk/family-tree/tree/155805832/family/familyview?cfpid=262057261059
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See HERZ' BRANCH IHERZ HERXHEIMER
b. 1803 d. Wiesbaden 1879

Isaac Herxheimer  b. 1828 d. ?

Seligmann Herxheimer  b. 1828 d. 1900

b. Schirstein 1817 d. Wiesbaden 1897

JANETTE LIEBMAN

b. 1803   d. 1828
HENRIETTE ?

See previous tree

Caroline Gutenstein b. 1820 d. 1911

Zerline Meyer 
Siegfried Herxheimer  b. 1856 d. 1900

Frieda Scherer

Hermann Herxheimer  b. 1856 d. ?

Thekla Strauss  b. 1868 d. ?

Julius Herxheimer b. 1857 d. 1922 Dr. Hans

Margot

Ida Herxheimer  b. 1858 d. 1929

Bella Ledermann b. 1872

Adolf Kahn b. 1851 d. 1912

THE MEYER-HERXHEIMER CLAN
HERTZ' BRANCH I

Family with his first wife Henriette

NOTE:
More on this side of the Herxheimer family can be found at this link:
www.ancestry.co.uk/family-tree/tree/155805832/family/familyview?cfpid=262057261059
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HERXHEIMER SIBLINGS

JACOB HERXHEIMER
b. Weisbaden 1840 d. Wiesbaden 1867

Dr. SALOMON HERXHEIMER
b. Weisbaden 1841 d. Weisbaden 1899

Fanny Livingston
b. 1853  d. 1922

ZERLINA (LINA) HERXHEIMER
b. Weisbaden 1841 d. Weisbaden 1883

Moritz Desenberg
b. 1831  d. 1985

ELISE HERXHEIMER
b. Wiesbaden 1848  d. Wiesbaden 1923

Oscar Cohen
b. 1842  d. 1927

AMALIE HERXHEIMER
b. Wiesbaden 1849  d. Thereisenstadt 1943

Adolf Lowensberg
b. Mainz 1843  d. 1903

MINNA HERXHEIMER
b. Wiesbaden 1851  d. ?

Siegmund Lowensberg
b. Mainz 1845  d. 1916

CLARA HERXHEIMER
b. Wiesbaden 1854  d. 1934

Otto Winter
b. 1832  d. ?

 FERDINAND HERXHEIMER
b. Wiesbaden 1856  d. Wiesbaden 1918

Carolina Jordan
b. 1860  d. ?1950

DR. KARL HERXHEIMER
b. Wiesbaden 1861  d. Thereisenstadt 1942

Olga Hepner
b. 1868  d. 1928

HERZ HERXHEIMER
b. 1803 d. Wiesbaden 1879

b. Schirstein 1817 d. Wiesbaden 1897

JANETTE LIEBMAN
Moritz Meyer

b.  Wiesbaden 1841 d. Wiesbaden 1914

 KÄTCHEN HERXHEIMER
b.  Wiesbaden 1846 d. Wiesbaden 1936

THE 
HERXHEIMER 
SIBLINGS
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T
T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N

Through extensive research, we were able to find several 
generations going back to Wolf Bejamin who was Kätchen's  
great great great grandfather on her father's Liebman side, 
and who lived in the first half of the XIIX century.

Obviously this kind of information is rather sketchy 
since official registers didn't happen until the middle of the 
century. For instance, we know that Abraham Wolf, who 
died in 1798, had two sons, Maier and Jacob.  When Jews 
in Schierstein took family names around 1840, the children 
of Maier took the name Baum, while Jacob’s children took 
the name Liebman.  Also, through the Leo Baeck Institut, 
and thanks to Daniel Kester, a distant relative of ours and 
a decendant from the Baum family, he was able to locate a 
document that shows that the Oppenheim surname was only 
taken by Vielchen and her family around 1843. Before that, 
they were using the name Feist.

One of the interesting facts about these findings is how 
far back our family had been living in Wiesbaden of one of 
its adjacent towns, in this case, Schierstein.

Perhaps one of our oldest and most well-known ances-
tors is no other than rabbi Salomon Herxheimer who wrote 
several important books on judaism and who also a book 
written about him.

Salomon, who was Kätchen's uncle (Hertz' oldest brother) 
was born in Dotzheim, now also part of Wiesbaden. At the 
age of thirteen he began his theological studies at Mayence, 
in the yeshibah of Rabbi Herz Scheyer, applying himself as-
siduously at the same time to secular studies under Michael 
Creizenach. Four years later he left Mayence to accept a posi-
tion as private tutor at Herborn, Nassau, where he remained 
until 1824. In that year he entered the University of Marburg, 
where he studied pedagogy, history, and Oriental languages.

After three years at Marburg, he went to Göttingen; after 
passing the necessary examination, he was appointed religious 
instructor at Eschwege, and became district rabbi. While at 
Eschwege he wrote "Yesode ha-Torah," which reached its 
twenty-ninth edition in 1883.

While untiring in his efforts for the moral elevation of 
the young, Herxheimer's chief aim was the development of 
agricultural pursuits among his coreligionists. He also devoted 
much time and effort to the amelioration of the condition of 
Palestinian and Turkish Jews. 

In addition to the "Yesode ha-Torah" he wrote: "Der Pen-
tateuch im Hebräischen Texte mit Worttreuer Uebersetzung 
und mit Fortlaufender Erklärung," 1841; "Die Propheten und 
Hagiographen im Text mit Uebersetzung und Fortlaufendem 
Commentar," 1841-48 and "Israelitische Glauben- und 
Pflichten-Lehre," 1836.

Rabbi Salomon Herxheimer.
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Moritz and Kätchen Meyer, 1897.

T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N
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Moritz and Kätchen Meyer, 1874.

T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N
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Meyer family, 1890.

Meyer family, 1895.

T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N
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Janette Herxheimer with son-in-law Moritz Meyer, 1890.

Moritz Meyer, 1900.
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Ludwig Meyer during World War I, 1915.

T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N
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The matriarch of the family: Kätchen Meyer, 1934.

T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N
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T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N

ANNIVERSARY CELEBRATION OF GUSTAV & ALICE MEYER
FOREGROUND: Anni Meyer, wife of Paul Meyer, Paul Meyer, first grandchild of Kätchen Meyer.
ROW 1: (from left to right) Anni`s mother, Matilda Ehrenbach, daughter of Kätchen Meyer, Sister of Kätchen 
Meyer, Sister of Kätchen Meyer, Kätchen Meyer, nee Herxheimer, Malchien Lowenbach, sister of Kätchen Meyer
Amalie Kronenberger, daughter of Kätchen Meyer.
ROW 2: Hans Efraim Meyer,, son of Ilse and Emile Meyer, and grandson of Kätchen, Julius Meyer, eldest son of 
Kätchen Meyer, Ludwig Meyer, son of Kätchen Meyer(physician), Else Meyer, daughter-in-law of Kätchen Meyer; 
mother of Carl and Hanns wife of Emil, Gustav Meyer, son of Kätchen Meyer,  Alice Meyer, wife of Gustav, Jenny 
Meyer, wife of Julius Meyer, Robert Erlenbach, husband of Matilda, Lottie Meyer, wife of Ludwig Meyer.
ROW 3:  Walter Meyer, son of Gustav and Alice Meyer, Carl Emanuel Meyer, K arl Meyer, son of Emil and Else, 
Theo Kronenberger, husband of Amalie, Kurt Kronenberger, son of Theo and Amalie, Ilse Meyer, daughter of Lud-
wig and Lottie Meyer, Peter Meyer, son of Ludwig and Lottie, Ruth Meyer, daughter of Ludwig and Lottie Meyer, 
Kurt Meyer and Ernst Meyer, sons of Julius and Jenny Meyer.
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T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N

Katchen & Moritz with all their children with spouses, 1911.
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Janette Herxheimer's grave in Wiesbaden.
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Dr. Karl Herxheimer, 1932.

T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N

AAlso named, Salomon, but in this case not an uncle but 
rather  Kätchen's  brother, Dr. Salomon Herxheimer was 
quite well known in the medical world. He was a patholo-
gist and anatomist and had written a famous anatomy atlas 
which was widely used by medical students. He seems to have 
lived well-off, and owned the a famous  "Villa Herxheimer" 
in Frankfurt. Ferdinand his brother, imported olive oil and 
wine from Portugal.

But without a doubt, one of the more notable memebers 
of the Herxheimer family was Prof. Karl Herxheimer, also 
Kätchen's brother. 

Karl received his doctorate at Würzburg in 1885. He, later 
worked with his brother, Salomon Herxheimer in Frankfurt-
am-Main. In 1894 he became director of the dermatology 

clinic in Frankfurt, and with Paul Ehrlich (1854-1915), was 
instrumental in founding and financing the University of 
Frankfurt. Paul Arnberg, the distinguished Frankfurter Ger-
man Jewish historian and journalist named him as the “most 
loyal Frankfurter inhabitant“ that he had known, as he had 
given his life to be able to stay in that city.

From 1894 and until his retirement in October 1929, 
Karl Herxheimer was the Director of the Public Hospital 
(Städtisches Krankenhaus ), which soon became the Univer-
sity Clinic for Skin and Venereal Diseases (Universitätsklinik 
für Haut- und Geschlechtskrankheiten) in Frankfurt 
Sachsenhausen. After his retirement, in 1930 Herxheimer, 
found time to travel all over the Taunus mountain chain 
with his dog Greif and dedicate himself to reading his dear 
Goethe and  Shakespeare. 
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One of the results of this passion was “Shakespeare and 
venereal diseases“.

 
Karl is credited with providing an early description of 

acrodermatitis chronica atrophicans (diffuse idiopathic cuta-
neous atrophy), which is a dermatological disorder associated 
the latter stages of Lyme disease. This condition is sometimes 
referred to as Pick-Herxheimer disease, named along with 
co-discoverer Philipp Josef Pick. With Austrian dermatolo-
gist Adolf Jarisch, the Jarisch-Herxheimer reaction is named, 
which is an inflammatory reaction to Salvarsan, antibiotics 
or mercury, when using these agents to treat syphilis.

Karl was one of the few members of the family who 
decided to stay in Gemany in spite of the antisemitism. 
Being a non-practicing Jew and married to a Christian, he 
was confident that his medical status whould be enough to 
keep him save.

When the Nazis overtook power in Germany in 1933. 
the successor was Martin Schubert. He was a convinced Nazi 
who forbade Herxheimer´s entrance to the clinic. And when 
-together with his housefeeper Henriette Rosenthal- was ar-

rested by the Gestapo probably at dawn on the 27nd August 
1942 in Frankfurt, there was nobody there of those that he 
had helped that could have aided him at that moment.

In an investigation carried out in the context of a derma-
to-historical publication about Karl Herxheimer, documents 
unknown till now have been found in the Justice Department 
and in the Berna Police that promise to produce some light 
in relation to the darkness of the last days in Frankfurt of 
this unfortunate man. 

 In the Gestapo headquarters he signed his last “decla-
rations“ that later were considered as a will, in which he 
transferred their Swiss property in Gunten, on the banks of 
the Thuner Lake to the von Graffenried family in Berna.  It 
is not clear up to which point the Swiss Consulate in the 
Myliusstrasse in Frankfurt was involved and how these docu-
ments arrived from the Gestapo prison in the Lindenstrasse in 
Frankfurt, to the Justice Department and to the Berna Police. 

The last written life sign of Karl Herxheimer that is 
known till now is dated on August 28th 1942: a plain  post-
card sent from the Gestapo prison which was located in the 
Lindestrasse in Frankfurt to a former nurse from the Clinical 

Declaration

Frankfurt on the Maine, August 27th 1942

Through this note I state that 4/6 of the house
Sonnhalde, located in /not readable/-Gunten, 
on the banks of Lake Thun  (Switzerland) 
belong to me and that in case of my death I 
transfer this part to Dr. Kurt von Graffenried 
living en Alter Aargauer Stalden 2.

Prof. Karl Israel Herxheimer

T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N
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T H E  M E Y E R  H E R X H E I M E R  C L A N

Dermatological Hospital. Karl Herxheimer and y Henriette 
Rosenthal didn't dare sign their names; they had just changed 
them into: K.H. y H.R. Maybe Karl Herxheimer did not want 
to sign his last lines as Karl Israel Herxheimer as he had been 
forced to sign his “ declaration of property cession“. 

In late 1942, at the age of 81, Karl Herxheimer was mur-
dered by the Nazis at the Theresienstadt concentration camp 
where his sister Amalie also died one year later.

In 2012, the German Dermatological Society and the 
Dermatological Clinic of the University of Frankfurt decide 
to conmemorate the 70 aniversary of his death by appending 
an inscription onto the gravestone of Karl Herxheimer’s wife 
Olga Herxheimer née Heppner, in the Old Jewish Cemetery 
on Rat-Beil-Strasse in block 113, Row 8

Dr. Karl Herxheimer's gravestone
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Moritz and Kätchen's resting place in Wiesbaden.
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JULIUS’ BRANCH I

m. 1895

Bertha Buxbaum
b. Frankenthal 1873  d. Mannheim 1900

Heinrich Buxbaum
b. Ottwiler 1846  d. Frankenthal 1923

Sara Dreifuss
b. Lambshein 1846  d. Frankenthal 1935

m. 1905

Jenny Kugelmann
See JULIUS' BRANCH II

m. 1825

Anni Schlesinger
b. Breslan 1903  d. Haifa 1973

JULIUS MEYER

JULIUS' BRANCH I

b.  Wiesbaden 1866  d. Madrid 1934

DR. PAUL MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1896  d. Haifa 1963

m. 1955

Hanhah Ajali
b. 1926

HAIM FRITZ MEIR
b.  Mannheim 1926  d. Haifa 2008

m. 1981

Hadas Avinery
b. 1961

DANI MEIR
b. Haifa 1960

ROTEM MEIR
b. Tel Aviv 1990

AMIR MEIR
b. Tel Aviv 1993

ALMA MEIR
b. Tel Aviv 1996

YORAM MEIR
b. Haifa 1956  d. Sidney 1999

m. 1955

Prof. Ewy Schachter
b. Kimpuleng 1932

DR. EPHRAIM  CONNY MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1930 d. Haifa 2014

FRITZ MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1897  d. Poel Kapelle 1917

m. 1988

 Dr. Mira Levin
b. 1963

ILAN MEYER
b. Haifa 1963

ODED MEYER PHD
b. Haifa 1967

SEGEV MEYER
b. Haifa 1990

YARDEN MEYER
b. Manof 1994

MEITAR MEYER
b. Manof 1996

Izchak Buxbaum

7th GENERATION 8th GENERATION 9th GENERATION 10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION
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JULIUS' BRANCH II
continued

11th GENERATION 12th GENERATION

ROTEM MEIR
b. Tel Aviv 1990

AMIR MEIR
b. Tel Aviv 1993

ALMA MEIR
b. Tel Aviv 1996

SEGEV MEYER
b. Haifa 1990

YARDEN MEYER
b. Manof 1994

MEITAR MEYER
b. Manof 1996

m. 2019

Yve Gesser
b.  Ra’anana 1991

MEL MESSER
b. Haifa 2020

JULIUS’ BRANCH I
continued
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J
Julius’ Branch IJ U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I

Julius Meyer married Bertha Buxbaum in 1894. They 
had two sons: Paul (1896) and Fritz (1897). Fritz died in 
battle at Poel Kapelle, Belgium in 1917 during World War 
I. Paul married Anni Schlesinger (a descendent of the well 
known Kempinski family - hotels) in 1925. They had two 
sons Fritz Heinrich –now Chaim– (1926) and Konrad –now 
Ephraim– (1930). 

Paul specialized in Dermatology and was quite successful 
in his academic career in Breslau. He later practiced in his 
hometown of Mannheim. In 1935 he went to live in Pal-
estine. He had severe difficulties in adapting culturally and 
economically. In the late fifties he renewed ties with European 
Dermatology and published papers. He died of gastric cancer 
on December 29, 1963. 

Bertha, Julius’ wife died of diabetes in 1900 and in 1905 
Julius married Jenny Kugelman who had been the children‘s 
nanny. They had two sons Ernst, born in 1906 and Kurt in 
1908. Ernst married Liesel Richheimer, and they went in the 
late thirties to Mexico City. Their son Pedro (1938) lives in 
Mexico City and is a most prestigious photographer. Kurt 
married Lotte Schever and they settled in Caracas, Venezuela. 
They had two children, Dorith and Juan.

Fritz-Chaim married Hannah Ajali and they had two 
sons: the late Joram (1956) and Dani (1960). 

Chaim served as officer first in the British Army and later 
in the Israeli Army, and in Israel´s secret service. He passed 
away in 2007 from a respiratory desease. At the time of his 
death he was a retired Colonel. 

Hannah was born in kibutz Tel-Yoseph and grew up in 
Haifa and Tel Aviv, she also served in the Israeli Army, later 
she worked as a secretary at several establishments

Joram graduated with a BS from Tel Aviv University in 
Political Science and received a Masters from Florida Inter-
national University in Hotel and Food Service Management. 
He then went to Sydney, Australia where he was successful in 
running restaurants for Pizza Hut. He died suddenly in 1999 
to the deep pain of all his loved ones. 

Dani, who grew up in Haifa and Tel Aviv, got his BS –af-
ter serving in the Israeli Army– from Tel Aviv University in 
Economics and later finished a course in the art of cooking. 
After working as a chef at the Dan hotel in Tel Aviv, since 
1998 he has been an assistant manager of a catering company 
supplying foreign airlines at the Ben-Gourion Airport.

Fritz Meyer, the year he died, 1917.
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Dani’s wife Hadas Avinery also grew up in Tel Aviv and 
got her BS from Tel Aviv University in Stage Design. She 
works in the Camary Theater in Tel Aviv and is the mother 
of three children: Rotem (1990), Amir (1993) and Alma 
(1996). 

Ephraim-Conny was a successful cardiologist. He did his 
clinical research during his post doctoral training in the USA 
where he served as research chief resident in the cardiovas-
cular department of Michael Reese Hospital in Chicago and 
later in teh Baylor College of Medicine. 

Ephraim married Ewy Schachter, a Holocaust survivor 
who is one of the leading pediatric ophthalmologist in Israel. 
They have two children: Ilan (1963) an Engineer who runs an 
industrial management company. He is married to Dr. Mira 
Levin a Pediatrician. They have three sons: Segev (1991), 
Yarden (1994) and Meitar (1996). 

Ephraim´s other son Oded (1967) is a PhD in statistics. 
He has been a professor at Carnagie Mellon University and 
is currently teaching at Georgetown University in Wash-
ington DC.

The dapper Julius Meyer, 1932.

J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I
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Julius Meyer tomb in Madrid, Spain.

J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I
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J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I

Young Paul Meyer posing in his military uniform.

Iron Cross 2nd class awarded to 
Paul Meyer in 1915 after being 
wounded in the Western Front,.
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Paul Meyer in the 30’s. Paul Meyer in 1952.

J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I
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Haim (Fritz) Meyer.

Haim (Fritz) Meyer. already in Israel in his army uniform.

J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I

Julius and Jenny Meyer with grandchild Haim (Fritz, then).



43

J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I

Anni and Paul Meyer.

Haim and Conny with wives Hanhah and Ewy.
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J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I

Ex libris of Dr. Paul Meyer and son Fritz.
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J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I

Conny Meyer in 1976.

Chaim Meyer in 2000.

Chaim Meyer in 1986.
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Dani and Hadas, 2000.

Ilan and his family, 2000.

Alma, 2000. Amir, 2000.Rotem 2000.

J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I
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J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I

Oded and cousin Jessica Meyer.
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JULIUS’ BRANCH II

m. 1958

 Eugenia Walerstein
b. Mexico City 1940

m. 1988

 Alejandra Jinich
b. Torreón, México 1964

m. 1993

 Trisha Ziff

m. 2010

 Nadia Baram

b. Leeds 1957

m. 1935

Lotte Scheuer
b.  Mannheim 1911  d. Stanford 2007

m. 1957

Dr. Stanley Hollander
b. Newark 1931  d. Florida 2013

m. ?

 Frank Nash
b. 1951

m. 1894

 Bertha Buxbaum
See JULIUS' BRANCH I

m. 1905

Jenny Kugelmann
b.  Eschwege 1875  d. Mexico City 196?

m. 1934

 Liesel Richheimer
b.  Mannheim 1912  d. Mexico City 1987

JULIUS MEYER

JULIUS' BRANCH II

b.  Wiesbaden 1866  d. Madrid 1934

ERNST MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1906  d. Mexico City 1988

PEDRO MEYER
b. Madrid 1935

JULIO MEYER
b. Santa Monica, Ca 1995

PABLO MEYER
b.  Mexico City 1961

KURT MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1908  d. New York 1971

m. ?

 Dr. Shiobhan O Connor     
b. 1965

DR. MICHAEL HOLLANDER
b. Newark 1961

BEATRICE NASH
b. Greenwich CT 1996

WILLIAM NASH
b. Greenwich CT 1998

ZACH HOLLANDER
b. New York 1994

NOAH HOLLANDER
b. Philadelphia 1998

m. 1998

Carl Edwards
b. Massachusetts1964

BARBARA HOLLANDER
b. Glen Ridge, NJ 1963

JESSICA EDWARDS
b. Nashville 2000

STEPHANIE EDWARDS
b. Nashville 2000

m. 1974

 Virginia Wyman
b. New York

JUAN MEYER
b.  Caracas 1944

MARGHARET HOLLANDER
b. Caracas 1958

DORITH MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1936

b. México 1981

Minna Loewenstein

7th GENERATION 8th GENERATION 9th GENERATION 10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION

See next page

See next page
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m. 1958

 Eugenia Walerstein
b. Mexico City 1940

m. 1988

 Alejandra Jinich
b. Torreón, México 1964

m. 1993

 Trisha Ziff

m. 2010

 Nadia Baram

b. Leeds 1957

m. 1935

Lotte Scheuer
b.  Mannheim 1911  d. Stanford 2007

m. 1957

Dr. Stanley Hollander
b. Newark 1931  d. Florida 2013

m. ?

 Frank Nash
b. 1951

m. 1894

 Bertha Buxbaum
See JULIUS' BRANCH I

m. 1905

Jenny Kugelmann
b.  Eschwege 1875  d. Mexico City 196?

m. 1934

 Liesel Richheimer
b.  Mannheim 1912  d. Mexico City 1987

JULIUS MEYER

JULIUS' BRANCH II

b.  Wiesbaden 1866  d. Madrid 1934

ERNST MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1906  d. Mexico City 1988

PEDRO MEYER
b. Madrid 1935

JULIO MEYER
b. Santa Monica, Ca 1995

PABLO MEYER
b.  Mexico City 1961

KURT MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1908  d. New York 1971

m. ?

 Dr. Shiobhan O Connor     
b. 1965

DR. MICHAEL HOLLANDER
b. Newark 1961

BEATRICE NASH
b. Greenwich CT 1996

WILLIAM NASH
b. Greenwich CT 1998

ZACH HOLLANDER
b. New York 1994

NOAH HOLLANDER
b. Philadelphia 1998

m. 1998

Carl Edwards
b. Massachusetts1964

BARBARA HOLLANDER
b. Glen Ridge, NJ 1963

JESSICA EDWARDS
b. Nashville 2000

STEPHANIE EDWARDS
b. Nashville 2000

m. 1974

 Virginia Wyman
b. New York

JUAN MEYER
b.  Caracas 1944

MARGHARET HOLLANDER
b. Caracas 1958

DORITH MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1936

b. México 1981

Minna Loewenstein

7th GENERATION 8th GENERATION 9th GENERATION 10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION

See next page

See next page

JULIUS’ BRANCH II
continued

m. 1988

 Alejandra Jinich
b. Torreón, México 1964

m. 2017

 Julian Lasky
b.  Mexico City 1988

JULIUS' BRANCH II
continued

MICHELLE MEYER
b.  Mexico City 1991

NICOLE MEYER
b.  Mexico City 1994

ANDREA MEYER
b.  Mexico City 1996

PABLO MEYER
b.  Mexico City 1961

EDWARD MEYER
b. New York 1978

KATHARINE MEYER
b. Greenwich CT 1987

m. 2005

Lucile M. Moss
b.  Dallas 1977

m. 2018

Ramy Fayad
b.  1979

m. 2022

 Simón Bazbaz
b.  Mexico City 1992

m. 2022

 Marc Freiman
b.  San Diego 1995

BENJAMIN MEYER
b. New York 2009

ELLA MEYER
b. New York 2014

LAYLA FAYAD
b. Washington DC 2020

MARIO LASKY
b. Mexico City 2020

SOPHIA LASKY
b. San Diego 2022

10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION 12th GENERATION
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EErnesto “Ernst” Meyer, son of Julius and Jenny Meyer; 
married Liesel Richheimer and went to live in Madrid, 
Spain along with his parents and brother Kurt. It was there 
in Madrid, that Pedro Julio Meyer was born.

In 1936, because of the Spanish Civil War, Liesel, Jenny 
and little Pedro fled to Brussels where they lived together 
with Kurt‘s family: Lotte and daughter Dorith. Julius Meyer 
had passed away in Spain on April 10, 1934.

With the family 
in a safe place for the 
time being, Ernesto 
and Kurt decided to 
look for better oppor-
tunities and came to 
the Americas to sell 
Belgian products; Er-
nesto went to Mexico 
while Kurt explored 
Venezuela. The broth-
ers decided to hedge 
their bets and not live 
in the same country 
anymore (maybe they 
had heard about the 
Rothschilds...?). This 
arrangement allowed 
for the families to have 

visas and stay in Belgium as long as Ernesto and Kurt kept 
selling Belgian products in the Americas.

In 1939 Ernesto was finally able to bring his family to 
Mexico: Liesel, young son Pedro, mother Jenny, mother-in-
law Pia and young brother-in-law Ernesto Richheimer; all 
this while grandfather Max Richheimer had to stay back in 
Germany due to his serious illness.

Max Richheimer died in the early 40's of cancer and was 
buried in the Jewish cemetery in Mannheim. 

In Mexico, the Meyers were not able to bear more children 
after Pedro when Liesel had two extra uterine miscarriages. 

Life in the new world was good to the Meyer clan, with a 
lot of friends from Germany who also emigrated to Mexico. 
Ernesto earned his living importing products from Asia, until 

Julius’ Branch IIJ U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I I

1958 when after coming back from a trade show he decided 
that the future was in plastics (we heard that phrase before) 
and started a plastics factory: Plásticos Internacionales which 
became a very successful business for the next 30 years until 
it was sold to a third party after Ernesto learned of his fatal 
illness.

In 1958, Pedro who had just finished his collage education 
at Babson Institute in Boston, married Eugenia Walerstein, 
daughter of a well-known Mexican-Jewish movie producer 
of Polish descent. After a short stint in his father‘s plastic 
business Pedro decided to start a business on his own: a lamp 
factory named Rotaflex.

In 1961, Pablo Meyer was born and was again the only 
child of the Meyer family. Pedro and Eugenia had the mis-
fortune of losing a 3-day old baby and Eugenia had eight 
additional miscarriages.  

In 1981 Pedro and Eugenia divorced. Eugenia has not 

Ernst & Liesel’s German passports.

Jenny Kughelman Meyer, 1932.
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Ernst & Kurt as little kids.
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Julius Meyer with sons Ernst & Kurt in what must have been one 
of the first motorcycles in town.

Katchen with son Julius and Jenny 1930.
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Ernst & Liesel Meyer’s Ketuba (Jewish marriage certificate), 1934.
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Ernst Meyer’s identity card, 1931.
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married since but continued with her successful career as a 
historian specializing in contemporary Mexican and Latin 
American history. Pedro married again in 1993 to Trisha 
Ziff a British editor and curator. They have since divorced.

1985 brought terrible news to the family, after Ernesto 
was diagnosed with a colon cancer that had already spread 
to other internal organs. 

The last years of my Ernesto were very sad ones for every-
one that shared his life: a man that had been so strong in body 
and soul, who was able to bring his family through countless 
hurdles, wars and other problems was very slowly coming to 
a gradual stop and there was nothing anyone could do except 
giving him comfort as the illness progressed. 

Liesel, the companion for over 50 years took on the 
responsibility of taking care of Ernesto until a reversal of 
fortunes that surprised us all: a fatal brain tumor was found 
after a sudden stroke. Even though the tumor was removed, 
Liesel died three months later.

The irony of it all is that Ernesto died two months after 
Liesel. Since his mental state was in such a poor shape after 
three long years fighting the cancer, he never knew about 
the death of Liesel. I guess it is a blessing not having to feel 
the pain of loosing a loved one.

One year later, in 1988, Pablo married Alejandra Jinich. 
Their meeting was the work of grandmother Liesel, since the 
Meyers and Alejandra’s grandparents the Jiniches had been 
very good friends for a long time. 

One day during her recovery from the brain surgery, Liesel 
asked Pablo "Do you know the Jinich‘s lovely granddaughter? 
You should meet her". After some due diligence on Pablo’s 
part they met on a blind date and the rest is history. Perhaps 
Jewish mothers and grandmothers do know what is best for 
their children...

After several generations of this Meyer branch bearing 
practically only boys, Pablo and Alex went against the odds 
by having three lovely girls: Michelle Lisa, Nicole and An-
drea. Not a day passes by without the thoughts of what a joy 
grandparents Ernesto and Liesel would’ve had, had they been 
alive today, in meeting their great granddaughters!

On the professional side, after graduating in product 

design in 1982 from the Art Center College of Design in 
Pasadena, Calif., Pablo established his own graphic design and 
communication firm in Mexico City, where he still works up 
to this day. He is an avid cyclist and enjoys bicycling trips very 
much. Alex studied political science in Brandeis University 
and has worked at the Mexican ADL for some time. 

Pedro who quit the industrial scene in 1985 became a very 
successful photographer, –his dream from childhood– and 
spends his time traveling over the world in conferences and 
workshops. His award-winning work I Photograph to Remem-
ber, is a homage to his parents' final years of life: Ernesto and 
Liesel, and their fight with illness.

This work originally published as a CD-ROM has become 
a turning point in digital photography and can now be viewed 
online by following this link.

In 1995 Pedro and Trisha had a child named Julio Ernesto 
in honor of Julius Meyer and Ernesto Meyer. Julio looks just 
like his father Pedro and speaks fluent English and Spanish. 
He is the curious case of I have older nieces... (Michelle and 
Nicole).

Pablo’s and Alejandra’s three girls have blossomed beauti-
fully. Michelle who studied hotel management at Les Roches 
International School of Hotel Management, in Switzerland 
and Kendall College in Chicago is now a well-known food 
and travel blogger. You can see her blog at: www.michel-
leonbell.com. In 2017, Michelle married Julian Lasky, also 
from Mexico and in 2020 they had their first son: Mario and 
in 2020 Sophia was born.

Nicole, studied economics at George Washington Uni-
versity in DC where she was “adopted” by our local cousins 
Roger and Sheila Meyer, as well as by Oded Meyer who took 
care of her during her college years. Nicole married Simón 
Bazbaz in 2022 and are now living in San Diego.

While Andrea, the youngest one studied art and com-
munication at NYU and in 2022 married Marc Freiman, they 
are currently living in Austin, Texas.

J U L I U S ’  B R A N C H  I I

http://www.pedromeyer.com/galleries/i-photograph/
http://www.pedromeyer.com/galleries/i-photograph/
http://www.pedromeyer.com/galleries/i-photograph/
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Ernst & Liesel as newlyweds, 1934.
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Ernst & Liesel in Mexico, 1976.
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This award-winning CD can be viewed online by clicking on the image..

https://youtu.be/pozw0qLajnk
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This interesting photo is a digital montage done by Pedro Meyer:  The man on the right is Ernst with his son Pedro 
in the early 40’s, this was the original image. The man on the left is Pedro again a bit older, but this time with his 
own son Julio, in 2000.
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Michelle, Nicole, Andrea and Julio Meyer, 2000.
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Alejandra and her three daughters, from left to right:  Andrea, Nicole and Michelle, at their weekend home in Valle de Bravo, 
Mexico, 2007.
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Michelle's wedding in Mexico City: Alejandra, Nicole, Michelle, Julian, Andrea and Pablo, 201    7.
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Pedro and Pablo at Julio`s Bar Mitzvah, 2008.
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Kurt was born in Mannheim on September 7, 1907, the 
youngest son of Julius and his second wife, Jenny. During 
his formative years, he worked at a bank, then, joined his 
father and his brother Ernst in their business enterprise of 
exporting German goods to North Africa and Latin Ameri-
can countries.

He married Lotte Scheuer  in 1935.   Lotte was  the 
daughter of Heinrich Scheuer and Friedel Laemle, also from 
Mannheim, there was a free spirited and vivacious young lady 
who had spent time working in Palestine. 

As Kurt and Ernst’s business took them to travel outside 
of their home environment, they got a first glimpse of what 
was going to happen to the Jewish communities in Germany. 
They tried to convince several members of Lotte’s family, as 
well as Kurt and Ernst’s extended one, to consider emigrat-
ing from Germany, but in many cases their pleas landed on 
deaf ears in.

In 1933, after friends of Lotte’s brother advised them to 
resign their membership in their Tennis Club because they 
were going to be expelled the next day, the family decided 
to leave Mannheim and move to Madrid, where Julius’s 
company was located.

From the frying pan into the fire… Kurt, Lotte, Ernst  and 
Liesel moved to Madrid , with all their belongings. Pedro, 
Liesel and Ernst’s son, was born in Madrid. They had a won-
derful life there… for a while until the Civil War broke out, 
and then all Hell broke loose!!

By 1936, Lotte was pregnant and she decided that, as 
crazy as it may sound today, she had to return to Germany, 
to Mannheim, to give birth.  After a very eventful train trip 
during which there were examples of genuine kindness by 
Christian Germans, and during which Lotte used a gold coin 
her father had given her to buy safe conduit, she finally arrived 
to give birth to Dorith on December 10, 1936.

Kurt and Ernst decided, very wisely, that it would be best 
for the families to separate, and that each should eventually 

should emigrate to a different country. Since the gentlemen’s 
business took them to Latin America, the logical places 
were countries in that region of the world, where they knew 
the language, and, if things didn’t work out in one of the 
countries, that family could go to the other family’s home… 
a very logical plan.

The two families moved to Belgium, and the gentle-
men began traveling in Latin America, (since Spain was now 
in the middle of a Civil War). The families had lost just about 
everything they had been able to move from Mannheim,  
Liesel and Lotte, with two little ones in tow, settled rather 
unhappily in Brussels .  

Ultimately, Kurt was able to provide passage for his wife 
and daughter on a French ship to La Guaira, the coastal city 
of Caracas, Venezuela, which he had chosen for  their new 
home. War between France and Germany broke out during 
the voyage, and Lotte, as a German citizen, became a pris-
oner of war, but because the captain was a friend of Kurt and 
because she was Jewish and spoke fluent French, she became 
the translator for the passengers, several of whom became fast 
friends of the family in Venezuela later on.

Kurt was able to bring his parents-in-law over from Eu-
rope. Grandmother Friedel died in 1948. Everyone expected 
that Opa would soon follow suit… he died in 1965 at the ripe 
age of 91… grandfather to a whole community . 

According to Lotte, the best years of their lives began 
shortly after their arrival in Venezuela, especially after the 
war ended, when they were not wealthy, had many friends 
in similar circumstances, spent evenings playing bridge, 
visiting each other.

Kurt could not represent German companies any more, 
and sought other representations. He was  approached by 
friends to resurrect a glass manufacturing company  which 
made bottles. For the rest of his life he was in the bottle 
manufacturing business. When he and his partners eventually 
sold their business to a Puerto Rican organization, Kurt stayed 
on until his untimely death on June 21, 1971.
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Dorith went to school in Caracas, then on to prep school 
in Toronto, Canada. She studied to become a translator at the 
Ecole des Interpretes in Geneva, where she met her future 
husband Stanley Hollander. Stanley had a very successful 
career as an ophthalmologist in Upper Montclair, New Jersey. 
They spent their time in Sarasota, Florida and East Hampton, 
NY. Stanley passed away in 2013 and Dorit moved in 2020 
to Redding CT.

Dorith and Stanley had three children. The oldest is 
Margie, who was born in Caracas  in  1958, is married to 
Frank Nash, a partner in a private equity firm in Manhattan. 
Margie is an optician and owns an optical shop called Optical 
Shop of Westport in Westport, CT. They have two children, 
Beatrice and William. They live in Greenwich, CT. 

The second child of Dorith and Stanley is Michael, born 
in 1961, a Neuro and Interventional radiologist working in 
Danbury CT who is married to Dr. Siobhan O’Connor, also 
a physiatrist teaching at Sophie Davis medical school in 
Harlem NYC. They are the parents of Zach and Noah;  Zach 
works as an accountant at Ernst and Young in NYC. Noah, 
graduated from Haverford college and is now studying  in 
Dublin masters in renewable finance.

The youngest is Barbara, born in 1963. She is a special 
education teacher, married to Carl Edwards, a businessman in 
the printing business; they have twins, Stephanie and Jessica. 
The Edwards live in Sharon, MA.

Lotte and Kurt's second son Juan was born on April 18, 
1944, in Caracas. After High School in Caracas, he went to 
Amherst College and the Massachusetts Institute of Tech-
nology for his education. After a stint in the consulting field 
where he failed miserably and then on to Wall Street, his 
in-laws took him in and for the past 33 years has been work-
ing, first in their industrial operation, then in their Family 
Office, Eagle Capital International. The family office five 
was merged five years ago into what is now called GenSpring 
Family Offices.  GenSpring is one of the leading multi- family 
offices in the world, whose mission is to help families sustain 
their wealth over generations. 

Juan, married Virginia Wyman on April 27, 1974 and 
they have two children: Edward, born in 1978, an investment 
professional with Blackstone Alternative Asset Management 
Co. and Katharine, born in 1987. Edward is married to Lucile 
Moss, who finished her postgraduate studies at Parsons Insti-
tute of Design. They live in Manhattan with their son Ben. 
Katharine has the ntention of becoming an a physician and is 
studying medicine at George Washington University in DC.

Mother Lotte moved away from Caracas to the US in 
1999, and remarkably, made a wonderful transition to a 
new environment at the graceful age of 88. She passed away 
in 2007, just shy of her 96th birthday.  

Kurt Meyer, in the 30's.
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Kurt and Lotte with young Dorith and Juan, Meyer, 1947.
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Dorith, 1953.
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Kurt and Lotte, 1957.
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Perhaps one of Lotte's last photos with Dorith, Stanley, Margie and Barbara, 2007.

Margie Hollander, 2007.
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The six Hollander Meyer grandkids...
From The top and from left to right: Zach Hollander, Beatrice Nash, 
Stephaney Edwards, William Nash, Noah Hollander, Jessica Edwards,
2008.
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Uncle Juan with Margie at Katharine's school graduation.

Edward and Lucile's engagement party with Juan, Virginia and Katharine, 2005.
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Beckham (Noah Hollander) at the Kotel, 2007.
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Zach Hollander's Bar Mitzvah at the Kotel, 2007.
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Noah with proud grandparents Dorith and Stanley, 2007. 

Zach and Noah Hollander, 2007.
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The Edwards: Carl, Barbara, Jesssica and Stephanie at UMass Amherst Parents weekend, 2019.

Stephanie, Jessica at their B’not Mitzvah, 2013.
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The three Hollander siblings: Michael, Barbara and Margie, 2013 .
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GUSTAV’S BRANCH

m. ?

 Alice Gutman
b. 1877  d.1937 m. 1931

 Vera Tendlau

Had no children

DR. GUSTAV MEYER

GUSTAV'S BRANCH 

b.  Wiesbaden 1868  d. 1939

DR. WALTER MEYER
b.  Mannheim 1898  d. England 198?

7th GENERATION 8th GENERATION 9th GENERATION 10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION

Dr. Walter Meyer was the only child of Gustav Meyer, he 
was a successful doctor in England where he lived and died 
with no children.
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Gustav with mother Kätchen and Walter (¿?), 1931.
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m. 1901

 Elsa (Ilse) Freidberger
b. 1882  d. Wiesbaden 1938

m. ?

 Grette Jacobi
b. 1900  d. 1988

EMIL MEYER

EMIL'S BRANCH 

b.  Wiesbaden 1870  d.  Wiesbaden 1913

HANS MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1903  d. 1986

m. 1954

 Victor Lipshutz
b. 1930

GABRIELLE MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1935

m. 1983

 Talya Burke
b. Minnesota 1959

JONATHAN LIPSHUTZ
b. New York 1960

SAUL L. MEYER-FONG
b. Washington DC, 2003

DAVID LIPSHUTZ
b. Augsburg 1956

TOBIE MEYER
b.  Bethesda,1967

STEPHANIE MEYER
b. Boston 1969

STEPHANIE MEYERJESSICA MEYER

DAVID MEYER
b.  1989

DR. ROGER MEYER
b. New York 1938

m. 1935

 Sylvia Garvin
b. New York City 1910

KARL MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1906  d. 1983

LUCY NOAH
b. Los Angeles 2008

m. 1965

 Sheila Zelkovich
b. Estevan, Canada 1941

m. 1998

 Ming-Yuen Meyer-Fong
b. Hong Kong 1966

m. 2003  d. 20212

 Daniel Noah Shapiro
b. Chicago, 1972

FRANKLIN MEYER
b. New York 1945

m. 1981

 Margaret Nemeth
b. 1946

b.   Boston 1974

See next page

7th GENERATION 8th GENERATION 9th GENERATION 10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION
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EMIL'S BRANCH
continued 

m. 1983

 Talya Burke
b. Minnesota 1959

m. 2005

Eliyahu Schwartz

m. 2013

 Baruch Golan
b. 1984

JONATHAN LIPSHUTZ
b. New York 1960

CHAVA LIPSHUTZ
b. Minnesota 1985

AYALA SCHWARTZ
b. Tsfat 2005

BENJAMIN SCHWARTZ
b. Tsfat 2007

NAOMI ORLINSKY
b. Bnei Brak 2009

NECHAMA ORLINSKY
b. Bnei Brak 2010

CHAVA CHANA
b. Bnei Brak 2016

SHLOMO EFRAIM
b. Bnei Brak 2019

RACHEL SCHWARTZ
b. Tsfat 2010

MICHAL LIPSHUTZ
b. Minnesota 1987

SHIRA LIPSHUTZ
b. Minnesota 1989

YAAKOV LIPSHUTZ
b. Tsfat 1993

EPHRAIM LIPSHUTZ
b. Tsfat 1994

SARAH LIPSHUTZ
b. Tsfat 1996

BATSHEVA LIPSHUTZ
b. Tsfat 1998

YITZAK LIPSHUTZ
b. Tsfat 1999

m. 2009

Chagai Nosson Ackerman
b. 1989

YEHUDIS ACKERMAN
b. Beitar 2010

SHIMON ACKERMAN
b. Beitar 2011

CHAIM ACKERMAN
b. Beitar  2012

DAVID ACKERMAN
b. Beitar 2014

SAMUEL ACKERMAN
b. Beitar 2015

ELAZAR ACKERMAN
b. Beitar  2020

ELISHEVA ACKERMAN
b. Beitar  2022

m. 2012

Michal Davidson
b. 1993

BATYA SARAH LIPSHUTZ
b. Tsfat 2013

NACHMAN SLIPSHUTZ
b. Tsfat 2014

YAEL LIPSHUTZ
b. Tsfat 2016

REUVEN LIPSHUTZ
b. Tsfat 2020

m. 

Baruj Mordechai Portal
b. 

m. 

Adel Bolton
b. 2001 

TALYA ROSE PORTAL
b. Tsfat 2022

YEHUDA PORTAL
b. Tsfat 2019

YEHONATAN COHEN
b. Tsfat 2022

MEIR COHEN
b. Tsfat 2020

m. 

Josef Cohen
b. 1994 

m. 2012

 Moshe Avigdor Orlinsky
b. 1979
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Emil Meyer married Else Friedberger around 1901. They 
had two sons: Hans was born in 1903 and Karl was born in 
1906. Emil died of either stomach or colorectal cancer in 
1913. Else suffered from manic depressive illness and was 
frequently hospitalized during the subsequent years of her life. 

Following Emil’s death, Else’s mother moved in with the 
family in Wiesbaden. Hans and Karl were raised by their 
two grandmothers. The First World War and the German 
inflation caused havoc in Hans’ and Karl’s lives and affected 
any sense of security. Karl (my father) was unable to afford 
higher education in Germany. He began work in a bank in 
Wiesbaden in 1923. In 1927, he moved to another bank in 
Berlin, through some contacts of his Aunt Alice (the wife 
of his Uncle Gustav). 

We have often wondered about Karl’s prescience in 
recognizing the importance of leaving Europe and coming 
to America in 1929. It was a decision that was strongly sup-
ported by his paternal grandmother, Kätchen Meyer. There 
are different explanations that he offered to us in his recollec-
tions of that time. He was uncomfortable in Weimar Berlin 
because he feared that things were spinning out of control. 
He also felt that his career advancement in the German 
banking industry would be expedited by a tour in the US. It 
is also important to note that, as a child, he was a passion-
ate reader of stories about the American West. Emil ran the 
family business (importing grain from Canada and the US), 
and one of Karl’s earliest memories was of the bags of wheat 
from North America. In all probability, all of those factors, 
and his unhappy childhood, must have played some role in 
shaping his decision to uproot himself from everything that 
was familiar in 1929 (four years before Hitler came to power). 

Karl left Germany in August 1929, sailing on the Homeric 
with a gentile German friend, Willi Klein. He began work 
on Wall Street at Strupp and Company, which was the US 
affiliate of the Jewish owned bank that he worked for in 
Berlin. The stock market crashed in October 1929, and by 
March 1930, Karl was in search of new employment. By this 
time (I believe), Karl Emanuel Meyer had become Carl Edgar 
Meyer. He would later recall feeling envious of the children 
who could speak English without an accent, as he searched to 
find employment in the US. To my knowledge, he was never 
out of work for long, but he did have to accept employment 
outside of the banking business. In 1932, he wrote to his 
Uncle Theodore and inquired about returning to Germany. 

Uncle Theodore told him to stay where he was!

Sometime in October 1933, Carl met Sylvia Garvin at a 
Jewish Labor meeting organized to protest the treatment of 
the Jewish people in Germany. They were married two years 
later on October 3, 1935, the day that Mussolini invaded 
Ethiopia. Sylvia was a commercial artist. She was the older 
daughter of Jewish immigrants from Eastern Europe. Her 
father came to the US in 1895 from Lithuania. Her mother 
came to the US in 1899 from Latvia. 

In 1937, Carl and Sylvia were able to secure the immigra-
tion to the US of his brother Hans and his family (wife Grete 
and daughter Gabrielle born in November 1935). Also in 
1937, Carl began his long association with the company that 
he would work for full time until he retired in 1971—and 
part time until he died in 1983. Hans and his family were 
obliged to leave Else Meyer in Germany. She died of a heart 
ailment in July 1938. 

Carl and Sylvia had their first child (Roger Emil) on 
January 20, 1938. Their second child (Franklin Neil) was 
born on April 13, 1945. Carl and Sylvia lived in Manhattan 
until 1955, when they bought a home in West Nyack, New 
York. Roger went through high school in New York City, 
and then to Hobart College in upstate New York and to 
Harvard Medical School in Boston. Franklin went to high 
school in Rockland County (outside New York) and then 
to Cornell University and the University of Michigan Law 
School. Franklin is a well regarded attorney in Manhattan. 
He lives in Milburn, New Jersey with his wife Margaret and 
their son David. Franklin has a step son, Michael, who is a 
dentist in private practice in Maine. Margaret and Franklin 
were married in 1982.

Like Dan Offer (Ilse’s son and Ludwig’s grandson), Roger 
carried the tradition of academic physicians in the Meyer 
family to America. His career is described in the published 
interview with Addiction, the leading international journal 
on research on addictive disorders that has been reproduced 
later in this Family History. In 1965, Roger married Sheila 
Zelcovich, an occupational therapist and graduate of the 
University of Minnesota. Sheila had come to the US from 
the Canadian prairie. They have three grown daughters and 
two sons-in-law. Tobie is a graduate of Yale and Stanford (Ph. 
D.) and is Professor of Chinese History at Johns Hopkins 
University. Tobie is married to Ming-Yuen Meyer-Fong, 
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whom she met at Yale. Ming-yuen is an attorney working 
for the US government. Tobie and Ming-Yuen live nearby 
in Washington with their delightful son (Saul Liwen Meyer-
Fong. Stephanie is a graduate of Simmons College and has a 
Ph. D. in Clinical and Developmental Psychology from the 
University of Minnesota. She was married to Daniel Noah 
who is a script writer in Hollywood. They have a young  infant 
daughter (Lucy) who charms her grandparents even from a 
distance of 3,000 miles. Stephanie is a child psychologist, 
specializing in the diagnosis and treatment of young children 
with cognitive behavioral problems.

Jessica is a graduate of  Wellesley College. After college, 
Jessica spent a year in Israel working with Jewish and Arab 
young people in a theater arts program. She then began a 
career in acting, including a two year educational program in 
dramatic arts in London. Her best film role was as the younger 
daughter in the Roman Polanski movie, The Pianist . In 2007, 
Jessica decided to change career direction, influenced by a 
wonderful Jewish congregation in LA. She is now a Rabbi at 
a congregation in Manhattan (Romemu). 

Sheila worked full time as an occupational therapist until 
they started their family. She went back to work full time in 
1985. In 2000, she went part time at Georgetown University 
Medical Center and began to pursue photography, which 
has been a source of great contentment for her and visual 
joy for the rest of the family! She retired from her part-time 
work in 2014. 

In all, the descendants of Emil Meyer and Ilse Friedberger 
have been fortunate. Hans and Karl had a most unhappy 
childhood. That unhappiness must have contributed to Karl’s 
strong desire to leave Germany and to try to make a new life 
in the US. If you look carefully at the family picture taken 
in 1926 at the 25th anniversary of Gustav and Alice, Karl 
seems distant from the rest of the family. Indeed, he seemed 
very much at home in his adopted country. It was only 
when Roger accompanied him on a trip to Wiesbaden and 
to Israel in 1980, that he realized the depths of his roots in 
Germany. He was much more comfortable showing us family 
landmarks in Germany than what anyone could have ever 
imagined. Roger has come to believe that Karl (and Hans) 
brought the rich traditions of the Meyer family to America 
and transmitted strong family values to their children and 
grandchildren. Roger became an academic psychiatrist 
without fully appreciating the origins of this passion in the 
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traditions of academic physicians in the Meyer family in 
Germany. Tobie and Stephanie carried the academic values 
into the next generation, and Jessica carried the passion for 
Shakespeare from Kätchen Meyer through her grandfather 
Carl into the 21st century. She also shares his love of Jewish 
music and the synagogue. Franklin’s strong ethical values in 
his work and life as an attorney are a reflection of the themes 
taught and lived by Carl.

Carl had two heart attacks at age 53 and suffered from 
angina pectoris for the remainder of his life. He had a third 
heart attack at age 75, and went into chronic heart failure. 
He had a two year downhill course and died at age 77 in 1983, 
two days after his 48th wedding anniversary. Sylvia remained 
in her home until 1985, when she began to experience the 
early signs of Alzheimer Disease. She moved to Connecticut 
to be near her family, and was brought to Washington in 1993. 
After 18 years with Alzheimer Disease, she died peacefully in 
2003, the same year that her great grandson (Saul) was born. 

Hans remained in Germany, taking care of his beloved 
mother, was gainfully employed in a  wholesale/retail  busi-
ness where he met his beloved wife Grete, the company’s 
bookkeeper. They were married in 1932. Hans represented 
the company throughout Germany and often has told the 
story of his responsibility to the “first company car”; some 
time in the late 20s. 

After witnessing dehumanization of the Jewish people, 
Hans insisted that his family emigrate to the United States; 
after all they had a child to protect. With the help of his 
brother Carl, and with heartfelt terror Hans left  his mother, 
and Grete her parents, to find safety in America before Crystal 
Nacht. Grete and Hans became US citizens as soon as they 
could, in the early 40s.

Although Hans had learned English in school, he at-
tended night school to better himself and to become “More 
American”. He read the NY Times daily, and was an active 
participant in democracy of his new found home. The radio 
blared every hour on the hour with the “news”. As an inde-
pendent salesmen for the Fuller Brush Company he felt free 
to be Jewish, he learned, and became a stock market investor. 
and more importantly an American. 

Gaby (Gabrielle), Hans' only daughter graduated from 
City College of New York and Hunter College earning a 
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Masters in Education, Special Education. She developed  
several educational and vocational programs  throughout the 
New York area and taught children with disabilities. Early on 
Gaby used Cable TV programming to deliver information to 
area residents concerning health and  environmental issues. 

She married Victor Lipshutz in 1954, shortly after that, 
Victor enlisted in the US Army and was sent to West Ger-
many, Gabrielle followed him thereafter. David was born 
there, but the family came back to New York two months 
later after Victor’s Army duty was completed.

Victor is a graduate of the City College of NY, earning a  
Bachelor of Arts degree and a Bachelor of Science degree in  
Electrical Engineering.  He specializes in medical electronic 
instruments for hospital use and has two US patents. Victor is 
known for his letter writing in the local papers on important 
environmental issues and community concerns. 

David was born in Augsburg, (West) Germany in 1956, 
and has lived in Manhattan for the past 22 years, he is cur-
renly single. He has worked on Wall Street almost all of his 
professional life, at Lehman Brothers, Shearson, Dean Witter 
and Morgan Stanley. in the equity research and investment 
strategy areas. He has undergraduate degrees from Wharton 
and University of Pennsylvania Engineering, and an MBA 
from the NYU Stern School.

Besides his vocation of Quantitative Analysis, David 
has become a local farmer in an upstate county with pride 
in raised bed organic gardening, tree planting, development 
of an herb garden, and competition with his father for the 
growth of the tastiest tomato.

Jonathan Lipshutz, Gabrielle's second son was born and 
raised in NY. Played the violin from the time he was 7 years 
old.  Went to SUNY (State Univ. of New York)  at Purchase 
where he graduated with a BFA in Music performance.  After 
marriage he started to change his way of life by SLOWLY 
starting to observe Torah, went into computers for a liveli-
hood.  

Together with his wife Talya moved to Minneapolis 
Minnesota in 1985 with their first new born daughter Chava 
Amira. There, Jonathan specialized in PC networking.  Five 
years later and two more daughters, (Michal Meira: named 
after his father's, father's mother and his mother's maiden 
name Meyer; and Shira Ranana: named after his mother's 
mother Sarah) the family moved to Israel 2 weeks before 
the Gulf war!  It was in Israel that the rest of the children 
were born: Yaakov Yosef, Efriam, Sarah, Bat Sheva Ester and 
Yitzchok who was named after Isaac Herxheimer, see the 
grand patriarch on the family tree!

Jonathan is now a very accomplished violinist with the 
Simply Tsfat string trio; a group which have toured the US 
and other countries. Along with the tours, Jonathan has 
published a fine CD with Kletzmer music.

Jonathan's oldest children are already married and their 
children, represent the 13th generation of this great Meyer 
family!
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Emil with older brothers Julius and Gustav, and their parents, 1872.
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Karl and Silvia.

Gabrielle and Victor Lipshutz.
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Uncle David with Sara Lipshutz.

Chava Lipshutz. Ephraim Lipshutz. Michal Lipshutz.

Shiva Lipshutz. Itzjak with his dad Jonathan. Itzjak Lipshutz.
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Michal’s Lipshutz wedding in Jerusalem, 2008.

Shira Lipshutz’ children, 2014.
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Roger, Sheila and their three daughters on Tobie's wedding to Ming-Yuen, 1996.
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Roger, Sheila and Stephanie, 2003.

The three Meyer sisters, 2003.
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Ming-Yuen, Tobie and Saul Meyer-Fong.

Daniel, Stephanie and Lucy.
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HEINZ ERLENBACH
b. 1930 Regensburg  d. 1995

ILSE ERLENBACH
b. 1932 Regensburg  d. 1986

ROBERT ERLENBACH
b. 1933 Nurenberg

GUNTHER SEELMANN
b. 1931

INGE SEELMANN
b. 1928  d. Santiago, 1993

m. 1892

Robert Erlenbach
b. Nuremberg 1856  d. 1933

m. 1928

Sophie Stuhlfelder
b. Regensburg 1904  d. Nuremberg 1969

MATHILDE MEYER

MATHILDE'S BRANCH 

b.  Wiesbaden 1872  d.  Aachen 1941

OTTO ERLENBACH
b.  Nurenberg 1893  d. 1943

JOSEPH ERLENBACH
b.  Nurenberg 1895  d. 1916

m. 1927

Fritz Seelmann
b. 1894  d. 1941 

ANNA ERLENBACH
b.  Nurenberg 1903  d. Santiago, 2003

LILIANA SEELMANN

m. 1958

Hanne Grumpeter
b. 1935  d. 2022   

Hans Konsens Zierler
b. Berlin 1920  d. Santiago 1979   

m. 1986

Alberto Ponton
b. 1954   

b. Concepción Chile, 1959

DEBORAH SEELMANN
b. Talcahuano Chile, 1963

DAVID SEELMANN
b. Talcahuano Chile, 1965

TAMARA PONTON

m. 1996

María Sepúlveda
b. 1964   

b. Dusseldorf, 1987

MARION KONSENS

m. 1975

Alberto Bortnik
b. Santiago 1948   

b. Santiago, 1954

OLIVER ERLENBACH

m. 2008

Marianella Conhi
b. Callao1974

m. 2008

Katharina Wunsch
b. Warzburg 1979

b. Nuremberg 1978

MARCUS ERLENBACH
b. Nuremberg 1979

ROBERTO KONSENS

m. 1984

Paola Campusano
b. 1962   

b. Santiago, 1957 PAUL KONSENS
b. Santiago 1984

m. 1984

Mario Villalobos
b. Chiguayante Chile 1953   

CLAUDIO BORTNIK
b. Santiago 1981

NICOLAS ERLENBACH
b. Lima 2008

NINA ERLENBACH
b. Nuremberg 2012

JOSEFINE ERLENBACH
b. Nuremberg 2012

CARLA ERLENBACH
b. Nuremberg 2016

OSCAR ERLENBACH
b. Nuremberg 2018

SANDRA BORTNIK
b. Santiago 1984

HANS KONSENS
b. Santiago 1984

ANDRES KONSENS
b. Santiago 1985

DENISE KONSENS
b. Santiago 1991

m. 1962

Gertrud Ort
b. Nuremberg 1939   

m. 1962

Margot Giolda
b. 1924

7th GENERATION 8th GENERATION 9th GENERATION 10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION

See next page

See next page

MATHILDE’S BRANCH
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MATHILDE’S BRANCH
 continued

MATHILDE'S BRANCH
continued 

DEBORAH SEELMANN
b. Talcahuano Chile, 1963

m. 1984

Mario Villalobos
b. Chiguayante Chile 1953   

GABRIELA VILLALOBOS
b. Dusseldorf, 1985

RAFAELA JORDANA
b. Chile, 2018

RODRIGO VILLALOBOS
b. Dusseldorf, 1991

10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION 12th GENERATION

m. 2015

Sebastian Jordana
b. Santiago de Chile 1984 

NICOLAS SEELMANN
b. Santiago, 2001

CRISTOBAL SEELMANN
b. Santiago, 2007

DAVID SEELMANN
b. Talcahuano Chile, 1965

m. 1996

María Sepúlveda
b. 1964   
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Otto Erlenbach with parents Mathilde and Robert, and sister Anna.



94

Mathildes Branch
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Mathilde Meyer married Robert Erlenbach and had three 
children: Otto, Joseph and Anna. Joseph died young during 
World War I. 

Otto Erlenbach married, Sophie Shuldelder who was 
not Jewish, and had three children: Heinz, Ilse and Robert, 
the youngest one who was born in 1933 and sadly, had no 
opportunity to know his grandfather personally as he had 
died a month before. 

During 1937-38, and because of  the constant growing  
anti-Semitism in Germany,  Otto was fired from the beds and 
bedclothes firm J.Erlenbach where he worked and which had 
been founded by Robert's great grandfather in the year 1850. 
Otto left Nürenberg and went to Berlin with the hope of 
leaving Germany and to look for new opportunities abroad. 
But that never happened. After that, he was never seeing 
again and it was not until the war ended that family found 
out  that he had been captured and on being transported to 
Auschwitz he jumped off the train and met his death.

It was Sophie who, thanks to the fact that she wasn't  
Jewish and through her vigorous spirit and forward looking 
approach had the most essential elements and was able to 
survive and protect her children throughout the Nazi regime. 
She had already foreseen that in 1940 bombers would also 
come to Nürenberg, so she rented a very small house on a 
farm in Truppach, near Bayreuth, where they spent that sum-
mer. After 1943 the family had to live in the country house 
constantly since a firebomb fell on the house in Nürenberg 
and the roof did not protect them from rain any more. Because 
of this prior bombimg, the Erlenbachs had to permanently 
leave their house, and when the heavy bombing in January 
1944 took place a bomb exploded and the house was com-
pletely shattered.

During the war and even in the first years after the war, 
the family managed to survive with the bare minimum. So-
phie took care of feeding her children by planting vegetables, 
potatoes and keeping rabbits, dogs, etc. Heinz and Robert 
went to the secondary school in Bayreuth while Ilse went to 
a commercial school and later found a job with the authori-
ties of Oberfranken. 

After being overtaxed physically and mentaly, Sophie's 
health deteriorated in the years that followed the war, she 
died in 1969.

Ilse got a better job later on, but unfortunately she could 
not achieve her retirement pension because at the age of 55 
she fell ill with a serious cancer. Brother Heinz also ended 
his days in a somewhat similar way. After studying Physics 
and acheiving a Doctorate title, he married Margot Giolda 
and became Director of the Central Supervising Entity of 
Radioactive Emissions in Nordrhein-Westf, in Düsseldorf. 
Shortly before being pensioned in 1995, a diagnoses of bowel 
cancer was made and although he was operated on he died 
through an embolism.

Robert studied law and worked as a lawyer until 1995. He 
had two sons: Oliver and Marcus. Marcus studied law and is 
now working in his profession. Oliver, a physicist, received 
his PhD in Engineering and later also got his law degree. 
He is currently a patent attorney. He married Marianella, a 
Peruvian with whom he has two children: Nicolás and Nina.

Anna Erlenbach married Fritz Seelmann and emigrated to 
Chile in 1939, where they lived and raised their two children 
Inge and Gunter. At the end of 2004 we were finally able to 
locate the family who is still living there. 

On arrival In Chile the authorities assigned the Seel-
manns to Concepción, a town 500 kms south of Santiago, 
which had been almost completely destroyed by an earth-
quake some months before. Like all emigrants, Anna and 
Fritz had to build up a new life In a country that was strange 
for them.  The children who were eleven and  eight at the 
time, went to school and quickly adapted themselves.

After school, Inge began working as a secretary and 
Gunter studied Medicine. From the beginning he worked 
In the Chilean Public Heath Service and later combined it 
with the University as Professor. He married Hanne Grun-
peter who arrived In Concepción in 1948 with her parents 
from England where they had lived as refugees during the 
war. Hanne studied nursing and both from youth on were 
involved in Chile’s social and political life. 

The military coup In 1973 brought  pain and exile: 
Gunter was imprisoned in one of the concentration camps 
near Concepción (Isla Quiriquina) and after eight months 
he was expelled and sent to Germany. A month later (May 
1974) Hanne and the children followed. The family lived 
in  Düsseldorf, (Germany) and Hanne and Gunter returned 
to Chile in 1985, under the Pinochet regime, after receiving 
permission. 
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After returning, it was impossible to find jobs in the 
public health sector. Both worked in NGOs until 1990 when 
democracy was restored, Gunter in PIDEE, a Human Rights 
organization (Protection of Infancy damaged through the 
Emergency states-another way of naming the dictatorship). 

The “children” returned one by one, with professions 
learned in Germany. David came first  who had been trained 
as an auto mechanic; he worked in his profession a couple 
of years in Santiago, then studied business administration 
and now has a car rental business. Deborah is a kindergarten 
teacher and  Liliana, a translator and interpreter mainly 
German-Spanish-German.

M A T H I L D E ’ S  B R A N C H

In their “international  travels” Hanne, Gunter and little 
Liliana were in Israel in 1961-1962 thanks to an invitation 
from Prof Ludwig Meyer’s widow which enabled both of them 
to work in the Afulah hospital during that time.

Inge Seelman, who died in 1993, had two children: 
Marion and Roberto. Marion is a chemist married to Alberto 
Bortnik, an architect, and Roberto, who had to quit school 
when his father died in 1979, is in the import business and 
together with his wife Paola have a jewelry store in Santiago. 

Fritz Seelman. Fritz' beginings in Chile, with a matress factory.



96

Gunter, David, Liliana, Debi (standing) and Hanni, Seelmann.

Robert and wife Gertie Erlenbach. He is one of the only members of the family to 
stay in Germany throughout and after the war.
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Gabriela, Tamara, grandmother Hanni and Rodrigo. 

Gunther, Hanni and their three children at Hanni`s 70th birthday, 2005. 
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María (David's wife) with Nicolás y and Cristobal.

The Villalobos-Seelmann clan: Rodrigo, Mario, Debi and Gabriela, 2008.
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m. 1904

 Lotte Herz
b. Berlin 1882  d. Jerusalem 1964

m. 1929

 Eva Tauber
b. 1907  d. 1995

DR. LUDWIG MEYER

LUDWIG'S BRANCH I 

b.  Wiesbaden 1879  d.  Tel Aviv 1954

DR. PETER MEYER
b.  Berlin 1905  d. 1991

m. 1965

 Jill Edmonds
b. Pittsburg, 1941

ROBERT MEYER
b.  London 1936

ILSE MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1909 d. Jerusalem 2006

RUTH MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1912  d. ? 1993

m. 1988

 Helen Moir
b. 1955

m. 1952

 Charles Keeping
b. 1925  d.1988

RENATE MEYER
b.  Berlin 1930

VICTORIA KEEPING
b. London 1956

CHARLES KEEPING
b. 1990

ISABELLA KEEPING
b. 1993

JOSEF KEEPING
b. 1994

ROBIN KEEPING
b. 2004

BILLY KEEPING
b. 1998

JONATHAN KEEPING
b. London 1953

m. 1985

 Wendy Lightening
b. 1958

Ria Page

SEAN KEEPING
b. London 1959

FRANK KEEPING
b. London 1962

CAROLINE TIEN
b. Providence RI 1997

m. 1986

 Dr. David Tien
b. 1955

CHRISTOPHER TIEN
b. Providence RI 1999

JULIAN TIEN
b. Providence RI 1999

m. 1991

 Sally Davis
b. 1967

KAYLA MEYER
b. Philadelphia 1995

HARRISON MEYER
b. Philadelphia 1998

BENEDICT MEYER
b. Norwalk CT 1967

DR. ALEXANDRA MEYER
b. Norwalk CT 1969

NICHOLAS MEYER
b. Norwalk CT 1973

Jacob Herz

Betty

See LUDWIG'S BRANCH II

See LUDWIG'S BRANCH II

7th GENERATION 8th GENERATION 9th GENERATION 10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION

LUDWIG’S BRANCH I



100

LUDWIG’S BRANCH II

m. ?

 Lotte Herz
b. Berlin 1881  d. Jerusalem 1964

DR. LUDWIG MEYER

LUDWIG'S BRANCH II 

b.  Wiesbaden 1879  d.  Tel Aviv 1954

DR. PETER MEYER
b.  Berlin 1905  d. 1991

DR. DANIEL TOMMY OFFER
b.  Berlin 1929  d. Washington 2013 

m. 1956

 Izchak Shenhar
b. Odessa 1902  d.  Jerusalem 1957

m. 1928

 Dr. Walter Hirsch
b. 1903  d. Berlin 1954

ILSE MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1909   d.  Jerusalem 2006

RUTH MEYER
b.  Wiesbaden 1912  d. New York 1993

m. 1960

 Shimon Yallom 
b. Berlin 1910  d.  Jerusalem 1975

b. Russia

m. 1937

 Lothar Kaufman
b. Germany 1907 d. New York 1954

m. 1979

 Marjorie Kaiz
b. Waukegan, Ill 1942, d. Seattle 2020

m. 1962

 Judith Baskin
b. Chicago 1939  d. Chicago 1976

m. 1990

 Reuven Yehoshua
b. Israel 1961

b. New York 1964

MICHAEL OFFER
b.  Berlin 1936

m. 1960

 Judith Lipsker
b. Afulla, Israel 1936

JUVAL SHENHAR
b.  Jerusalem 1938

m. 1965

 Amira Rolnicki
b. Tel Aviv 1943

TAMAR OFFER
b. Chicago 1965

SHIR YEHOSHUA
b. California 1991

RON YEHOSHUA
b. Evanston, Illinois 1995

LILIANA R. SZAFIR
b. Austin 2003

STELLA M. SZAFIR
b. Austin 2005

m. 2000

 Ariel Szafir
b. Buenos Aires

SUSAN KAIZ ABRAHAM OFFER
b. Waukegan Ill. 1971

m. ?

 Anat Raz
b. 1973

PAZ OFFER
b.  Israel 1964 

TAL OFFER
b.  Israel 1962  d.1970 

GUY OFFER
b. Israel 1970

CHEN OFFER
b. Israel 1982

RAFI OFFER
b. Chicago 1963

ISABELLA OFFER
b. London 2000

CHLOE OFFER
b. London 2002

UDI OFFER
b. Israel 1997

 Sonia Rosemberg

BAR OFFER
b. Beth Alfa 2004

LIN OFFER
b. Beth Alfa 2006

SHAI SHEMARYAHU
b. Nes Ziona 2002

AVIV SHEMARYAHU
b. Nes Ziona 2005

HILA SHENHAR
b. Israel 2005

m. 1992

 Stacy

m. 2000

 Eran Shemaryahu
b. Rechovot 1969

ORIT SHENHAR
b. Dayton Ohio 1970

DANA SHENHAR
b. Tel Aviv 1974

m. 2000

 Eran Gabay

Jacob Herz

Betty

See LUDWIG'S BRANCH I

7th GENERATION 8th GENERATION 9th GENERATION 10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION
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LUDWIG”S BRANCH I

Ludwig Ferdinand Meyer was a pediatrician and nutri-
tion expert (especially nutrition of infants and children). 
He studied medicine in Munich, Berlin and Bonn, where he 
graduated in 1902 and worked for three years in the Charite 
hospital in Berlin before moving in 1905 to work with the 
eminent pediatrician Heinrich Finkelstein, with whom he 
also wrote articles and chapters in many medical books many. 

After Finkelstein's retirement Ludwig was appointed 
director of the Emperor Frederick Berlin Hospital, but in 
May 1933 was forced to resign due to the Nazi racial laws. 
In 1935 immigrated to Israel with his wife Lotte, daughter 
Ilse and son in law, Professor Walter Hirsch and his grandson 
Daniel and settled first in Jerusalem where he served as head 
of the Bikur Holim Hospital for a year. Then he moved Tel 
Aviv and appointed head of pediatrics at Hadassah Hospital 
and pediatric consultant at the hospital Tzahalon (Dajani).

Ludwig Meyer was the world's leading child nutritionists 
at his time, studied the salt content of infant nutrition and 
invented one of the first artificial food for children based on 
cow's milk. He wrote many articles and several books, first 
in Germany in 1930, and later on in English. In 1969, the 
Municipality of Berlin decided to place a memorial plaque on 
the site of the department he ran in the thirties in the Kaiser-
und Kaiserin-Friedrich-Kinderkrankenhauses Hospital.

Peter, Ludwig's son oldest son was also a doctor in Ger-
many; but when he and wife Eva moved to England in 1933 
he had to requalify. He first set up in general practice, and 
later became a cardiologist. Peter and Eva had two children 
Renate and Robert.

 
Renate married Charles Keeping who she met at art 

school. Charles became a book illustrator and Renate a 
painter/textile artist. Charles sadly died in 1988, and as a 
memorial to him and his prodigious work Renate started 
an art gallery in their large Victorian house where she also 
shows her own work, among which is a very extensive ‘family 
story’ presented like a frieze (Bayeux Tapestry style) telling 
of their coming to England and the gradual assimilation to 
the life there. One can see some of it on the website: www.
thekeepinggallery.co.uk.

Charles and Renate had three natural children: Jonathan, 
Vicki, and Sean. In 1962 they adopted Frank when he was 
six weeks old.

 
Jonathan studied photography and cinematography, and 

is a film cameraman.  He worked for the BBC for 30 years 
mainly filming travel programmes all over the world, visiting 
at least 500 destinations.  During his career with the BBC 
he also filmed other programs including a drama about a 
British woman, Christabel Bielenberg and her time in Nazi 
Germany; and a documentary about the Kindertransport, 
interviewing survivors.

Jonathan now has his own freelance business.  He lives in 
Buckinghamshire with his wife, Helen, who works in educa-
tion, and their two children – Charles and Isabella.  Charles 
is now at university studying classics, and has become a 
keen rower. Isabella is at high school, and enjoys drama and 
travelling.  They live in a 400-year old cottage in the pretty 
village of Cuddington.

Vicki Keeping works for ‘Scope’ an organization with 
people with cerebral palsy. She also went to art college and 
got her degree in ceramics. Sean is an engineer and works 
for ABB, the large engineering company where he is the 
global manager of technology. He is married to Wendy and 
has two children Josef and Robin. Frank is a bricklayer and 
has one child Billy.

Born on June 3, 1936 in London, Peter's second child 
Robert was diagnosed three weeks after his birth with pyloric 
stenosis, a newborn condition in which the pylorus muscle 
connecting the stomach and intestine does not open to allow 
digested food to pass through.  The result is that the food is 
forcibly rejected from the infant´s stomach.  Robert quickly 
dropped from his birth weight of 9 pounds to 3 pounds.  Be-
cause not much was known about pyloric stenosis, the doctor 
sliced the poor baby from neck to groin, finally cut the pyloris 
muscle, and saved Robert from starvation.

When Peter returned from fighting in North Africa and 
Greece, he sent his son to an English boarding school, Oun-
dle, for a better education.  The fact that Robert was the only 
Jew in a population of 700 Christian athletic schoolboys left 
an unforgettable mark on him.
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From 18-20, he served in the British Army as a lieutenant 
and succeeded in painting four Royal Artillery guns yellow 
for the invasion of Suez.  After this initial encounter with the 
adult world, Robert settled on the profession of accounting 
in the hope that money was purer than people.  But after 
qualifying, Robert learned that it would take him 20 years 
to move up into the firm´s executive ranks, and so defeated 
again, he decided to leave the profession and attend Harvard 
Business School in Cambridge, MA.

During his two years at Harvard, Robert met Jill Edmonds, 
then a graduate student at Tufts University, working toward 
a Master´s Degree in teaching, and they began to date.  The 
second summer after they´d met, Robert planned a visit to 
England for Peter´s 60th birthday and invited Jill to meet his 
family in London.  Toward the end of the visit, they drove to 
Windsor Castle and entered the exquisite St, George´s Cha-
pel, where in one of the small chapels, Robert proposed to Jill.  
She loved him dearly but was so stunned, she nearly fainted.

After Robert graduated with distinction from Harvard, he 
concluded that academic life was not for him, and resigning 
from the staff, he began work for a famous character in the 
cosmetic business, H.R. Shepherd, owner and founder of a 
company called Aerosol Techniques, located in Connecticut.  
Thus, after their marriage on December 18, 1965 in Cam-
bridge, Massachusetts, Robert and Jill moved to Westport, 
Connecticut.

The Meyer´s first son, Benedict Peter Ferdinand Meyer, 
was born in April 18, 1967, during the time when they lived 
in a sweet little house next to the Saugatuck River.  From his 
first moment, Ben showed that he had an interest in mechan-
ics and building.  Their daughter, Alexandra Candice Meyer, 
was born on March 19 1969 in the middle of a huge snow 
storm, and their third child, Nicholas James Meyer, was born 
on June 14, 1973.  At exactly three weeks, he showed decided 
evidence that he had pyloric stenosis and was operated on 
immediately.  The resulting scar, thanks to technology, was 
barely an inch long, in contrast to Robert´s large cut.

During the time the children were growing up, Peter and 
Eva visited each summer making great efforts to keep Robert 
on the straight and narrow and getting to know their Ameri-
can grandchildren.  Another family member who spent every 
Thanksgiving, Christmas, and family birthday with them was 
Peter´s and Ilse´s sister, Ruth Kaufman, a New York resident.  

L U D W I G ’ S  B R A N C H

She became a beloved surrogate mother and grandmother to 
the whole family.

Just before Nick´s birth, Robert and Shep parted com-
pany, and Robert, once more a refugee, decided to go into 
business for himself.  A businessman called Stew Leonard 
had built in the neighboring town of Norwalk the “world´s 
largest dairy store,” where he processed milk, orange juice 
and other fluid products.  Children, enchanted by the live 
farm animals he displayed outside the store, dragged their 
parents to the store.  Robert was struck that this same formula 
might work elsewhere.  He and a partner found an investor 
and eventually erected a barn-like structure complete with 
“silo” and live animals in Milford, Connecticut.  Robert knew 
even less about milk than he did about guns and hair spray, 
but despite a halting start, he and his partner slowly made a 
success of the business.

However, since the store was open 364 days/year, Robert 
worked long hours, both in developing what eventually be-
came three stores and in acquiring other personal real estate 
holdings, mainly on Westport´s waterfront.

After 13 years, Robert and his partner sold that company 
to a wealthy investor and used the proceeds to buy a busy 
Westport waterfront commercial real estate parcel-which now 
includes shops, offices, a brewery, and a gas station.

Meanwhile, as the children grew, all three were selected 
to join the elementary gifted program and all attended Staples 
High School, the excellent local secondary school.  Ben went 
on to the University of Pennsylvania (as did Tamar), and 
graduated with a degree in Mechanical Engineering, Alex 
attended Brown University - both undergraduate and Medical 
School - and Nick received his undergraduate degree from 
Princeton and is now working for a Ph.D. in math at Berkeley.

In 1991, Ben married Sally Mindy Davis, a Penn Ph.D. 
in psychology.  Since his college graduation, Ben has worked 
as an engineer for Harmonson Stairs, a small New Jersey firm 
that manufactures and assembles custom circular stairs.  Ben 
and Sally have a lovely blonde daughter, Kayla Genevieve 
Meyer, born on July 7, 1995 and a handsome young son, 
Harrison August Meyer, born on June 16, 1998.

 
After graduation as an M.D. Alex met and married Dr. 

Robbins Tien, a pediatric ophthalmologist in Providence.  
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They have an adorable daughter, Carolyn Edmonds Tien, 
born June 12, 1997 and twin boys: Christopher Wedlake 
Tien and Julian Slade Tien .  They traveled to Africa on their 
honeymoon and have visited his relatives in China.

Aside from raising their children,  Jill´s favorite job was 
teaching in the gifted program her three children attended.  
She has spent the last ten years working for a small Norwalk 
publishing firm that produces four monthly trade magazines in 
the eye care field. Starting as office manager, she now designs 
and sells advertising space and loves it.

LUDWIG”S BRANCH II

Ilse and Walter Hirsch came from Berlin where they 
grew up. Walter Hirsch was born in Cologne. Walter was a 
pediatrician, having gone to medical school at the Univer-
sity of Vienna followed by pediatric training in Berlin.  He 
was assistant to L. F. Meyer, Ilse’s father, and, as they say, he 
married the boss’s daughter. 

In 1935 the L. F. Meyers and the Walter Hirschs includ-
ing Dan, who was then called Thomas Edgar Hirsch, and his 
brother Michael, immigrated to Palestine.  They flew from 
Berlin to Italy and then took a boat to Haifa.  At age 17, 
Dan enlisted in the Israeli army and age 18, Dan changed his 
name.  He served in the Palmach, the elite Commando Unit 
of the IDF, fighting in the Negev.   His unit helped liberate 
Beersheva and Eilat. The family lived in Jerusalem where 
Walter was a doctor and Ilse a gym teacher for young children.

Dan later left for the U.S. to study medicine, becoming a 
psychiatrist. He married Judy and settled in Chicago where 
they had two children: Tamar and Raphael.  In 1976, Judy 
died of breast cancer.  Daniel married Margie Kaiz on August 
19, 1979.

In 1990 Dan became a Professor of Psychiatry and Behav-
ioral Sciences at Northwestern University.  He is an author 
of 16 books.

Margie had an eight year old daughter of her own from 
a previous marriage to Louis Abraham who had died of lung 
cancer in 1974.  Margie is a specialist in the marketing of 
non-profit institutions (ie adversiting, fundraising and public 
relations). 

In time, Daniel became a true father figure for Susan and 
he eventually legally adopted her in 1987.  She then took the 
legal name Susan Kaiz Abraham Offer.  Susan went on to earn 
her BA degree in English from the University of Michigan in 
Ann Arbor.  After completing college she spent a year work-
ing as an English teacher and living in Prague in the Czech 
Republic.  She then returned to Chicago where she worked 
as a fundraiser for the Jewish United Fund for three years.  

In 1998 Susan returned to school to get a graduate degree, 
an MBA from Duke University.  While there she met her 
husband, Ariel Szafir a nice Jewish boy who was originally 
from Quilmes, (a suburb of Buenos Aires) Argentina.  They 
married in downtown Chicago at the Fine Dining Rooms of 
Spiaggia and soon after migrated to Austin, Texas where Ariel 
had landed a job as a financial analyst for Dell Inc.  She too 
worked for Dell as a brand marketing manager for four years 
and then chose to leave the corporate environment to spend 
more time with her child, Lili. They were expecting their 
second child due to arrive in the spring of 2005. 

Margie Offer, passed away from lung cancer on April, 
2020.

The older daughter, born to Judy and Dan is Tamar. She 
grew up in Chicago, then went to college at The University 
of Pennsylvania.  Tamar went on to earn a Masters Degree 
in Computer Mathematics.  She married Reuven Yehoshua 
a native Israeli, who she met in Jerusalem while studying.   
They have now divorced. After working for Intel and A9 
–an Amazon division– Tamar lives now in Menlo Park and 
is currently working for Google.

 Tamar and Reuven had two children, Shir and Ron, Shir, 
rently graduated from the University of Chicago.  

Tamar's brother Raphael, often referred by  his nickname 
Rafe, went to school at The University of Wisconsin, in 
Madison and majored in Political Science and English.  He 
then received a Masters Degree in Advertising from North-
western University in Chicago.  Upon completion, he moved 
to New York City, a place he had always dreamed of living.  
He struggled a bit at first in the big city (which made Chicago 
feel small), but eventually landed a job in advertising.  After 
5 years in New York, Raphael met Stacey, a Jewish woman 
from Forest Hills, Queens, who worked for Elizabeth Arden 
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as a packaging designer.  A year later they moved in together 
and in 1991, were married.  Meanwhile, Raphael had joined 
the Walt Disney Company as a marketing manager for Mickey 
Mouse licensed products.  

It was an exciting time for Stacey and Raphael, no kids, 
cool jobs, and in the big city.  But Raphael especially was 
getting worn down by eight years in Manhattan.  And when 
his Disney division was transferred to Los Angeles, Raphael 
and Stacey decided to move to Los Angeles, where they 
settled in ‘The Hollywood Hills’.  What a change!  Movie 
stars and palm trees replaced cement and skyscrapers.  Still, 
it took a year to adjust to what seemed like a different planet, 
and ultimately they become accustomed to sunny, flaky life 
in California.  Plus, Stacey started a business selling and 
restoring antique frames and made a profit her first year.  But 
four and a half years later Raphael was ready to move on 
from Disney, and found a new job, as a Marketing Director 
for new products for The Coca-Cola Company.  While the 
job was a good career move, the couple was forced to leave 
their LA paradise and move to Atlanta, Georgia.  Atlanta was 
hard.  Stacey found it impossible to adjust to the provincial 
ways of the Southern USA.  Raphael liked his job but found 
the Coca-Cola Company incredibly big and lacking in in-
novation.  Two years later they were off again, this time to 
London, as Raphael had found a job working for Diageo (the 
world’s largest drinks company) working in a new business 
ventures group.  The couple settled in Hampstead, an area 
in North London.  There they again loved their city, and 
after four years at Diageo, Raphael decided to start his own 
independent consulting firm, in 2003.    

Raphael and Stacey have two smiling daughters, both 
born in London.  Isabelle and Chloe. Both have English ac-
cents, which their American parents find funny and strange.

Raphael's musical start-up, SOFAR has gone world-wide 
and you can visit it at www.sofarsounds.com, https://www.
youtube.com/user/Sofarsounds  or  https://en.wikipedia.org/
wiki/Sofar_Sounds. 

Meanwhile, Stacey built a property business, buying flats 
in their local neighborhood of North London, gutting them, 
designing and building them up again, and selling.  The family 
referred to this passions of hers as 'property porn' as Stacey 
would dive into these projects for 10 hours a day, over nearly 
a year.  She successfully 'flipped' i.e. bought, fixed and sold 5 
buildings over a 6 year period.  When she wasn't doing that, 
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you could find Stacey being a mother ('mum' in England), 
with her many friends or in their garden.  In fact when Covid 
19 hit, and the world stayed at home, Stacey happily made 
up for lost time focusing her design abilities on our house!

As of Spring, 2020, Isabelle ('Izzy'), nearly 20, was 
studying fashion photography at the University of the Arts, 
London.  When not in school, she is keeping her Instagram 
account fresh with photos of other teens, professional musi-
cians & models.  During the lockdown, along with her sister, 
Izzy took portraits of creative friends over the computer, via 
Zoom.

Chloe, who just turned 19, is studying photography like 
her sister, also english literature and philosophy.  She plans to 
go to college in the USA starting September, 2020, and study-
ing music business in Universities in either Chicago, Boston, 
or both.   When not studying, during lockdown Chloe's 
been busy launching  a music blog,  https://allthingsmusic.
org/ which highlights her favorite musicians and her analysis 
of the music industry..

In 2013, Daniel Offer passed away, leaving a wonderful 
legacy in medicine and continuing a long tradition of  doc-
tors in the family.

This is an excerpt of Daniel's obituary which appeared in 
the Chicago Tribune:

Psychiatrist Daniel Offer ignored conventional wisdom and 
prevailing theories in conducting research that provided new 
insights into adolescent development and how adults remember 
the past.
"He always said, 'You've got to get the data,'" said his wife, 
Marjorie Kaiz Offer, who assisted him in his research.
In a project that began in the early 1960s, Dr. Offer conducted 
interviews of 73 high school freshmen. He followed those 
subjects for eight years and then caught up with most of them 
again when all were in their late 40s.
"He changed the way we think about adolescence," said Patrick 
Tolan, who did postdoctoral training with Dr. Offer and is now 
a professor at the University of Virginia. "Through science he 
demonstrated that most adolescents have normal development 
— it's not all stress and storm."
Reconnecting with most of his subjects in the 1990s, Dr. Offer 
and his team found that the 48-year-old subjects had little abil-
ity to accurately recall answers they had given in the original 
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study, with memories skewed by life experiences since then.
Dr. Offer, 83, who had been on kidney dialysis for nearly 14 
years, died of natural causes Monday, May 13, in his home 
in Mercer Island, Wash., according to his wife.
The couple moved to Washington after his 2008 retirement 
from Northwestern University's Feinberg School of Medicine 
as professor of psychiatry and behavioral sciences, where he 
continued as professor emeritus.
Dr. Offer was born Thomas Hirsch in Berlin. His father and 
grandfather were doctors at Berlin University who lost their 
positions after Hitler became chancellor of Germany and 
barred Jews from holding government positions.
Worried by rising anti-Semitism, Dr. Offer's family moved in 
1935 to what was then Palestine. They settled in Jerusalem, 
where Dr. Offer grew up in relative tranquillity. That ended 
in 1948, when he and his high school classmates began training 
for the war that broke out as soon as Israel's independence 
was established.
It was then that he took the name Daniel Offer, rejecting 
Thomas (Tommy) as a nickname for British soldiers and 
Hirsch for its German roots. Trained as a commando, he 
fought in the 1948 Arab-Israeli War.
After the war he served for a year in the Israeli army's medical 
corps. Then, at the urging of his father and grandfather, he 
went to the University of Rochester in New York for studies 
to prepare him for medical school.
After three years at Rochester, he went to the University of 
Chicago Medical School. After that he was an intern at the 
University of Illinois in Chicago.
He applied for a residency in the psychiatry department at the 
since-closed Michael Reese Hospital and Medical Center in 
Chicago. He was later chairman of the department of psychia-
try at Michael Reese and also a professor at the University 
of Chicago.
Dr. Offer told the Tribune in 2000 that it was while he was a 
resident at Michael Reese that he became interested in testing 
prevailing theories that teenagers needed some turmoil and 
rebellion to grow into normal adults. He got permission to do 
psychological interviews with 73 male high school freshmen 
at two area high schools — one in a North Shore suburb and 
one in a south suburb.
Those subjects were interviewed a number of times throughout 
their high school years and for four years afterward, and their 

answers to questions about their lives were recorded.
Thirty-four years later, 94 percent of those originally studied 
participated in four-hour interviews, according to Marjorie 
Kaiz Offer, who married Dr. Offer in 1979.
The results were surprising: Study participants were wildly 
inaccurate in recalling how they had answered questions as 
teenagers.
Dr. Offer speculated that the men's memories might have been 
altered by changing societal and cultural values about such 
topics as corporal punishment and whether it was all right to 
begin having sex during high school.
Dr. Offer told the Tribune then that could be why memory 
is so poor, that it tends to meld into what society thinks is 
appropriate now.
He suggested the results should make psychiatrists take patients' 
accounts of their personal histories with "a grain of salt — or 
a small rock."
"Dr. Offer was the first person to really define what it means 

to be a normal adolescent," said Dr. John Csernansky, chairman 
of the Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences at the 
Feinberg School of Medicine.

Michael Offer grew up in kibbutz Beth Alfa. and got a 
Ph.D.. He became a teacher and worked though to become 
the Administrative Director of Oranim College in Tivon, 
in northern Israel. He married Judith and had four children: 
The late Tal who died in a automobile accident, Paz who is 
in the computer field and happily married to Anat and with 
two children, Guy a computer programmer and Chen, who 
lives in Beth Alfa with his girlfriend Sonia, and their son. 
Chen works in alternative medicine.

Juval, the third son of Ilse Meyer, was born in Israel. 
While studying college in the US he met and married Amira 
Rolnicki. After eight years, they returned to Israel. He has 
worked in the tourism industry, mainly in marketing and sales 
manager. He has worked for El Al and Austrian Airlines. 
Amira is a senior ground hostess in Laufer Aviation at Lod 
Airport.  Orit, the oldest daughter was born in the US and 
is now married to Eran Shmaryahu.They live in Nes Ziona 
and have a daughter Shai. Dana works for Lufthansa Cargo 
and is married to Eran Gabay, who is a CPA. Dana was born 
in Israel and currently works as an office manager.

L U D W I G ’ S  B R A N C H



106

L U D W I G ’ S  B R A N C H

Ludwig and Lotte Meyer in Germany, 1903.

Ludwig and Lotte's children: Peter, Ilse and Ruth, circa 1910.



107

L U D W I G ’ S  B R A N C H

Walter, Ludwig, Peter and Paul Meyer, 1926.
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Ilse and her niece, Renate, 1949.
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Ludwig Meyer.

Ludwig and Lotte Meyer in Israel, 1949.
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Mother Lotte Meyer.

Dr. Peter Meyer, 1949.

Peter and Ilse Meyer in Jerusalem, 1943.
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Peter and Eva Meyer.

Dr. Peter Meyer.
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Charles and Renate Keeping.
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Jonathan, Vicky and Sean Keeping.

Renate with her grandchildren.
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The Keeping family in 2003. 
Standing: Helen, Charley, Sean, Jonathan, Vicky and Wendy. Sitting: Isabella, Renate and Josef.
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Ilse Meyer.

Ilse and her three children.

Ilse Meyer, 2004.
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Daniel Offer, 1948, the year of Israel's independence.
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Dr. Daniel Offer and his family. Rafe and Stacy Offer with their daughters.
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Rafe and Stacy Offer.

Daughters Isabelle and Chloe.
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Reuven, Tamar and their children.

Ron and dad.
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The Offer Family in Florida, 2007. 
Top row from left:  Raphael Offer, Stacey Offer, Daniel Offer, Shir Yehoshua, Margie Offer, Susan Pffer Szafir,  
Ariel Szafir holding Stella Szafir
Bottom row from left: Isabelle Offer, Chloe Offer, Tamar Offer Yehoshua, Ron Yehosha, Reuven Yehoshua, Liliana 
Szafir.
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Orit and Eran Shemaryahu.

Amira and Orit on her wedding day, 2000.
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Paz Offer with the baby.

Sonia and Chen Offer.
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Dan and Margie Offer.



124

AMELIE’S BRANCH

m. 1902

 Theodor Kronenberger
b. Hoppstädten-Weiersbach 1871 

d. Montreal 1950

7th GENERATION 8th GENERATION 9th GENERATION 10th GENERATION 11th GENERATION

AMELIE MEYER

AMELIE'S BRANCH 

b.  Wiesbaden 1882  d. Montreal 1968

PAUL KRONENBERGER
b.  1903 d. ?

KURT KRONENBERGER
b.  1906  d. Toronto 2007

RALPH KARON
b. Jerusalem 1938  d. Toronto 2006

DANIEL KARON
b.  Jerusalem 1941

m. ?

Irene Tillich
b. Berlin 1909? d. Montreal 1970

m. ?

Irene Sims
b. Montreal 1937

m. ?

Rita Levine
b. Nowlton QC 1945

m. ?

Rene
b. ?

Had no children

KIM KARON
b.  Toronto 1963

m. ?

William Lynch
b. Toronto 1963

ANN KARON
b.  Toronto 1967

m. ?

Edward Reszetnik
b. Toronto 1967

THEODORE KARON
b.  Toronto 1968

m. ?

Lesley Lessard
b. Toronto 1969

IRENE KARON
b.  Montreal 1970

m. ?

Kent Pearson
b. Edmonton 1960

KEVIN KARON
b.  Ottawa 1971

m. ?

Peiline (Betty) Huang
b. Taipei

GRACE RESZETNIK
b.  Toronto 2000

RYAN RESZETNIK
b.  Toronto 2002

REBECCA KARON
b.  Toronto 2004

AMY KARON
b.  Toronto 2006

KHRISTOPHER KARON
b.  Taipei 2002

KATHERINE KARON
b.  Toronto 2005

KONRAD KARON
b.  Windsor 2008

COLE PEARSON
b.  Toronto 2004
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TThe Kronembergers, now the Karons are the last branch 
of our family, descendants of Amelie, the youngest daughter.
They were also the last branch we were able to locate and 
gather information from.

After almost ten years of trying, we got in touch with Kim 
Karon who showed interest in our family and send us some 
images and a small text on his grandfather.

KURT KRONENBERGER

In 1923, Kurt was 17 years old and he got his first job 
working as an apprentice for his father’s bank –Kronenberger 
Bank. The bank had a seat on the Frankfurt Exchange. At 
night time he took an economics course at the university/
college of Mainz. He studied at night and did not complete 
the four year program as he was not interested in a degree 
at the time. He was only interested in travelling the world. 
He did successfully complete two years of studying and this 
allowed him to complete his apprenticeship position. 

From there he went to Berlin to work as a broker for a bank 
called Gerbudier Heyman. It was a medium size brokerage 
firm. For one year Kurt worked on everything to do with the 
stock markets. Kurt executed trades for German customers 
over the phone.

For the first year Kurt only dealt with brokers and was 
not allowed to deal with clients directly. He would get an 
order from one broker and he would find another broker to 
take the other position. He dealt with all types of industries. 
The job was mainly an office job, but on occasions he would 
venture out onto the trading floor. 

In 1924 he moved to a bigger bank called Dreyfus & Co. 
to work on the foreign exchange arbitrage desk. He traded 
positions between the US dollar, German Mark and British 
Sterling. 

From there he left Germany to work in Holland, in the 
Amsterdam Exchange, for another bank/brokerage firm. It 
was not really a defined job as it was volunteer work. He did 
not stay there very.

His next stop was Geneva, Switzerland to learn French. 
This job was with a very small bank and it lasted for another 
six months. This one was also a volunteer position.

In 1927 he took a second class trip on the Olympic (sister 
to the Titanic) to work with another one of his father’s friends 
in New York for six months. 

Kurt’s job in New York entailed very long hours, until 
ten o’clock every night. He once again did not make much 
money, but he was given $3,000 from his father. He took 
this money and invested it in Anaconda shares. He bought 
the shares at $30 and soon they soared up to $150. Then 
in 1929 they crashed with the market down to $3. In 1935 
when he emigrated from Germany he was allowed to take his 
Anaconda shares with him. They were still trading at $3 per 
share. In 1954 he eventually sold them out at $60. 

1928 Kurt’s father, Theodore Kronenberger, realized that 
the markets in United States were overvalued and as a result 
sold his bank. The Commerce Bank –the second largest bank 
in Germany– bought the Kronenberger Bank. Theodore 
Karon became a Director of the Commerce Bank and Kurt 
became an employee of a branch in Berlin. The crash in 1929 
was awful. Many people were committing suicide. The reason 
the crash was so bad was because you could leverage $10 to 
buy $100 dollars worth of stock. The leverage killed everyone.

The best companies went bankrupt. 1929 was a very bad 
year. Theodore received cash and shares for the sale of his 
bank. The shares were locked into for one year, but he was 
able to short his shares before the market crashed. He was a 
very smart man.

With the money he received from the sale of his bank he 
purchased real estate in Mainz, Theodore purchased several 
properties. 

Kurt saw Hitler in 1929 in a beer hall. Hitler was giving 
a speech. The speech was amazing and a lot of people were 
enthralled.  The only other time Kurt saw Hitler in person 
was the day that Hitler became Chancellor in 1933. He 
saw him through the window of Rene’s parents place (in 
the parliament). Hitler was saluting the crowds and soldiers 
with his heil salute. He remembers it very well. He was very 
impressed with him at the time and was happy to see that 
he had only become Chancellor. As the Chancellor, Hitler 
would not be able to do the things he had written about. 
After his term he would be out.   

The first couple of years as Chancellor not much hap-
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pened and not many people left the country. No one still 
believed that he was a threat. When he started to segregate 
the Jews, people began to leave the country (1936-37). Kurt 
convinced his parents to leave. It was very difficult for his 
parents as they had a lot of friends and were well established.

Kurt and his wife Rene moved to Jerusalem (Palestine) 
and realized that the rise of Hitler was going to create a war. 
They warned Theodore, who in turn sold off his property 
and moved to Jerusalem too. Most of his collections were 
put in Switzerland.  

In 1943 Kurt got asked to manage the new Jerusalem 
branch of the Palestine Discount bank which was the second 
largest bank in Jerusalem. Salary was not that much, but he 
got 12% participation in the profits of the bank which gave 
him a very good income. He worked there for years and 
became a Director of the Bank in1947.

In 1950, Kurt and Rene decided to leave Israel because 
of the uncertainty and security issues. They first flew to New 
York before going to Canada, because they had to wait six 
months for a visa. During this time they lived in New York 
and Dan and Ralph went to school there. 

After returning from a trip to the west coast the im-
migration papers to Canada were ready. On August 15, the 
Karons drove to Canada and were officially welcomed by the 
Commissioner. 

Now in Canada, Kurt needed a new job. For several years 
he ventured into different distribution and import businesses, 
then in 1953, he met Mr. Kasam. He was the son of a General 
Motors representative in Iran. This gentleman offered to 
be Kurt’s partner and together they proceeded to evaluate 
numerous business proposals. They called their company 
Karohydraulics and they equally invested and were equal 
owners. It was not big business, so Mr. Kasam decided to cut 
his losses and get out of the business. Kurt bought him out.

Over time Kurt was able to increase the number of prod-
ucts from two to three to well over one hundred parts, it 
was a very profitable business until the computer came into 
existence, it then became too hard to compete and Kurt sold 
his business.

Kurt lived the rest of his life in Canada until he passed 

away in 2007 at the age of 101.

Kurt’s oldest son Ralph passed away in 2006 with pancre-
atic cancer at 68 years old.  Since there was a lot of family 
history with cancer, the doctors performed a genetic test on 
him and unfortunately discovered that he had a gene deletion 
that is hereditary named BRCA-2. The gene deletion was 
ultimately linked back to Amelie Meyer who died of breast 
cancer at an earlier age.

Amelie Meyer, 1902.
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Theodor and Amelie's, Jerusalem consulate cards, 1938
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Dr. Paul Kronenberger,.
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Kurt Karon.
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A P P E N D I X

III

Their words...

In the following pages you’ll find the complete version of 
Alice Meyer’s text on her mother-in-law, as well as a couple 
of other transcripts from recordings and interviews.

Alice’s text is a wonderful portrait on the way the whole 
family lived and the everyday lives of German Jews, notice 
there is not a hint of the terrible events that took place just 
a few years later, which again, makes it hard to believe that 
in just over a decade, the life of Jews took such a drastic turn.

The Meyer family had a very comfortable life, good jobs 
and solid businesses, nice homes in the city and even some 
country homes, even house help!

This all changed quickly and in a matter of just a few 
years, most members had emigrated...

Following Alice’s text is a recording Karl Meyer did for 
his family, in which he narrates his life, going back to his 
childhood.

This is also an interesting peak into the different char-
acters in our story.

We also have Ilse Meyer’s 2000 interview done in Jeru-
salem expressly for this project. Since she was at the time 
one of the only living members of Moritz and Kätchen’s 
grandchildren, I thought it would be enlightening to listen 
to her story.

There is also a paper published as part of a Festchrift in 
honor of Daniel Offer, –one of Ilse's sons–, in the Journal 
of Youth and Adolescence.  It gives the life story of Daniel 
which you might enjoy reading. 

The other living member of the grandchildren generation 
was Kurt Kronemberger , later Kurt Karon, who past away 
in 2007 while living in Toronto. Both Kurt and his children 
declined our multiple requests for an interview and for in-
formation on their branch.

Last, but not least, we have a small excerpt from Gunther 
Seelman's book which tells about his years as a political 
prisoner in Chile during the Pinochet's military regime, also 
an interesting converstation with Dr. Roger Meyer, talking 
about his life and medical practice.
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The intention of this book is to show children and the 
children of children how an intelligent woman, through her 
unique sense of family, managed to create such a remark-
able sense of belonging within a family, despite differences 
between individual family members. This day is living proof 
of just that.

As a token of thanks, I have written down a few insignif﻿i-
cant memories, in the assumption that she will derive some 
pleasure from these words. Since it is the first time in my life 
that I am putting pen to paper, I beg for your forbearance in 
this matter. On the occasion of her ninetieth birthday, which 
without any doubt we will eventually also be celebrating, 
given the unusual intellectual and physical freshness of the 
person whose birthday we are celebrating today, I promise to 
write more by way of a supplement, should this be her desire.

Wiesbaden, January 27, 1926.
Alice Meyer

Wiesbaden, January 27, 1926

Kätchen Meyer: Portrait of a Life
told by Alice Meyer

Dedicated to my dear mother-in-law, Mrs. Kätchen Meyer, 
on the occasion of her eightieth birthday.

English translation 
by Gretel Furner

PREFACE
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“Kätchen, Kätchen, where are you hiding?”

No reply.

“Malchen, Lina, where is she hiding?”

“Well, Mother, surely you know where she is,” answered 
Lina, the oldest of the nine children.

“For sure, she is with our little Karl. Surely you know that 
our little doll refuses to fall asleep unless Kätchen is reciting 
him to sleep.”

At this, Mother Jeannette went straight to little Karl’s 
cradle where the sweet little boy, who was quite a bit younger 
than the other children, lay in the arms of his 15-year-old 
sister who was trying in vain to lull him to sleep with a 
monologue from Maria Stuart.

She was reciting to him with such perfection that one 
had the distinct impression that this young girl was surely 
destined for the stage, although her mother appeared to be 
of differing opinion.

Mother Jeannette, a dignified lady of aristocratic appear-
ance, her hair parted flat on her head, secured tightly and 
imposing in its appearance, cried out in her joy at having 
found Kätchen at long last, “My dear child. Surely, you know 
that today is Friday. I have so much to do, and you just have 
to taste the cake before I put it in the oven. Then you have 
to put the sauce on the carp. Otherwise, it won’t be set by 
this evening. Without your fine sense of taste, I hardly dare 
to prepare these things alone, given the fact the ingredients 
are becoming increasingly more expensive.”

Yes, indeed, Mother Jeannette was a stern, extremely 
thrifty, but just mother, who had been strictly but well brought 
up by her parents. Her parents were known back then as fam-
ily Liebmann in Schierstein, where they occupied a respected 
place in town as well as in the vicinity of the town. Jeannette 
married Herz Herxheimer in Dotzheim, who had already 
been briefly married before. From this first marriage he had 
two sons, of whom one had died young. The children of the 
second son live in part in Berlin and Frankfurt. The name 
Herxheimer enjoyed a good reputation far beyond the limits 
of the narrow hometown, since his brother was the famous 

Bible translator and Rabbi, Dr. Herxheimer, in Bernburg.

The four oldest children, of whom Salomon was the first, 
were born in Dotzheim. On the subject of what became of 
Salomon, one can say that he was always a serious dutiful 
character, much loved and much respected as early as the days 
he spent in his Würzburger army corps “Rhenania”. When 
he later returned his ribbon and his cap to his corps, saying 
that he wanted more than just to be tolerated as a Jew, the 
“Rhenania” were unanimous in their decision to ask him to 
reconsider his position since he belonged to them in his entire 
person. I mention this as small proof of his honorable and 
upright character. After concluding his state examinations, he 
served as a general practitioner in his hometown. He then met 
and came to love the American woman, Fannie Livingstone, 
who was living in Wiesbaden at the time. With the approval 
of both sets of parents, the two were married. They rented as 
their apartment one floor in the building which is now called 
the “Berliner Hof”. For the young woman, however, life in 
Wiesbaden became monotonous in the long run. It was at 
her request that Salomon decided to give up his own practice 
and to dedicate himself to the specialty of dermatology. For 
this purpose, he continued his studies at various universities, 
finally deciding on Frankfurt as his permanent residence. 
Here, he acquired not only a very expensive practice, but 
also enjoyed great personal respect. In the sciences too he 
was known even outside Frankfurt as a pioneering authority. 
There were four children from this marriage, of whom the 
oldest, Gotthold, who was always his favorite, was by far the 
most talented. Gotthold also studied medicine and today is 
regarded as one of the leading pathologists in Germany. He 
was not as faithful in his religious convictions as his father, 
and was baptized at an early age, and even went as far as 
publicly admitting his hate towards Jews and all that which 
belonged to being Jewish. This might be the reason why he 
did not achieve that in his career which he could otherwise 
have achieved given his dedication and his hard work. His 
motto is “For me there are only electoral affinities” and this 
happened to be the way he behaved. His political views are 
staunchly conservative. He is married to a certain Freiin von 
Poschinger from Bavarian nobility. This marriage is without 
children.

The second child, Lili, a dear person, who even today 
shows her father’s family the appropriate familial sentiments, 
married a second cousin, Otto Liebmann from Frankfurt am 
Main, a particularly intelligent and likeable person, who is 
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a doctor of law from Berlin and owns the most respected law 
publishing house there. He is the son of Jeannette Herxhei-
mer’s brother, Karl, in Frankfurt am Main. Jeannette Herxhei-
mer’s brother Karl was himself like all Liebmanns, intelligent, 
and enjoyed great business success owing to the 1870 war, 
and was thus able to give his children a particularly good 
education. These children in turn found excellent positions 
for themselves. Otto Liebmann’s eyes say all that needs to be 
said about him, and I believe that they do not mislead one.

The third son, Georges, was not an easy child to raise, and 
did not achieve anything spectacular before his premature 
death at 45. The fourth and youngest son, Hans, studied medi-
cine at the particular request of his mother, and is practicing 
as a dermatologist in Frankfurt am Main. There is nothing 
specific to be mentioned about him other than the fact that 
he married the daughter of a childhood friend of his father’s 
whose first name is Falome.

The medical administrator, Salomon Herxheimer, died 
quite suddenly at the age of 57 during a vacation trip in the 
mountains. He is mourned most profoundly not only by his 
family, but by the entire intelligentsia of his own hometown 
and by all who knew him. His widow lived for many years in a 
very elegant house built by Bruno Paul, and only maintained 
occasional contact with individual members of the family. 
She was also friendly and likeable and suffered a great deal in 
her final years because of illness. It is worth mentioning that 
her remains are buried in a Christian cemetery in Frankfurt, 
whereas her husband is the only one today to rest in a beauti-
ful family tomb in a Jewish cemetery.

Two years after the birth of the first-born, Salomon, the 
stork announced the arrival of Lina, and two years after that 
our little Kätchen came along, of whom we want to tell more 
on this day. The last daughter to be born in Dotzheim was 
Elise, the only one who later married and moved abroad to 
Luxembourg, where she gave birth to three children. At this 
point, however, Father Herxheimer felt a longing for city 
life since the narrow horizon of the village inhabitants had 
become too narrow for him and his family. At short notice, 
he bought the so-called Firnselmühle on the Spiegelgasse 
in Wiesbaden which stretched all the way to the “Nassauer 
Hof”. Salomon went to the local high school, where he made 
good progress, while the girls visited a boarding school where 
they were very happy and had many nice friends from similar 
backgrounds. Kätchen was able to study and to quote the clas-

sics to her heart’s content. This, moreover, has always been a 
hobby of hers and has also been inherited by her children, a 
fact which often makes their partners by marriage as well as 
Kätchen’s grandchildren smile. When Kätchen recited her 
poems with such verve, she often had to suffer the ridicule of 
her brothers and sisters who were always seriously reminding 
her to come down from her Pegasus.

Then again the children came at two-year intervals. 
First came Amalie, who is called Malchen, who still seems 
to me, at 76, to be the ultimate queen mother. There were 
five wonderful children from her excellent later marriage, of 
whom one by the name of Gustav lost his life in a childhood 
accident. Her oldest son Max, who had acquired for himself 
a particularly renowned position as a lawyer in Mainz, died 
in the prime of life at 45 from some medical complication. 
The three children who are alive today are particularly dear 
and industrious people. The sons live in Mainz and Emmy, 
the daughter, lives in Frankfurt. All of them are married and 
widely loved and respected. After another two years, our 
Minna appeared, somewhat more coquettish and elegant 
than her older siblings. There is talk of a brief flirtation she 
had with her cousin. She married the younger brother of 
Malchen’s husband. She can be proud of her handsome son-I 
always call him “Bel Henrico”-he travels a great deal in Spain 
where, accordingly, he found for himself an elegant wife and 
gained two very dear daughters, who are all well married and 
living in Frankfurt.

After two years, Mother Jeannette felt that she again owed 
something to the fatherland. And lo and behold, now there 
lay Klara in the cradle, her seventh child. Like both her older 
sisters, Klara married a hard-working man in Mainz, although 
she was more modest when it came to having children. She 
claims as her own Maria and Heinrich. Although she some-
times complains about her lot, you only have to look at Klara 
to realize that she would never change places with any king. 
Whenever the conversation turns to her very bright son, 
Hans, a highly regarded lawyer in Mainz, who until now has 
not been able to convert to Zionism, then she is rightfully so 
proud she can hardly keep her mouth closed.

When after a further two years the stork no longer an-
nounced his presence at the Herxheimer household, everyone 
in Wiesbaden thought that Mother Jeannette was now fin-
ished with childbearing. Fortunately, however, this was not 
the case. For shortly thereafter, the giant Ferdinand came 
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into the world, the only son who is not studying medicine, 
but who has made a particularly good name for himself 
through his business talents in Mainz and later in Frankfurt. 
He married a woman from Mainz and from this marriage 
stemmed two through-and-through Christian children-his 
daughter Fränzel who is married to a lawyer in Leipzig, and 
the renowned doctor of sports medicine, Herbert, who lives 
in Berlin and is likewise married and who recently became 
the father of a son.

There now followed a five-year pause, during which time 
the baby clothes were by and large given away as gifts. This 
did not, however, prevent Karl from brazenly entering this 
world without asking anyone’s permission. This is how he 
also has managed his life so far. Without saying much, he 
often played tricks on his older brothers and sisters and even 
his parents. In his career, he followed in the footsteps of his 
oldest brother and became a dermatologist, and is currently 
an honorary professor of world renown at the University of 
Frankfurt am Main. He married a woman from North Ger-
many who found it hard to adapt to her decidedly southern 
German family. Their marriage remained without children, 
and perhaps it was on account of his wife’s influence that his 
contact with the family, compared to the very familial feeling 
of family togetherness exhibited by other family members, 
remained somewhat looser.

Now, somehow since calling Kätchen I have managed 
to hurry ahead many years, which means that I now have 
to trace back my footsteps somewhat. Kätchen, to whom 
these lines are primarily addressed, immediately became the 
obedient daughter and followed her mother’s instructions. 
She interrupted her monologue and laid little Karl, who was 
screaming his lungs out, back into the cradle and followed 
her mother into the kitchen,

“Well, Mother,” said Käte, “ The spices are sorely lacking.”

“Oh, do you really think so?” asked her mother.

“Yes. The cake tastes bitter.”

“Oh, yes, of course. When you say spices, you mean sugar.”
And so she added a large amount of sugar. When Kätchen 

tried the cake again, she said, “Yes, this way it should be 
excellent.”

Our gourmande had the same criticism to make about 
the carp. This time her clever mother knew that spices only 
meant sugar, and was able to clear up the misunderstanding 
so that both courses reached the family on Friday evening 
and Saturday without any criticism being uttered. Since 
Kätchen happened to be with her mother alone, she used the 
opportunity to express once again her heartfelt pain, as she 
had done some days previously. “Think about it, Mother, it is 
so important to me. At night when I wake up, I find it almost 
impossible to go to sleep again, because I’m always thinking 
about what Fräulein Bernhardt told me about the poor exiled 
people without shoes and socks. If we take care of our daily 
needs, Mother, surely we want to help the poorest people too. 
Anyhow, Fräulein Bernhardt was particularly happy about 
my performance in French and told the class that I was an 
exemplary student in my ambition and my attention to my 
duties, and if you, dear Mother, manage to persuade Father 
to do something for those exiled people, then I promise you 
that I will limit reading those novels you don’t approve of and 
that as soon as I have completed my studies at school, I will 
take over the household chores completely.” And so it was.

In the meantime, Mother Jeannette had become over-
whelmed with all the work involved in the personnel work-
ing at the mill and all the work to do with her large brood 
of children, and was beginning to think about how she 
could make life easier for herself. At that point, a fortunate 
coincidence came to her assistance. The elders of the city 
came to Herxheimer and explained to him that they needed 
the water power from his mill for the town. And thus he 
decided at short notice to sell the land on the “Nassauer 
Hof” and to surrender the water power to the town. Even 
today, the town water comes from the two natural wells in 
front of the Kurhaus. And so the Herxheimers moved to a 
house on the Michelsberg, and Father Herxheimer turned 
his business effort to grain and, specifically, to military sup-
plies and deliveries. This is how he came to work so closely 
with Samuel Jacob Meyer, with whom he undertook many 
a business deal at the so called Mahr’schen Hof. In their 
leisure hours they were often seen playing Skat together. 
One time as they played together, they sat together with an 
elegant young man from Cologne who went by the name of 
Moritz Desenberg. He was introduced by the brother-in-law 
Julius Herz, the proprietor of a well-known jewelry shop in 
Wiesbaden, which still enjoys the best reputation today and 
is still in the possession of the family’s heirs. Frau Herz was al-
ways the favorite sister of Jeannette. She was a sophisticated, 
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intelligent woman of particular beauty who also appreciated 
a real sense of family. After the gentlemen had finished their 
round of Skat, Herxheimer took the young Desenberg back 
home with him. And what was the consequence? Linchen, 
as young as she was, fell in love at first sight and he too said 
immediately: “Her or none other.” It nevertheless took two 
years before they heard from one another again. But when-
ever her father talked to Linchen about marriage plans, and 
indeed only the best was good enough for his oldest daughter, 
she would categorically reject his suggestion since she carried 
in her heart the image of the young man from Cologne. At 
long last, after two years, on a certain Friday evening, Meyer 
came to Herxheimer and said: “Mr. Desenberg is here again. 
He would like to have Lina as a wife.” Herxheimer changed 
from his housecoat into his Sunday best, walked to the We-
bergasse, went to find Moritz Desenberg and told Jeannette: 
“Introduce to your oldest daughter her future husband over 
this evening’s carp! She will have none other than him, so 
we have no choice but to say yes.”

Lina’s happiness and joy were indescribable. And so too 
she did gain a particularly well-educated and dear husband, 
who unfortunately passed away with kidney disease much too 
early in life. He had a thriving wholesale plaster sales com-
pany in Cologne where Lina soon felt right at home. There 
were four children from this marriage. As misfortune would 
have it, all four children were struck with severe diphtheria, 
one dying from this disease and the oldest daughter becom-
ing deaf and dumb as a consequence of the illness. Even 
Lina suffered at a young age from a heart ailment, which 
was made much worse by the misfortune in the family. The 
oldest daughter was sent to Sister Elise. The son, Ludwig, left 
early for America, where he started his own business and was 
to become the father of a very attractive daughter. Salomon 
Herxheimer in Frankfurt took the youngest daughter as his 
own daughter. She was even adopted and became a favorite 
of Aunt Fanny. A picture-pretty and elegant child, she spent 
a happy youth in the house on the Gärtnerweg with her 
cousin Lili who was the same age. All members of the fam-
ily, especially later Jeannette and Kätchen, never forgot how 
good Fanny had been to Flora, and even though, according 
to her Americanness, she showed her husband less heart and 
warmth than they would have liked to have seen for their 
so adored son and brother, this was never held against her.

And now, once again let’s get back to our actual heroine, 
Kätchen. We left her at the point where she was thinking of 

leaving her beloved Bernhardt school, where she was unusu-
ally loved as an exemplary pupil by her teachers and fellow 
school friends. She showed great interest in everything that 
she heard and learned. This was part of her character, but 
it was also her way of showing gratitude to her parents who 
dedicated themselves to such an extent to the education of 
their children. Thankfulness and respect towards her parents 
have always been one of her most outstanding qualities. We 
will have further recourse to talk about this at a later stage. 
When, at the age of fifteen, she dedicated herself entirely 
to her parents’ house, she immediately took over running 
the house. And her mother, who was much moved, soon 
noticed that she herself now had much less of a burden to 
bear. With nine growing children, the youngest of whom was 
still an infant in the cradle, and with the entire smoothly run 
household to look after while at the same time sharing in 
the business concerns of the father, everything had gradually 
become a little too much for the 45-year-old mother. You 
can imagine how helpful and how grateful she was when 
Kätchen resolutely took over in the household and offered 
her intelligent advice. Nonetheless, the mother knew not to 
single Kätchen out from among the other children, so that 
nobody really realized how indispensable her daughter had 
become to her. Moreover, Kätchen willingly and joyfully put 
her mother’s needs before her own and did so until the very 
end of her mother’s life, since this was something that came 
from her heart, unquestioningly, and for which she never 
expected any form of recognition. During her leisure hours, 
she busied herself in her passion for the classics, and was 
able to recite them almost by heart after having read them 
carefully a few times. Even today, Grandmother Meyer knows 
the right answer whenever young people come to her with a 
question about where a certain quote comes from. However, 
it is also to be mentioned that she simply devoured novels in 
her love for reading. The more complicated the intrigue in 
the love story, the more worked up she became about it. She 
had developed into a very good-looking young lady with a 
slim figure and, as the fashions of the time would have it, a 
generous bosom. Since she admired both attributes, she would 
always dress well and fashionably without ever spending 
much money on clothes. Even then, her sense of family was 
particularly well developed. She derived more joy in entering 
into lengthy discussions with her dear uncles and aunts than 
in taking part in dancing or street festivities. And as we have 
already mentioned, she favored the Herz household, although 
she often liked to go for a chat to her Uncle Maier Liebmann. 
One should use quotation marks in saying “Uncle Maier”. For 
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indeed, he was to a certain extent the most feared person in 
the family. He was known to be very clever, and all that he 
said was held to be unconditionally true. However, in reality, 
he impressed the family more by his critical viewpoint, which 
was often able to anticipate situations before they actually 
occurred. He too had a grain business in Wiesbaden and had 
become quite prosperous through it. Gradually, however, he 
lost interest in his profession and handed his business over 
to his most senior business manager and became involved in 
wine production in Schierstein, by means of which he also 
acquired a large fortune. For his entire life, Maier Liebmann 
remained a great gourmand and his wife, Frau Jettchen, made 
cooking into a fine art. She herself was born Landau and came 
from Camberg, and was a dutiful and almost subservient wife 
to her husband. When I later came to know her as a widow, I 
always had the feeling that there was a certain anxiety about 
her person. For my husband, moreover, the name Maier Li-
ebmann always inspired a certain respect. Why? That I will 
mention at a later point.

The excellent education of the nine Herxheimer children, 
together with their faultless behavior, impressed the people 
of Wiesbaden to no end. And there was often talk in the 
population at large that “whoever takes any of those daughters 
home will never be good enough for her family.” This also 
happened to be a favorite saying of Maier Liebmann himself.

Although Kätchen was herself by no means coquettish, 
yes indeed, even showed displeasure toward girls of careless 
and capricious nature, it did sometimes happen that certain 
men’s eyes would look at her with longing. She herself had 
no time for these things. It was only when one certain per-
son visited the house that her heart would beat faster. This 
episode in her life coincided with the time of her sister’s 
engagement. Father Herxheimer had expressed his approval 
that the period of engagement, Lina’s engagement time, could 
be short, since he saw how long these two had been yearning 
for each other. Meanwhile, another person, a certain Moritz, 
had been caught by the fire. He was the son of Samuel Jacob 
Meyer. At the time he was twenty-two years old and said to 
himself boldly: “Kätchen and no one else has to become my 
wife.” She herself, however, did not want to admit in the 
beginning that she was able to have anything other than the 
household, her brothers and sisters, and in particular Karl, 
and her parents in her head. But when she lay in bed at night, 
the elegant Moritz Meyer would come into her thoughts, and 
slowly and gradually she began to think: Lina is so happy 

with her Moritz; I believe I could also become happy for my 
whole life with Moritz Meyer. And even Moritz Meyer himself 
had since the time of Desenberg’s engagement no thoughts 
other than for his Kätchen Herxheimer. He had always had 
a tendency to vanity since he was convinced that he was a 
good-looking young man, and every day he became more 
vain, having new suits made for himself, and placing an ever 
greater value on the selection of his ties, since he wanted to 
find approval from all sides that he was a smart looking young 
man. When he woke one morning, having dreamt once again 
about his Kätchen, he looked at his reflection in the daylight 
in the mirror, and was impressed by what he saw, leaving the 
house determined to go to Herxheimer to ask for the hand of 
Kätchen. Herxheimer had expected this for some time, and 
said: “This might well suit you, but we do not lightly give up 
a seventeen-year-old daughter just like that.” When Mother 
Herxheimer noticed that his intentions were truly serious, 
she was also greatly shocked, since Kätchen had over the 
years become indispensable to her in the household and in 
the raising of her children. She just could not get used to the 
idea of having to give her up now. Lina’s engagement itself 
was keeping her busy enough. But those who knew Moritz 
Meyer also knew that it was hard to change his mind once 
he had decided to do something, and since Kätchen stood 
fully on his side, he was soon able to declare her his bride. It 
was understandable that Herxheimer insisted on a three-year 
engagement, and initially the couple had nothing against the 
idea. Kätchen was truly happy. She would have the kind of 
husband that she had always wished for-kind, hard-working, 
and solid. Moritz owned a flourishing manufacturing business 
and was also involved in the grain business belonging to his 
father. His family had long known and loved Kätchen, and 
what was of even greater importance to her was that she 
would be allowed to remain in Wiesbaden with her parents. 
Moreover, she was the only child of all brothers and sisters 
who chose her permanent residence in Wiesbaden.

There followed the solemn celebration of the Desenberg 
wedding. Herxheimer placed a great deal of importance on 
organizing everything the way it should be. It was at this time 
that life became more difficult for Mother Jeannette. The 
distance from Moritz’s parents’ house on the corner of the 
Kirchgasse and Michelsberg to Michelsberg Number 30 was 
not far at all, and Moritz would come around to the house at 
least three times a day, irrespective of whether it was a big 
wash day or whether one of the children was ill whom it was 
up to Kätchen to look after, or whether it was a big cleaning 
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day preceding Easter. In short, Mother was often angry with 
the changes in her daughter. The daughter herself had in 
reality not changed, and took her duties as seriously as ever, 
only the mother had forgotten that youth sometimes has 
other thoughts in its head. Anyway, the many visits had the 
good consequence that of the three years originally planned 
for the engagement, one year was deleted, so that there was 
finally a splendid wedding in the “Kölnisch Hof”.

Even before the engagement, the Meyers on the Kirch-
gasse had come to know and value Kätchen, who had often 
visited their house and struck up a friendship with their 
daughter Emma, a good, quiet and modest girl. Emma mar-
ried a not so significant gentleman by the name of Hermann 
Herzog, and moved to Mannheim. From that marriage, there 
was one son who now lives in America. From the beginning 
of that marriage, she was frequently sick and was always to 
remain a weak woman. Having become a widow very early in 
life, she moved back to Wiesbaden to settle with her father, 
after whose death she moved into her sister Henriette’s house. 
Henriette was by character a harder and more egocentric 
woman, so that their living together was not a totally happy 
arrangement. Emma had to have a serious operation, after 
which she was continually weak and suffering. In the final 
years of her life, she frequently travelled with her rich rela-
tives, the Hirsches, from London. They would travel to the 
Riviera. This was the height of enjoyment for Emma and 
she would always regard it as a good deed and kindness on 
their part, being such a sweet person, although the other side 
seemed to derive as much pleasure by the presence of her 
company. It was her heart’s desire to see her son in America 
one more time, and also to get to know her daughter-in-law. 
This wish was to be fulfilled at a time when she already car-
ried within herself the seeds of her final deathly illness. She 
returned from America severely ill, but extremely happy. She 
spent the final months until her death at the sanitorium, the 
“Lindenhof”, where she was treated by her favorite nephew, 
Gustav, whom she adored and respected. On the days that 
she enjoyed somewhat better health, she would spend a good 
deal of time with Kätchen, with whom she got along far better 
than with her own sister. I am writing somewhat at length 
about her because I know that she became very dear to my 
mother-in-law.

The younger sister Jettchen was, from her youth on, 
a highly energetic and active person. Until she became 
engaged, she worked in the manufacturing business which 
they had on the Langgasse. She married a wine merchant by 

the name of Kahn in Wiesbaden, a thoroughly modern man 
with whom she had a harmonious marriage, and from which 
again two highly energetic girls came into the world. Malli, 
the oldest girl, who liked to hear herself reciting so much-I 
must interrupt here to remind you at this opportunity of our 
rehearsal dinner in the “Englischer Hof” in Frankfurt-married 
and moved to Hannover.

Since her husband died prematurely, she had to look 
after herself and her daughter Reni. The younger daughter 
Else took up work after the death of her mother in a job in 
a charitable institution in Hannover, a job which she held 
for several years, and married, when she was 45 years old, a 
73-year-old widower who was the director of this institution 
by the name of Berliner. This marriage is said to have been a 
very fortunate one. Mother Jettchen took over the business 
after the death of her husband, as I have said, so that she 
would not be obliged to the kindness of her relatives. This 
was at the time a deed worth recognizing.

And now we should go back to the Meyer parents. Mother 
Amalie had always been endowed with a particularly well-
tuned and sensitive nervous system, which on occasion gave 
her cause for suffering. She was an industrious woman in her 
business, whose priority was to provide her family with a pleas-
ant home. Friday evenings, in particular, were particularly 
cozy and homey in the Meyer household. Samuel Jacob, the 
father, placed great value on family togetherness, loving to 
play cards as so many of his male successors, and always happy 
to receive good tips relating to his grain business. He, too, was 
very happy with the choice of wife his son had made, but I do 
believe that he would have been happy with anything that 
his favorite son, Moritz, had done. Although the young man 
was used to being very spoiled at home, Kätchen knew right 
from the start how to conduct a marriage without shadows 
in a harmonious way until the death of her husband. Their 
honeymoon was only short and consisted in visiting the 
Desenbergs in Cologne.

Kätchen had nothing against the idea of her husband 
getting up straight after they had eaten to join the synagogue 
choir club to play a game of cards, or if he went out for his 
evening drink with his old Wiesbaden friends. Even in the 
evening he would spend one more hour playing cards, a 
cigar always in his hand. Although she was unfamiliar with 
his behavior from her own parental home, she tolerated it 
because of her innate quality of respecting each individual for 
who he is and of granting each individual a certain right to 
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make their own decisions. She therefore avoided criticizing 
her husband in any way, even though she often had to give 
up his company more than she would have liked to. She was 
always happy in the thought that her husband, who even as a 
bachelor showed the world a carefree temperament, felt him-
self to be a happy man and could not have found for himself 
a better wife. She had been used to her independence in her 
parents’ house, while she had been responsible for organiz-
ing the household, so it was not difficult for her to conduct 
her own housekeeping in an exemplary manner. The family 
had been thrifty on the Michelsberg, and now in Number 
10 Langgasse where the young couple lived in a newly built 
house on the third floor with his parents on the second floor, 
Kätchen derived her pride from the fact that she could per-
form her very best using the most modest of means. In doing 
so, she commanded the admiration of her mother-in-law 
Meyer. After she had completed her household chores, she 
would busy herself in the business which was situated in the 
house itself, and it is even told by the Fama that Kätchen’s 
sense of business is said to have raised profit margins as early 
as the end of her first year.

On the 22nd of October, 1865, the marriage was cel-
ebrated and on the 17th of September, 1866, Kätchen 
realized that she was about to face her first major challenge. 
Moritz was very concerned for her well-being, since he hated 
to see anyone suffering, let alone his wife. But on the 18th 
of September, he was rewarded heartily for the patience 
they had both shown when his Kätchen fulfilled his most 
heartfelt desire, giving him, Moritz Meyer, a son, an heir to 
his throne, and his first-born. The young mother, too, was 
delighted at this outcome, for she too had silently wished for 
her first-born to be a child who would carry the family name, 
as is the custom among Semites. Moreover, she now had the 
tedium of pregnancy behind her and could now go about her 
business unencumbered. She put little Julius to her breast, 
and behold she had more than the baby needed. The milk 
literally flowed. And so the young lad had plenty of good 
nourishment right from the beginning, something on which 
he placed great value for the whole of his life, perhaps for 
this reason. Despite her other obligations in the household 
and in the business, she dedicated herself wholeheartedly to 
her duties as a mother.

Her respect for her parents is documented in the fact that 
she gave her husband a child every two years, just as it had 
been the custom with her own parents.

Number two arrived on the 10th of August, 1868, and 
was called Gustav. The joy of the parents this time was even 
greater than it had been with the firstborn. One could almost 
say that the parents already had a sense that this child was 
to become and remain their favorite son. The fact that I am 
telling you this, dear readers, must remain a secret between 
you and me, since both the father as also the mother would 
be very anxious to promptly answer that one child was as 
dear to their hearts as another. Since I, however, had the 
fortune of becoming Gustav’s wife, I believe I can say that I 
know better. Whenever the mother speaks today of her son 
Gustav, then she has his ideal image in her eyes and she looks 
blessed at being able to call such a son her own. If anyone 
would ever dare to forget to praise him and recognize him 
fully and totally, then I do believe that she, who otherwise is 
always the first to forgive and to talk kindly of others, would 
be prepared to scratch out their eyes. But now, this child had 
only just learned to open its eyes, and I’m already reaching 
far into the future. I’m afraid you’ll just have to forgive his 
better half (whether or not Mother Kätchen would say on 
reading this that she herself chose the better half). And so 
Gustav was richly nourished by his mother and was from birth 
on a more contented child than his older sibling. As a four 
year old, he was already attempting to exercise a pacifying, 
pedagogical influence on Julius.

Meanwhile, once again, as is the custom with us, a third 
son was born on the 29th of November, 1870. Emil was a 
dear, young boy who in his gentle way attempted even as a 
very young child to make life easier for those around him. 
By now, Kätchen had been married five years and her field of 
work had expanded considerably within a very short period 
of time. There was always a lot to do in the household, what 
with all the children’s laundry and the day-to-day chores 
involved in having children. On the other hand, she never 
felt satisfied unless she saw her parents and her brothers and 
sisters on a daily basis, since she still maintained an interest 
in everything that happened on the Michelsberg.

In the meantime, Elise and Malchen had married. The 
latter marriage took place in the newly built synagogue on the 
Michelsberg, to which her parents had donated a beautiful 
plot. Sister Malchen was also very proud of her-long train 
which was carried from her parents’ house to the synagogue 
on the other side of the street by bridesmaids and caused 
quite a stir.

However, in spite of the ever larger circle of duty, every-
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thing in the household ran very smoothly. Whenever little 
Julius was a little too defiant, he would get a slap on the cheek 
from his mother. He happened to be the only child of the six 
who was slapped, and yet all the children went on to become 
successful in life. This would give one occasion to think!

By the time Julius started school, child number four was 
already in sight, and lo and behold, this time-this time the 
father was more enchanted than ever-it was a little girl who 
came into the world by the name of Mathilde, born on the 
29th of October, 1872.

Meanwhile, war had broken out in the country in 1870, 
and since the Liebmann, Herxheimer and Meyer families 
were in the military supply business and Moritz himself 
showed a good business sense in his bold and adventurous 
business projects, the financial situation of these families was 
considerably improved during this period. On the surface it 
was hard to notice any difference, either amongst the Herx-
heimers or among the old and young Meyers. In fact, quite the 
contrary, a Spartan simplicity reigned in all three families. It 
was not easy for the young people to ask for special treats. One 
of the Herxheimer sisters had once said: “When Kätchen was 
still single, she was allowed to go and hear Patti in a concert. 
And you can imagine how much money that cost!” I must add 
that the enjoyment of this concert made an incredibly deep 
impression on Kätchen. But Mother Herxheimer remained 
cool when confronted with such accusations, for once she had 
made up her mind she could not be persuaded to change her 
mind through pleading, wailing or any kind of proposition.

Mathilde, meanwhile, was developing into a very good-
looking young lady and was always particularly modest, 
something she kept for her entire life.

In 1873, Moritz came to an important decision. At the 
regular table where he sat drinking in the evening, there 
had been a lot of talk about the impressive world exhibition 
in Vienna. This captured his imagination, so that one day 
he came home and declared energetically to Kätchen that 
he was going to Vienna. Kätchen was so surprised she could 
hardly contain herself, although she realized that he was not 
about to change his mind, and so she put on a brave face and 
said cleverly: “Well, I suppose it’s alright with me.” And so 
it was that Moritz left with several of his friends for Vienna 
where he amused himself heartily, often telling tales about 
the elegant, good-looking Austrian women.

The health of Mother-in-law Meyer had always been 
somewhat delicate, but now left a great deal be desired. She 
died in 1874, deeply mourned by her family. It is said that 
during the entire time that the death lamp burned on the 
front steps, Gustav always would take the back steps into 
the apartment.

Kätchen concerned herself now in particular with her 
father-in-law for whom she felt great sympathy. This was, 
in fact, the first real loss for this family. The children often 
went to see their good grandfather Meyer, and Gustav in 
particular felt very close to him. Julius would play around a 
little outside. He was never particularly fond of his school 
responsibilities, particularly when our friend Windisch blew 
his famous whistle downstairs, and our little Julius would 
suddenly disappear; nobody quite knew where to. Whenever 
he received a warning at school, which happened occasion-
ally, then he would show it to his mother or father seconds 
before school began in the mornings when his parents, who 
were afraid he might be late for school, would quickly sign, 
as needed. And so, he was able to spare himself from their 
criticism. Sometimes his mother would have to nab him 
quickly when he came back home to get his attention. But his 
weaker father had long forgotten the whole matter, and Julius 
was able to go about his old ways again. He was also, unlike 
his brother Gustav, fond of young girls and one has to admit 
that he is said to have shown good taste in these matters, 
sometimes spilling  out his poetic talents to various young 
ladies. He was cautious to arrange matters in such a way that 
neither his parents, nor his brothers or sisters ever noticed 
anything about his amorous endeavors. Only his brother 
Gustav noticed these things from time to time, occasionally 
trying to have some influence on his brother in these affairs.

Whenever Mother Kätchen wanted to spend some par-
ticularly pleasant hours, she would go to her Uncle Abraham 
Liebmann, one of the bachelors living on the Taunusstrasse, 
who was an intelligent man who kept up with the times, 
and with whom she could exchange her thoughts. Again, 
Kätchen had her housekeeping well under control. She only 
had one girl helping her in the household, a girl who kept her 
position for a long time, presumably because she was aware 
that although she was kept on a strict leash, she in fact had a 
mistress for life who was hard-working and taught her a great 
deal. Father Moritz himself was a connoisseur of life in every 
meaning of the word. He was always happy that people who 
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knew him always saw him laughing. He was always greeted 
in the friendliest of fashions, constantly with a cigar in his 
mouth-he smoked approximately from the moment he got 
up to the moment he went to bed. To avoid having to use 
a match, he would light one cigar from the one he had just 
finished. As I have said, he was a child of fortune, and even 
in business terms his endeavors were successful, often causing 
envy among his competitors.

During this time of her life, Kätchen had the opportunity 
to prove herself as a loving daughter and sister. One evening, 
her mother came to her quite out of breath and told Kätchen 
the following: “You know that the child who has always 
caused me the most pain is Karl. I have felt for a long time 
that I have lost my authority over him, and you know that his 
father is as weak toward his son as Moritz is toward his own. 
And today, I received the terrible news that Karl has been 
expelled from his high school because they found out that 
he and some of his friends belong to an unauthorized school 
society. Father has spoken with the principal, Dr. Pähler, but 
he is without mercy, and now the thing we have wished for 
the most, to let our Karl go on to study at the University, is no 
longer a certainty.” Attempts to find Karl another high school, 
such as in Limburg, were all in vain. When Kätchen heard 
this, she was totally devastated, for her youngest brother, to 
whom she had dedicated her entire love while living at home 
with her parents, was closest to her heart of all her siblings, 
without her wanting to admit this to herself, and now he was 
to be deprived of a brilliant career. No, this could not be. 
And so, at short notice, she decided to travel to Montabaur, 
to ask the director in person to accept Karl into his school, 
and to be sure, her efforts were crowned in success. Father 
Herxheimer was particularly appreciative that Kätchen had 
taken this heavy load from his heart, and so Karl was happy 
to move to Montabaur. I would like to note, however, that 
later in life Karl tended to forget this valiant deed on the part 
of his sister. It has always remained a mystery to me why he 
never really appreciated this sense of family.

It was during this time that several marriages were cel-
ebrated in the Herxheimer and Meyer families.

The four Meyer children were coming along magnif﻿i-
cently, and Gustav in particular was a joy to his parents. Af-
ter three years of elementary school, his teacher Reichard 
recommended that he jump a grade, skipping the last grade, 
to begin high school straight away. When it came to the 
entrance exam, he had problems with four-digit division. 

Devastated, he raced home to his mother during recess, then 
had himself tested once again and was accepted. From 1877 to 
1879, he went to the Middle School, and from 1879 to 1886 
he was a pupil at the Royal High School, the Kömigliches 
Gymnasium. There will be more on this period in his life 
later. Already in his earliest years he had been endearingly 
supportive of his mother. He was always willing to help her 
fetch things into the house, and whenever his mother had 
stomach cramps (these must have been the start of her later 
gall stone colic), he was always concerned for her and would 
warm blankets on the stove to help with the pain. Then he 
would race over to Glaser’s on the adjacent Metzgergasse 
to pick up five pennies worth of pepper which they needed 
at home. When he got back, he would test the edge of the 
blanket against his cheek and, of course, burn himself. With 
his innate sense of empathy, Gustav became more and more 
aware of the burden imposed on the shoulders of his beloved 
mother, and like a daughter, he would attempt to relieve her 
of some of her anxieties in the household.

Emil was always a somewhat more delicate child who was 
never asked to do too much. He hung onto his mother’s apron 
strings. Little Mathilde, who was called Tilda by her father 
and by Julius, became an outstanding student in the upper 
grades of the girls’ school, and remained a top student her 
entire time at school. She had a real need to be with others 
and had many girlfriends at school. Even today, as a 53-year 
old woman, she is always delighted to meet a “child from her 
class”, and to talk to them. Her teachers loved her a great 
deal, and especially Fräulein Petsch and Fräulein Stahl have 
particularly fond memories of Mathilde. Her mother adored 
her like a goddess, not only because she always obeyed her 
mother down to the last word but also because whatever her 
mother said remained until today a revelation in truth.

During holidays, the children regularly attended religious 
services, including Father Moritz Meyer every Saturday. In 
fact, he placed great emphasis on following religious com-
mandments. His devoutness, in reality, increased as he be-
came older and sometimes touched on fanaticism (perhaps 
because he saw that his children did not take after him in this 
respect). Kätchen herself is spiritually of a less devout nature, 
as are most of her siblings and their respective children. Her 
sense of family duty towards her parents and her husband led 
her to adhere to the rules of her religion. As a rule she is in 
all respects tolerant by nature.

The year 1872 went smoothly in the Moritz Meyer 
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household as did all the years thereafter until 1879. The 
year 1879, however, was to become a difficult, fateful year 
for our heroine. When she finally became pregnant again 
after a seven-year pause, her mother became very ill with a 
serious gall stone complication which led to a gall bladder 
occlusion. The entire circumstance became extremely critical 
and it was only on account of most outstanding doctors that 
a catastrophe was avoided.

Kätchen was at first quite unhappy about the unexpected 
new addition to her family, while Moritz, as was his nature, 
took the whole thing more lightly. On the 23rd of May, Lud-
wig came into the world and I must say that he was to become 
not the worst example of the Meyer children. Hardly had the 
stresses of childbearing subsided as well as the excitement 
over her mother’s illness, when another hard blow struck 
Kätchen on the 11th of June. Many long years of unbending 
strength on the part of her father had recently begun to fail 
and on Kaiser Wilhelm the First’s golden anniversary, his 
eyes closed forever. Whenever a parent dies, even if he or 
she has reached an old age, it is too early for the children 
involved, and all nine (including the stepdaughter, all ten) 
children were deeply disturbed by his death, in particular 
the daughters who mourned him greatly. Of his children, 
however, Kätchen was the most affected since she had lived 
in constant contact with her parents and was witness on a 
daily basis to the sufferings of his widow, who had shared 
so much joy and suffering with him over the years and was 
now only able with difficulty to become accustomed to be-
ing alone. Kätchen visited her mother almost every evening 
while she still lived on the Michelsberg. Later, her mother 
moved to the Jahnstrasse, where she would visit her brother, 
Maier Liebmann on Oranienstrasse, often accompanied by 
Käte. Much later, by the time the old lady had become quite 
light-haired and had moved to the Friedrichstrasse, she would 
regularly visit the Meyers in the evening, since she felt she 
was very close to her grandchildren, and thus the relationship 
between mother and daughter remained harmonious. Among 
the other brothers and sisters, too, the feeling of closeness 
continued to be very strong. Whenever the sisters arrived 
from nearby Mainz, where all three lived, there was a great 
deal of news to exchange. Each one of them attempted to 
create the impression that they had made the best marriage, 
or that their children of all the children were the best. This 
has remained the case, God be praised, until today. When 
Kätchen, Malchen, Minna and Klara all get together at 
Kätchen’s house, then the deeds of the various children are 

so praised that a quiet listener has to smile to himself and 
be surprised that Germany could ever have lost a war, given 
that it had so many exemplary people.

Moritz continued to be happy, but he was left to his own 
devices. These consisted in smoking and playing the card 
game Skat. His moods depended on whether he lost or won 
in these games. He always alleged to his wife that he won. 
His wife herself had little understanding for games that were 
based on luck and considered the time spent playing cards 
to be wasted time, and would have been appalled with her 
sense of thriftiness to find out that her hard-earned money 
could be lost in such a frivolous way. Moritz no longer visited 
masked balls and such affairs. He had enough of these things. 
Well, I was too embarrassed to tell the reader this until now, 
but now I have gradually become more familiar with my 
readers and I will tell you the following story: When Moritz 
was young and picture handsome, it dawned on him that he 
would like to visit a hotel ball, all the more so because he 
loved to dance, and danced very well. Now, however, comes 
the terrible part. Children and grandchildren, please do not 
blush and do not make fun of me. I myself did not witness 
this, but was told about it. Well, while he was dancing, it was 
said that Moritz’s white trousers burst open so that he had to 
leave the ball prematurely before midnight.

Now, I’ve been so busy with all these asides that I’ve lost 
sight of poor Ludwig who had just set eyes on the world, and 
I have to admit it openly and freely, even if I might get my 
eyes scratched out for doing so, that he always was and will 
always remain my favorite child. I know that when I write 
this my mother-in-law, as well as my husband who is so similar 
to her in so many ways, will say: “How can you say a thing 
like that, and even say it in public?” But I’m in the habit of 
openly saying what I believe to be true. I don’t have much 
to say about Ludwig’s childhood. He was the first who wasn’t 
receiving enough of his mother’s milk and was given a wet 
nurse because of it. Well, there again, he is still demanding 
even today. He was a handsome and dear child, and on family 
photos, at about four years of age, he looked very much like 
his cousin Flora Desenberg. Even as a young boy he liked to 
be pampered, and his indisputable intelligence was evident 
from very early on. From the very first years, too, he knew 
how to get his way with his mother, something which his 
brothers and sisters never managed to do. He always knew 
how to get his mother in a good mood by saying something 
nice or through flattery. Later, I’ll be able to comment more 
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on this from my own point of view.

After he had deliberated at length with his other half by 
marriage (without whom he never came to any important 
decision, since he knew that her intelligence and common 
sense served him well), Moritz decided to give up his manu-
facturing business. The business was rented out to Maass, 
who had for many years conducted a laundry business on the 
premises. Moritz could now dedicate himself entirely to the 
grain business which suited him far better.

And now, I have to report that on the 23rd of March, 
1882, a small baby girl lay in the cradle at Moritz Meyer’s 
house. Julius himself was already 17 years old. Well, indeed, 
my mother-in-law was and remains a sensible woman and 
she believed, just like her mother, that she should be useful 
to her fatherland. In this matter, too, she judged correctly, 
since Amelie’s later marriage brought two wonderful baby 
boys into the world (Mother Kätchen is a good citizen in a 
political sense, who never lets any election go by without 
submitting her own vote.)

I have to divulge here and now that I will not need to 
mention the stork any longer as far as the Meyer household 
is concerned. The six children, however, were themselves not 
lazy in these matters. And once I have mentioned to you all 
their successes, I will certainly be in need of a recovery during 
my Munich holiday. Father Moritz was extremely proud of his 
youngest daughter. Everybody had to see his little Amelie. 
He would smile so much that he could hardly keep his mouth 
closed. Mother-in-law worried about how she could guarantee 
her six children a suitable education in today’s world. This 
question had been much easier in her parents’ generation, 
when people demanded less and life was, in general, cheaper. 
She could not rid herself of a certain anxiety over securing 
a good future for her children, no matter how much joy she 
derived later from each individual child. At the same time, 
one mustn’t forget how few demands she had for her own 
life. She never went on pleasure trips, and only bought new 
clothes when it was absolutely necessary, and this is the way 
it has remained until today. She scorned ladies’ afternoon 
coffees and considered happiness only to exist within the 
circle of her family. If only today’s modern women, so busy in 
their pursuit of pleasure, would think in similar terms, then 
the world would certainly be a better place.

Amelie, of course, not wanting to be in any way inferior 

to Ludwig (something she can’t bear to be even today) also 
insisted on a wet nurse. The hefty expense for this caused 
Kätchen some concern; however, during her entire life, she 
has always rather sacrificed herself rather than make sacri-
fices at the cost of her children. This great dedication to her 
children was paid back by all six children from their earliest 
years on, since all the children have a fine sense of true love. 
Anyone looking into the family on the Langgasse must have 
derived joy from the sight.

The year 1882 brought the first reduction in numbers in 
the household, with Julius leaving home with the permis-
sion of his school, having gained admission to a one-year 
apprenticeship. It was naturally very hard for the parents to 
get used to the idea of knowing that one of their children 
had left home. But their resolution was equally strong to give 
their child the best training possible without regard to their 
own feelings. Julius entered a large business (Brandenstein 
and Rose in Cologne) to begin his apprenticeship and went 
to live with family Bier. He never regretted this decision 
since, in this business, he learned everything that a qualified 
merchant needs to know.

Gustav was a good student at the Royal Gymnasium. He 
gradually acquired a lot of very nice friends who even today 
come to visit us in our home and hold him in high esteem. 
When he had finished his school year known as the “Un-
tersekunda”, there was a question as to whether he should go 
on to study or become a merchant like his brother. Medical 
schools at the time were overfilled and even Uncle Salomon, 
when asked, advised for this reason against the idea of medi-
cal studies. It was therefore decided that he take up a sales 
apprenticeship, which he went on to find at S.J. Salomon 
in Cologne. Father Moritz went to the school in person to 
register his son, Gustav, although usually he would have left 
these things to his better half. It so happened that the school 
director, Pähler, was there in person who instead of approving 
the matter stated quite clearly, “No, Mr. Meyer. I cannot sit 
by and watch you do this. Your son is so young and so gifted 
that you absolutely have to allow him to finish school and 
go on to the top grades. You can always decide later what he 
shall become in life.” Chastised, Father Moritz went home 
to tell Mama, as he called his wife, that Pähler had touched 
his conscience so much that he no longer had the courage 
to remain with his former decision. Since Kätchen didn’t 
have the courage either, the position at S.J. Salomon was 
recalled and Gustav was sent back to the Gymnasium (high 
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school). Kätchen quietly was very happy about this turn of 
events, since it had always been a fervent desire of hers to 
see her son go on to study. However, with her innate sense of 
modesty, she did not want to anticipate fate and was all the 
more thankful that events had taken this course.

One of the most serious threats to family happiness struck 
in the year 1884. Father Moritz who, until then had always 
been very strong and in good health, fell sick to a serious 
typhoid virus in July, accompanied by all kinds of possible 
complications. The situation became so serious that his life 
was in danger on several occasions. The city of Wiesbaden 
happened to be hosting a large gymnastics festival at the 
time, and the procession was meant to pass down the Lang-
gasse. In order to dampen the noise that would come from 
the event which could have had serious consequences on 
the man in the sick bed, the doctors recommended that the 
street in front of the house be lined with a wall of straw. The 
brothers in their generosity took part in this task, as well as 
the poor wife in her never tiring and never incapacitating 
care, as well as the brothers-in-law Salomon and Ferdinand 
Herxheimer. Kätchen has never forgotten in her heart her 
gratefulness towards her brothers and her respect for them 
went up considerably. The actual medical care lay in the 
hands of their practical home doctor, Dr. Wilhelm Cuntz 
and Professor Seitz. It was thanks to the united efforts of all 
those involved that this precious life was saved.

I would now like to talk about Grandmother Jeannette’s 
further life until her death. For Grandmother, the visits by 
her sons were the high points of her life. Salomon usually 
would come on his own to savor his favorite beef sausages 
with homemade pickles. It was a picture worthy of painting 
to see this woman who was otherwise so proud towards the 
world, sitting modestly next to her important son, Salomon, 
listening to his every word so that none would escape her, 
and being almost childishly happy that the simple food she 
offered him tasted so good. Woe to the butcher Baum the next 
day, on the occasions when Salomon found a piece of bone 
in his sausage! She was capable of becoming quite rude. Not 
that Baum made a great fuss about it, since he knew the old 
Herxheimers, along with the Meyers, were very demanding 
customers. Just as they didn’t like small bones in their sau-
sages, so too they didn’t like too many bones accompanying 
their meat.

And it was also truly remarkable how this man, used to 

the greatest luxury in Frankfurt-he had two servants in his 
home-felt so at ease with his simple mother and how he always 
found the right words for her which she would, in turn, note 
privately in order to relate them again the next day verbatim 
to Kätchen. Fannie would also visit her on occasion, usually 
bringing along Lili and Flora. Grandmother was also very 
happy when they came, although the tone and mood were 
far more formal. When the ladies visited, there were always 
alphabet pastries, because Flora loved these more than any-
thing else, probably because she knew that they could make 
Grandmother so happy by fulfilling such a simple wish. Karl 
would never stay very long, and usually came with Olga, 
which meant that his presence didn’t inspire the pure pleasure 
she derived from Salomon’s visit, in spite of her great love and 
the pride that she felt towards her youngest son. Ferdinand 
was in charge of organizing all her business affairs, a task he 
performed with an exemplary sense of duty. His visits, too, 
were a source of pure joy. Her daughters, of course, con-
tinually played an important role in her life, although their 
frequent get-togethers were something she would take more 
for granted. Whenever Grandmother and Mother Kätchen 
sometimes sat down on the Kochbrunnen Fountain, they 
would frequently socialize with acquaintances or even strang-
ers visiting the spa, and Grandmother always made a point of 
talking about her sons, her famous dermatologist in Frankfurt, 
the administrator and professor. One of the last great joys in 
her life was when she journeyed to Frankfurt to attend the 
marriage of her granddaughter Lili with her nephew, Otto 
Liebmann. She drove there with Kätchen and Moritz and 
spent the night in the nice house on the Gärtnerweg, where 
she felt as if she were living in an enchanted world. One has 
to imagine the difference between this luxurious house and 
her simple quarters. After she returned, she could never say 
enough about all the splendor and luxury to be found at her 
son’s house. (Like my mother-in-law, she had the habit of only 
calling the house by the name of her own child).

Her personality was such that each word that she spoke 
was intelligent and carefully conceived. She was stern in her 
intentions but also stern towards herself. When she received 
visitors, she always sat in the simplest chair in her large 
beautifully furnished living room, but the guests, she insisted, 
had to sit on the sofa. She always knew how to pursue other 
people’s ideas. At the same time, she knew exactly her likes 
and dislikes. We got along extremely well. I came to appreci-
ate her from the very first moment we met, and it was always a 
pleasure for me to visit the old lady and to chat with her. For 
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her, only the best was good enough. I noticed how enormously 
thrifty she was. For instance, I remember that she kept her 
tea locked up and would only give her serving woman, who 
had been in the house for many years, just the amount of tea 
that was needed for that evening and not one leaf more. At 
the same time, she would complain to me about Kätchen’s 
exaggerated thriftiness, saying that she took on too much and 
that it was wrong that she didn’t send her wash out of the 
house to be done. It was her wish that her eightieth birthday 
not be celebrated in any special way, since as far as she was 
concerned, the less fuss the better. She preferred to request 
that the children living near her would come to visit her one 
after the other on different days. Of Kätchen’s children, she 
especially loved and appreciated Gustav, whom she would 
often turn to for advice and on whose judgement she placed 
great faith. He was her sole advisor when it came to medical 
things, but since after the aforementioned illness, she was 
always in sound health, she did not have much use for him 
as a doctor. Of the younger children, she particularly loved 
Ludwig. But, in general, she was quite strict in her judgment 
for a grandmother, and remained this way till the very end.

In December, 1897, she grew ill with a gall bladder in-
fection accompanied by fever, which Gustav initially found 
very hard to diagnose. Sons and daughters, as well as doctors, 
did everything in their power, using all means available, to 
alleviate the illness, but unfortunately human endeavor 
itself did not suffice in sustaining her life, and she died one 
morning quietly in the arms of Salomon. It was on the same 
morning that Fannie called on the telephone to find out 
how Grandmother was doing, and when I told her that she 
had passed away, I will never forget the American fashion in 
which she answered: “Oh, dear, for my husband’s sake, I am 
so sorry.” I personally was very moved by her death, since I 
had grown very fond of this impressive woman in the short 
time I had known her, and regretted that she would never 
be able to meet a certain great-grandchild, Walter, who was 
to be born that February.

Let us now get back to Family Meyer. There followed 
some new anxieties of a material nature. For as long as people 
could remember, the entrance into the grain business on 
the Mahr’schen Hof was through the gate of the next door 
neighbor Gottwald’s house, as stated in a local ordinance. Al-
though the earlier owners of the house had always respected 
this right, Gottwald found out that the time of the lease had 
expired and obtained a legal verdict on the matter. Immediate 
action was required to improve matters, so that the business 

could continue to run undisturbed. Moritz made a quick deci-
sion to buy the Mondorf house next door through which he 
could then obtain direct access to his stockroom. The trial 
went on for a few years and even reached the Imperial Court 
in Leipzig, where it was finally decided in Gottwald’s favor. 
This long drawn out trial which caused so much distress is 
indeed the reason why my mother-in-law today would still 
rather cut her losses than allow matters to come to a trial. 
After the rebuilding project was finished, Family Meyer 
moved from their apartment on the Langgasse, which they 
had loved for so many years, to Number 50 Kirchgasse, where 
they had an apartment on the first floor. Grandfather Meyer 
was particularly affected by the troubles brought about by the 
trial, and this might have precipitated his death. He died in 
February 1887. He was a peaceful man without enemies who 
clung to his beliefs without asking much from life apart from 
asking for the well-being of his closest family, and so he left 
this earthly world.

In the interim, two other sons had moved away from 
home. Emil took up an apprenticeship in Mainz at S. Löwens-
berg, and Gustav went to the University of Freiburg to study 
medicine. Mother had experienced extreme joy, perhaps the 
greatest joy of her life, when, according to the story she tells, 
Gustav had gone with a heavy heart and somewhat nervously 
to take his oral high school reading exams at the beginning 
of March 1886. She was surprised when, after one half-hour 
he returned to the Langgasse and cried out loud from the 
courtyard up to the second floor, something which he did not 
usually do: “Mother, I have been absolved from taking the 
oral exams.” The joy the two of them shared at that moment 
was indescribable, and that instance shows clearly the love 
which tied them both to one another. Of course now, she 
missed Gustav a great deal since he no longer lived at home.

And now, my dear friends, I have got ahead of myself in 
my chatter and at the same time I have got behind in telling 
you some details and events. The whole thing is becoming 
quite difficult, since the family is continually increasing in 
number with hardly any intervals in between, and my head 
is literally spinning.

I do know, however, that I have long left behind my 
little favorite, Ludwig, when he was a little boy. Actually, 
I only came to know him and love him when I was sixteen 
years old, but not in the sense that some evil gossipers state. 
I will come back to this sweet story later. So, they said that 
he developed well as a young boy and that he found learn-

K Ä T C H E N  M E Y E R



145

ing at school easy and was given a place at the high school. 
Both his parents secretly hoped, just as the Herxheimers had, 
that they would have two doctors in their next generation. 
Mehmel and Schmorl, two of his closest friends, often came 
to visit him on the Kirchgasse to spend happy hours with 
him. He was different from his brothers and sisters in that 
he knew exactly how to wind his mother around his little 
finger so as to get his way, and I am told that he got his way 
far more than other members of the family. When I myself, 
malicious agitator, arrived in the family, I seemed to reinforce 
this behavior in him.

Amelie, the youngest of the family, would sometimes, 
I am told, lose her temper about this. Mother and Father, 
by then not quite as circumspect as they had been with the 
other children, reacted quite sternly. Brother Gustav, who 
very much loved his youngest sister, tried to mediate between 
the upset parties by taking his sister’s side. Ludwig, however, 
did not always feel harmony towards his youngest sibling and 
the two of them, as opposed to the other Meyer brothers and 
sisters, played many a trick on each other.

Everyone seemed to be very happy with Emil in Mainz. 
He always made a great effort to fulfill his duties to the very 
best of his abilities.

On Sunday afternoons, it was a custom for the family 
to undertake a short trip. In earlier times, after visiting the 
spa concert, which was something which could not on any 
occasion be missed, the family would go to the Felsenkeller 
or to the “Gratweil’sche Brauerei” (the Gratweil Brewery) 
(Father Moritz knowing both of the owners in these estab-
lishments), or else they would go to the Sonnenberg. Once 
the large family had taken their place at the table, Father 
would order large quantities of bread, butter, cheese and lots 
of beer, and Kätchen who to some extent was in agreement 
that the customers could order for themselves, occasionally 
attempted to put the brakes on the orders. But Father Moritz 
was proud not to be a skinflint in these matters. For the 
children, these trips were always a cause of pure joy. Later, 
after they had acquired a coach and horses for the business, 
these day trips took a different form. On Sunday afternoons, 
Peter, who during the week worked in Father’s business, was 
spruced up to become coachman so that the family could sit 
blissfully in the break, ready for their ride. It was at moments 
like these that everyone felt that they had been born under 
a special star. And where, may I ask, are these people today? 

Please send your answers to the woman asking the questions, 
who will as a reward send each of you to read at their pleasure 
these somewhat lengthy epistles. On these day trips they 
would set out for close or distant destinations. Since I was just 
talking about Peter, I would like to tell you what a good heart 
this good man had in his breast. The Meyers had a servant 
girl for many years called Marie. Both of them were free on 
Sunday evenings, and our good harmless Gustav (and he is 
still such a good person today) thought he was about to faint 
when Mother wrote to him at the University that Marie had 
given birth to a healthy young boy, and that hard-working 
Peter had unwittingly become a father. One more rascal in 
the family whom I am recording on paper. It’s not as if my 
own family doesn’t cause me enough concerns in this regard.

Mathildchen, or Tilda, gradually developed into a very 
beautiful young girl, just like her mother in her time. She 
was of slim build, very shapely, as can later be seen in this 
silver anniversary photograph which anyone can see for free. 
She continued to do well in her studies at school and was 
happy when her mother praised her, and also had a passion 
for reciting. (This quality was also present in Julius, Gustav 
and Emil, and even Ludwig was not spared this hereditary 
trait.) I myself never witnessed this firsthand, but I have been 
told that in his otherwise ideal marriage there is sometimes a 
scene when Ludwig becomes emotional. Mathilde was very 
much loved in Wiesbaden and in her modest and comfort-
able manner, she enjoyed great respect. When she had left 
school, she was happy to take up an invitation from her great 
aunt Nanette Liebmann in Frankfurt am Main and spend a 
few wonderful days with that distant branch of the family. 
She left the best impression behind among all her relatives. 
This was hardly surprising, for people in Frankfurt were used 
to her modest ways. It can well be imagined that Mathilde, 
with those qualities I have just described, was soon receiving 
many serious offers of marriage, but her mother who always 
had the last word in the family was always reluctant when it 
came down to it, especially after consulting with her mother 
from whom she never kept any secrets.

As a connoisseur of quality wines, Moritz had meanwhile 
developed a fine wine cellar which was kept well stocked 
by his brother-in-law, Siegmund Kahn. Later on, there was 
also the addition of the famous Mirabellenschnaps (yellow 
plum schnapps) which Gustav acquired from Mörchingen. 
I can tell you a small secret about this wonderful drink, that 
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Ludwig still has a tiny amount left which he treats like some 
holy treasure. This is what is left of an entire bottle which 
Lottchen was in the habit of pouring for her regular visits 
from her nephews and cousins, Paul, Herbert and Walter. 
When Ludwig noticed that she was pouring this drink, he 
saved what he could, and this was the second, and certainly 
the last, time that Ludwig and his wife locked horns.

And now, I will come back to my beloved Gustav. We 
last spoke of him when he was studying in Freiburg, pursuing 
his studies in a sensible and hardworking manner. He was 
frightfully thrifty since he always remembered the costs that 
his parents were facing with their large brood of children. He, 
accordingly, never granted himself the smallest extra expenses 
and managed to survive on a ridiculously small amount of 
money (Ludwig later did not have an easy time in his foot-
steps). One small episode from the beginning of his time as 
a student is worth noting as an example of his thriftiness. In 
the circle of friends which he kept, they were expecting the 
arrival of an older student of whom there had been much talk. 
This was the state exam candidate who is now known as the 
administrator Rosin. One after the other, the young freshmen 
introduced themselves to him. When Gustav’s turn came to 
greet him, he said, “My name is Rosin.” What a picture! It 
was in Freiburg that Gustav established valuable friendships 
with people who were later to become, in part, quite famous, 
people like Hans Driesch, now a professor of philosophy in 
Leipzig, Leo Wertheimer, through whom Gustav later got to 
know the Mond family in London (who had made studying 
a possibility for Wertheimer). Wertheimer now publishes 
well-known and highly valued philosophical treatises under 
the name Konstantin Brunner. Besides these prominent men, 
there was also Delbanco, now a professor in Hamburg, Max 
Hirsch from Hamburg, and others with whom Gustav struck 
up friendships which continue even today. Within his circle 
of friends, Gustav was known as “Embryo”, a name I find 
perfectly fitting for him even today. And so, in his own way, 
he enjoyed his first semesters of study for all they were worth. 
But it was in the third semester that for the first time in his 
life, he was angry with his parents. He had not been told of the 
news of his beloved grandfather Meyer until after the funeral 
had taken place. He would so willingly have rushed home to 
show his last respects to the deceased! His parents, however, 
did not want him to interrupt his studies, and perhaps they 
were also reluctant to consider the large expense involved, 
which was the reason why they told him the news so late.

In the spring of 1888, he took his first medical qualifying 
exam and received the grade “good” as was later typical for 
the whole family (with the exception of a Grade 1 gained 
by Peter Meyer).

In the summer vacation which followed, Father Meyer 
underwent his cataract operation, which had been loom-
ing over his head for years. The operation was performed 
by Professor Pagenstecher, a specialist in these matters, in 
his clinic. Gustav spent the rest of his university years in 
Munich, Strassburg, and Berlin, returning to Strassburg to 
conclude his studies and to take his final state exam. It was 
still possible at that point to take your doctorate before the 
state exam, although this was unusual and seldom occurred. 
Gustav wanted to surprise his parents in anticipation of their 
silver wedding anniversary and so he completed his doctoral 
dissertation before he reached his ninth semester, that is in 
his fifth year at the University (on the influence of influenza 
on female reproductive organs), passing his doctoral exam 
at the beginning of August 1890. Now the family had their 
first real doctor of whom they were all very proud, including 
the candidate himself.

Without too much pomp and circumstance, the silver 
wedding anniversary of their parents was celebrated in a 
worthy and merry fashion within the closest circle of family 
friends on the 22nd of October of the same year. For Gustav, 
the following months meant many hours of long study for his 
state exams which he took in record time starting in mid-
November 1890, finishing in January 1891. Everything went 
smoothly, apart from some bad luck he had in the maternity 
ward. Professor Freund happened to meet him visiting his 
patients who had just given birth, wearing an overcoat, for 
which he was much scolded and chastised by the examiner. 
Because of this interlude, his grade in this subject was lowered 
to a Grade 3 and, thus, his chances at getting a Grade 1 for 
his overall results were dashed. What a pity that Alice wasn’t 
sitting there in front of the ward wearing an invisible outfit 
so she could have warned him about his behavior! Now a 
qualified doctor, Gustav didn’t give himself much of a break 
and went directly, on the advice of his Uncle Salomon, to 
Frankfurt am Main to begin further training in pathology 
under then famous Professor Weigert. He learned a great 
deal during this time in Frankfurt am Main since he used the 
opportunity to frequently visit his uncle at his general clinic 
and to study diseases of the skin, as well as nervous disorders 
under Professor Edinger. Gustav happened to do especially 
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well on the Gärtnerweg with his uncle. When his uncle’s 
favorite son, Gotthold, had passed his school-leaving exams, 
Uncle Salomon sent him and Gustav together on a vacation 
to Switzerland. This was the first time that Gustav became 
acquainted with foreign countries.

During this time, a decision also had to be made as to 
military service. Having reported to military service twice 
before and having been declared unfit for service, the military 
felt this time that they definitely needed Gustav and so, on 
the first of October, 1891, he answered as a one-year volun-
teer in the Wiesbaden Fusilier Regiment No. 80. He served 
for half a year, fulfilling enough requirements so that on the 
first of April, 1892, he was sent on to perform the second 
half of the year of military service as a volunteer doctor, first 
in Wiesbaden and then in Mörchingen. In Mörchingen, he 
took on the position as assistant doctor and gained first-hand 
experience in an officer’s life in a small garrison. One episode 
from this time is worth recording. During a field exercise led 
by His Excellency Häseler, Gustav dismounted his horse and 
was marching next to it. His Excellency saw him and com-
mented: “But, Doctor, why are you not on your horse? Please 
mount immediately.” Never before had Gustav mounted 
such a large horse without help and with his short legs, but 
in that moment he learned to pray and wonder of wonders, 
he somehow managed it. With one swing of his leg, he was 
back on the horse, with Colonel Kruska holding the horse 
against the fence. The old fox Häseler therefore was unable 
to pick any bones with him.

After completing his military service, the young doctor 
took up a job as a volunteer doctor in the hospital at Moabit, 
thanks to a warm recommendation from Weigert. Professor 
Guttmann, and soon after his death the famous Doctor Ren-
vers (at the time, the leading doctor in Berlin) were his bosses, 
and one can well say that Gustav was quick to win the trust 
of his superiors. It was during the time when it was almost 
impossible to find a permanent position as assistant doctor, 
and the question “What now?” occupied Gustav’s mind 
constantly since until this happened, he had had to make do 
without material earnings from his profession. I should now 
come to a comment I made at the beginning of this writing, 
that Uncle Maier Liebmann was going to be a significant 
influence on Gustav’s future. Uncle Maier Liebmann’s fam-
ily doctor, Dr. Frech, had recently died, and Gustav’s uncle, 
who was rather nervous about his own health, suggested to 
Gustav that he move to Wiesbaden and settle as a doctor 

there, where his uncle would immediately take him on as 
a family doctor. Although this was not the decisive turning 
point, it was nonetheless a real incentive, and so Gustav went 
to settle in his hometown on the first of October 1893, at the 
age of 25, to become a family doctor. Nine other gentlemen 
decided to do the same that year. He took up an apartment 
in the Grünig House, No. 35 Kirchgasse, diagonally across 
from his parents. Grünig himself was one of the Nonnenhof 
regular guests and acquaintances of Father Moritz. His prac-
tice settled down relatively quickly, especially after he had 
stepped in for a doctor in Dotzheim who was sick for three 
weeks. In this, Kätchen’s birth-place, he soon acquired a good 
reputation. After two years, he established his practice as a 
doctor. And now, I will have to leave Gustav for a while and 
say goodbye and turn to the other members of this big family. 
I will come back to Gustav and throw my arms around his 
neck all more lovingly at a later stage.

I haven’t talked for such a long time about our Kätchen 
for whom this writing is actually intended. However, I do 
have the excuse that I am appealing to her own sensibilities 
by writing a lot of good things about her dear Gustav. And 
so with a clear conscience, I can now move back to Julius. 
After he was absolved from his military duties as a dandy artil-
lery soldier in Wiesbaden, he went on to learn the Spanish 
language, later taking on a position as a travel specialist for 
Spain at S. Löwensberg in Mainz, a position which brought 
him great success. He later went back to Brandenstein and 
Rose with the intention of starting his own business as soon as 
possible. In realizing this dream, he combined what was useful 
to him with what was pleasant, finding a bride for himself in 
the person of Bertha Buxbaum in Frankenthal, with whom 
he was to share his future life. He also had the possibility 
of opening his own business under her father’s business. He 
began by opening a branch of the Frankenthal business in 
Mannheim under the name of Buxbaum and Co. This was a 
wholesale haberdashery business which was later transferred 
entirely to him. The young couple soon married.

I should add here that Mother Kätchen was often plagued 
by her gall stone colics, despite her otherwise good health. 
When she began to have these colics more frequently, her 
doctor, Dr. Cuntz, urgently ordered her to go to the spa in 
Karlsbad, which she did from July to August 1890, accom-
panied by Gustav (Here I am mentioning Gustav again, but 
rest assured, I will only mention him superficially). He did 
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what he could for his mother during this time, and I believe it 
was also then that he met a certain Fräulein Mayer, to whom 
he gave a kiss, but since I was not there at the time, I don’t 
know more about this and cannot assume any responsibility.

Mathilde, meanwhile, was wooed by many young gentle-
men, but her suitor, Robert Erlenbach, was the first to succeed 
in breaking the ice. He was a serious and educated young man 
from whom one would presume, given his entire previous 
life and the respected position of his family, that Mathilde 
would find the right companion with whom to spend the rest 
of her life. The only difficulty was the large distance which 
separated him, an obstacle that was easily overcome by the 
personality of the candidate. On the famous journey to the 
Rhine to Assmannshausen, the flame kindled between the 
two of them turned into a raging fire and was followed soon 
thereafter by their engagement. On the 23rd of October 1893, 
their wedding took place in a hotel on the Taunus, with many 
members of both families in attendance. Moritz was smiling 
as he always did, but there were tears in the corners of his 
eyes, since separating from his beloved Tilda was particularly 
difficult for him.

Let us now return to the good Emil. After completing 
his apprenticeship in Mainz, he entered his father’s business 
where he worked unusually hard. He was in every respect a 
likeable and good son to his parents, but he asked very little 
of life. His chief enjoyment was working hard, and since 
his father Moritz enjoyed the easier side of the business, his 
son’s presence soon became evident in the organizational 
restructuring that went on.

Gustav had since turned 28. In spite of the large number of 
newly arriving doctors, his own practice was advancing nicely, 
and although he loved his parents’ house and frequently went 
over there for meals, he soon began to yearn for a companion 
in life. He had long since decided that his future bride would 
not just be the first person to come along, but that she had 
to come from a good family. This was very important to him. 
Using the jeweler H. in Wiesbaden as an intermediary, he 
was inspired to get to know the granddaughter of the family 
Dreyfus-Jeidel. This suited his plans entirely, since he had 
already heard a lot of good things about the family from his 
friend Nordmann in Freiburg. How this whole thing came 
about and who this young girl was, I will write for the sake 
of my dear mother-in-law, assuming that this woman will 
be of some interest to her and that she will be interested in 
what I have to say.

Here, I would like to mention that their engagement 
took place on the 23rd of August 1896, and that they were 
married in the same year on the 18th of October, returning 
from their honeymoon on the 11th of November to move in 
the apartment on No. 5 Friedrichstrasse, on the third floor. 
From my perspective, Gustav worked far too hard for a young 
married man. It often happened in the first year of our mar-
riage that he would be called out five times in one night, as 
well as having countless office visits during the day. It took 
a great deal of heroism to tolerate these circumstances, espe-
cially as a young woman has a different notion in her head 
as to how the early weeks of a marriage should be. During 
this time, Ludwig was of great support for me. He possessed 
a tactful understanding of all of life’s situations, combined 
with a great deal of maturity for his age. He, for his part, was 
happy that, in me, a thoroughly modern person had come 
into the family, and so our friendship increased. He would 
spend his vacations almost entirely at our house, staying in 
what he would insist continue to be called the “guest room”. 
I do not believe that his parents were very happy with this 
situation, and particularly my mother-in-law, who tended 
to look on her younger son as being much too modern, an 
opinion which was reinforced by her new daughter-in-law. 
I will never forget how, during Ludwig’s student days, I had 
recommended to my mother-in-law that we buy Ludwig a 
new white suit for his upcoming sea cruise with his beloved 
friend, Josef Hirsch. We bought this at Rosenthal & David, 
along with two ties he needed. It was during the shopping 
trip that Mother turned to me angrily and said: “Well, you 
know, I have always prophesied that no good would come 
of someone who is up to this kind of mischief in his youth. 
Yes, yes, I fear the worst.” The last six words applied to me. 
In this case, however, the clever woman was wrong in her 
prophecy. Her pessimism was inspired more by the damage to 
her pocketbook, which was always her weak side, and remains 
so until today. When, for instance I recently visited her (on 
the 4th of December), she was in the process of partaking 
of her Friday evening meal, which is always more carefully 
chosen than meals on other days. Today, the meal consisted 
of a small piece of steamed fish, delectable as always, eaten 
in the light of a petroleum lamp. When I questioned her, 
she replied that she could see better in this light than under 
gas light (because she never wants to admit her thriftiness 
to me). But I did not let her get away with this answer and 
answered boldly: “Then, why don’t you light two flames?”, to 
which she replied, “Well, yes, that would be too expensive.” 
Telling me in an animated fashion how high last month’s 
gas bill had been, the amount seemed very small to me, but 
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I chose to keep quiet.

On the same evening, she chose to tell me a little story, 
which I would like to pass on to you, since it fits so well into 
this chronicle. We were talking about the fact that our Berlin 
friends (Ludwig, Lotte, and Walter) were taking dance les-
sons, and that Theodor had just sent a postcard from Berlin 
to say that he had been dancing in a dance hall with Lotte. 
At this, she commented, “No, my whole life, I have never 
thought much of dancing, unlike my mother who was a real 
Schierstein Rhineland girl. When she was older and married, 
we girls, her daughters, had to take turns to dance with her.” 
She would tease me and say, just because I would rather sit 
in a corner reading a book, “Wait and see. You’ll be thirty 
years old and will have a head full of white hair just because 
you don’t like dancing.” This turned out not to be true, 
since even today Kätchen has not yet turned white. On this 
evening, she also told me that her father, who was known 
for his beautiful curls, had already turned white by the age of 
50. I did not, of course, tell her how interesting these details 
were to me at the time.

Ludwig enjoyed himself famously during the high school 
dance lessons, and the flower shop, Brönser, can report many 
bunches of flowers having been purchased by him to give to 
his flames.

Meanwhile, it was December 1897, which brought the 
already mentioned death of Grandmother Herxheimer. As a 
token of thanks for Gustav’s having treated her, we received 
from the brothers and sisters the wonderful quality carpet 
which now lies in the dining room.

On the 21st of February 1898, “He” appeared, for me 
the most wonderful man of all, Walter Meyer. The poor 
man, when he reads or hears this, will certainly get nervous, 
ice-cold hands out of fear that his mother is going to reveal 
all coram publico, something if he could choose, he would 
rather not happen. Since it is not necessary for me to keep 
any secrets from him, I will spare his nerves and only say 
something very briefly (with him not placing much value on 
these things). On the 19th, we were spending the evening 
with friends, and one hour later came the first warning signal. 
The young man did not show any particular curiosity to arrive 
in the world, and matters only became more serious on the 
following evening at nine. Gustav, who did not take to the 
idea of assisting the stork, had ordered sausages with potato 
salad, not without onions, from his “perfect cook”. The smell 

of the onions disturbed me greatly as I was preparing for the 
prince to arrive, who came into the world with Frau Kahn’s 
help on the day before Shrove Tuesday at eight o’clock. I shall 
never forget Gustav’s almost childlike joy. “A son!” he cried, 
running to the telephone to tell his parents of the event. As 
soon as he asked to be connected to Frankfurt, he heard the 
woman at the telephone exchange saying: “Our Number 500 
has just had a baby boy”, something he immediately reported 
back to me (500 has always been our telephone number). My 
parents-in-law came rushing over immediately, and there is 
no need to tell you the joy and pride they derived from taking 
their grandson into their arms.

At this moment, I would like to take the opportunity to 
mention a peculiarity about my father-in-law which must go 
back to his vanity. He hated his white hair and tried to keep 
his moustache dark by using artificial hair dye. Although 
Kätchen was opposed to the idea, she could do very little 
about it since he placed particular value on his youthful 
appearance.

My mother soon arrived with Fräulein Hirsch, and all 
three parents were unified in common joy. There was a minor 
issue of disagreement between husband and wife, since I was 
against the ceremony that was scheduled eight days after his 
birth, and particularly did not want any large celebration 
accompanying it. But my dear husband was obstinate in this 
matter, having gone through the same with his brother-in-law 
Erlenbach three years previously. Moreover, my son had been 
very strict with me even before he was born, not allowing me 
even the shortest journey away from home, with the result 
that I had not been able to see my hometown for an entire 
nine months. The magnificent baby layette which Walter 
received from his grandmother Dreyfus from the Erlenbachs 
created quite a stir in Wiesbaden. It was hardly a surprise, 
therefore, that in my inexperience, I listened to the persuasive 
arguments of the family and took the baby out of the house a 
great deal more than was normal, something which resulted 
in my guardian sending me a rather unpleasant letter.

After all family members had spent enough time admiring 
the new world citizen, his wet nurse was suddenly no longer 
able to provide. This happened to be a very fortunate event, 
one could say, since he thereafter gained an exemplary new 
wet nurse, not only as regards nutrition but also as regards her 
personality. The well-known Hessian wet nurse coordinator 
telegraphed us at that time, saying, “I am sending you the 
most valuable pearl from my collection.” And so she in truth 
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turned out to be. Now, she comes and visits us every year, 
a real Hessian woman, wearing her local costume. These 
visits are among the highlights of her life. She is imminently 
intelligent, is unbelievably personable, while at the same 
time possessing a critical eye for material as well as personal 
matters. Is it possible that Walter gained some of this from 
her? The same year that she arrived in our house her hus-
band had died and she was in deep mourning. She had four 
children herself and had already fulfilled six appointments in 
well-to-do houses as a wet nurse. But Walter always remained 
Minna’s favorite. She never shied away from spoiling him, 
and in her over zealous love, she would fill him with her milk 
day and night as far as she was physically able, disregarding 
his parents’ complaints. She still speaks a lot about how busy 
the doctor of the house was, mentioning how he would be 
on the phone in the bathroom (strangely enough, there was 
a telephone in the bathroom) and would, had he been able, 
have stood with a towel around his waist with one foot in 
the bathroom and the other in his office. And she would tell 
about what a good wife the doctor had, and how patiently she 
would wait to begin with her soup, even if she had to wait the 
whole afternoon for her husband, the doctor, to come home. 
Tout comme aujourd’hui! I have intentionally dedicated a 
few words to this dear woman, since I know how highly she 
thinks of Kätchen.

Walter B. (you clever Meyers know for sure where his 
second name comes from) went through a great deal of linens, 
just as he does today, so that Minna often had to stay up ‘til 
two o’clock in the morning, after we had returned from a party 
or after Gustav had returned from his practice, to take care 
of the washing and ironing of his many diapers. We ourselves 
didn’t worry about these things much in the fifteen years in 
which “Detta Minna” looked after our treasure.

Meanwhile, Ludwig completed his school-leaving exams 
with flying colors and much to my chagrin, because it meant 
that I would have to slowly get used to being alone, but not 
so much to his chagrin, went up to the University of Munich. 
Much to my horror, he soon joined the Licare. My formally 
so influential education did not seem to help any more, and 
I have to admit, that he did the right thing, since otherwise 
he would have been very isolated during those years.

In the summer after Walter’s birth, we set off on our first 
relaxation vacation to the Aussee, during which time we left 
the little boy with Detta under the supervision of our good 

Aunt Emma. This was, in fact, what we continued to do until 
he was six years old.

In Mannheim, meanwhile, two strapping young boys 
had been born. I had become acquainted with Bertha during 
my first visit to Wiesbaden, where she was staying with her 
mother at the Spa. She was talented in various directions, 
particularly in painting. Her nervous system, however, had 
been weakened through a long-term undiagnosed illness 
(diabetes), and she eventually died from this during an acute 
coma. Her parents whose whole life had centered around their 
one child, were from then on broken people. Her mother 
still lives in Frankenthal, but her father, who has always 
remained in my memory as a dignified if somewhat pathetic 
gentleman, recently died. The grandparents always adored 
their grandchildren in Mannheim, since they were the only 
thing that remained in memory of their child.

After a few years, Julius wisely decided to remarry. He 
married a certain Fräulein Jenny Kugelmann, so that his 
children would be educated by a mother. It was a very good 
decision, since he gained a wife who energetically took over 
raising Paul and Fritz and also became a great support for 
her husband in his business, something she remains today. 
She, in turn, gave her husband two sons, Kurt and Ernst, 
born within three years of each other. Both are now strong, 
grown men. The older of the two is active in his father’s 
business and accompanies his father on their Spanish travels. 
The younger lives in Mannheim and works in the banking 
business. Whenever they come to Wiesbaden, Grandmother 
Meyer is always so struck by her grandchildren.

The war which had now broken out was of particularly 
tragic significance for Julius’ family. Julius happened to be 
on a business trip in Spain when war broke out and, unable 
to return early enough, was captured by the French. For four 
years, he languished in various prisoner-of-war camps, among 
them the scorching hell of Corsica. All efforts on behalf of his 
family to free him were in vain, even though he was no longer 
young enough to be actively involved in the war. It was only 
after four years that he was exchanged with other soldiers in 
Switzerland and was able to return to his homeland. In the 
time that he was absent, an even harder blow struck our entire 
family. The highly talented and poetically gifted son, Fritz, 
who had just begun his studies in law, and was Grandmother 
Meyer’s very particular favorite, was conscripted as an infantry 
soldier into the war effort and was listed as missing in some 
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of the battles in Flanders. It finally became clear that he had 
given up his young life for his fatherland. It was he more than 
any of the other grandchildren, with his inborn graciousness, 
who got along so well with Grandmother. Even Walter was 
a close friend of his,0 and he was deeply loved by the entire 
family. We all very much feel his loss even today, and Grand-
mother only seems to have been able to overcome her grief 
by looking at the rest of her large brood of grandchildren. 
The oldest brother, in particular, has recently given her great 
joy by bringing her a new bride, an intelligent dear girl from 
a good family. Please note, dear grandchildren, that those of 
you who still have a choice ahead of you will have to con-
sider that Grandmother is very ambitious in these matters. 
Paul himself is an intelligent, particularly tall and well-built 
person, no ordinary person, who sometimes has a hard time 
when it comes to others and vice-versa. It is for this reason 
alone that he made a good decision to start looking around for 
a companion for life to whom he could subject himself like a 
knight to a lady. Even Auntie Alice tells him this today, and 
he always listens to her, even though it might not be as much 
as he listens to his Uncle Gustav, whom he honors above all 
others. Paul had established a successful career in the war as 
an officer on the front (although he was studying medicine). 
Toward the end of the war, he was stationed in Königsberg 
due to a war wound, and Fama says that he broke a lot of 
hearts here, and one in particular. After the war finished, he 
continued his medical studies to become a K. Cer, gaining 
an excellent training as a dermatologist after his exams. For 
the last half year, he has been established as a dermatologist 
in his hometown. Just look how proudly he is sitting there, 
like a thinker, with his left hand under his chin, looking 
adoringly at his wife, with his shoulders pulled back (this 
is his favorite position, especially when it happens that he 
has differences in opinion with other members of the family, 
something which very seldom happens)!

Let us now leave the Mannheimers once and for all while 
confirming that Grandmother says that she is happy and 
proud about each member of the family there.

Instead we will now turn to the Bavarian countryside. 
Everything there had remained unchanged as it had always 
been in the family tradition. With the help of his brother 
Max, Robert gained the good reputation of the Erlenbach 
household and continued to think about how he could 
keep the family together. As far as I know Brother-in-law 
Erlenbach, I know he will derive great joy from this little 
book of memories. Mathilde gave him two sons during those 

early years-Otto and Josef, of whom the latter died young. 
Unfortunately, Mathilde herself grew very ill soon thereafter 
with rheumatic fever. This lasted for several months and was 
treated by the best authorities. Even my young husband went 
to Nürnberg twice to consult on the illness and its treatment. 
Both Meyer parents were also there at her bedside and Mother 
Meyer kindly stayed for a long time looking after her treasured 
daughter and conducting the household for her son-in-law. 
This was very admirable of her, since she was missed a great 
deal in her own household back home. Unfortunately, the ill-
ness left Mathilde with a heart defect, which was not in itself 
dangerous, although her nervous system sustained some dam-
age. She lost some of her energy and independence because 
of the illness. I often hear strangers praising those qualities 
which she no longer possesses. Once she had recovered from 
her illness, she gave birth to a little daughter, Anna, thus 
providing her parents with their first granddaughter. I trust 
that both children will reward her for her years of suffering 
with their love. Mother Kätchen is particularly attached to 
this daughter and often has tears in her eyes when she speaks 
of her, she is so moved. Robert himself tended to spoil his 
offspring. Just the name Anna (and I mean here his daughter 
Anna, not his sister by the same name, who had always had a 
great influence on her brother) fills him with emotion. Anna 
herself has developed into a very handsome girl with a very 
strong will of her own (her birth land of Bavaria may have 
been of some assistance in this matter). When she was 20, she 
went on a journey to visit all her aunts in Mainz, Wiesbaden, 
and Berlin, and everybody, including her grandmother, noted 
that she had a modern way about her which was unusual for 
our family. We hope that she will be able to prove her great 
capabilities soon in sealing a happy marriage.

In November 1925, our formally so youthful and vigorous 
Uncle Robert, who had become an honored member of the 
business community during Christmas of 1924, began to lose 
his health, so that he was sent to recover in the spa in Meran. 
After completing his cure, it was hard for him not to be able 
to stay as actively involved as he would have liked to in the 
business that he had so grown to love. This year he will be 70 
years old, and seems to have forgotten that he is no longer as 
young as he used to be and that his business and everything to 
do with his business has become too much of a responsibility 
for him. With all the worries that life naturally brings with 
it, Robert has always understood how to see the best side of 
life, thanks to his philosophy. One need only think of his 
beautiful trips! He was taught by his parents not to expect too 
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much from life, and has transferred this puritanical sense of 
simplicity to his own household into which, as I have already 
mentioned, Mathilde has so artfully managed to fit. Since the 
beginning of the war until today, his motto is always: “We 
still live in paradisiacal times.” And he is right, only for the 
last eleven years less and less people seem to believe in or 
notice this Paradise.

Here, I would just like to add a small personal note.

I began to write this chronicle on the lst of December, 
1925. The idea had come to me quite suddenly, because my 
mother-in-law had been the only one to show me and prove 
to me her understanding during my indisposition. Now (on 
the 8th of December), I am sitting in my hotel room in 
Munich becoming increasingly nervous as to whether I can 
do due justice to the many members of the family who are 
now entering the story arbitrarily as I write. I am wondering 
whether I can write about them with as much detail as I have 
until now about the other members of the family. To the many 
qualified and about to be qualified doctors in our family, I ask 
the question as to whether the Munich air has had a better 
influence on form and content than the Wiesbaden air.

On our way up to Munich, we spent one hour in Frankfurt 
to wish my Aunt Dreyfus a happy birthday. In her honor, the 
whole family was gathered there. During this hour, I noticed 
quite clearly that the interest which people show toward 
other individuals has diminished over the years and that the 
dear self, the ego, now plays a greater role. And I suddenly 
realized how much I miss my dear deceased uncle, who tried, 
irrespective of his own personal worries, to make my departure 
from my hometown and separating from my husband easier 
by showing me thoughtful understanding.

But enough of my personal thoughts. Let’s move quickly 
to the busy bee, Emil himself. Having entered his father’s 
business, he sacrificed all he had in an untiring fashion, in 
dedicating all his energies to the business. He hardly had 
time enough to eat. If he did at last sit at the table, our fa-
mous Marie would come and say: “Mr. Emil, there is a client 
downstairs.” At this, he would throw down his knife and fork 
and run as fast as he could downstairs into the courtyard. On 
account of his upbringing, he was himself very thrifty, hardly 
allowing himself any luxuries. He would only go and visit his 
regular table at the inn with Vogel and Hess at the urging 
of his mother. He is, moreover, the third person of those 

gathered here who always looked deep into the eyes of his 
adored mother, since he has always been convinced that only 
his mother knows what is right and intelligent. And in this, 
he was not misguided, particularly considering his personal-
ity, since he has little clue about things modern. Despite the 
fact that he was thrifty, he always tried to make me happy in 
the early years of our marriage by giving me beautiful gifts of 
Meissen porcelain, since he knew that I loved it. Often he 
would give me a gift without there being any particular oc-
casion involved. And so, our glass case became well endowed 
through the goodness of his heart.

It must have been in 1902 that we came back from a 
vacation trip only to hear that Emil had made the acquain-
tance of Fräulein Elsa Friedberger from Giessen and that he 
intended to become engaged. His fiancée was from a well-
known Giessen family. Her cousin is the famous hygienist, 
Professor Friedberger. After the apartment on Number 50 
Kirchgasse had been thoroughly modernized-I helped select 
some of the prettier and more tasteful installations, as far I 
was able to-the young pair soon married and moved into the 
parental home, while the in-laws moved over to the Schlich-
terstrasse. It was difficult for Father Meyer initially to not be 
able to look out from his bedroom balcony onto his business 
premises. Eventually, however, he got used to this, and started 
playing a few Skat games during the day, especially after he 
had become a member of the “club” where he became known 
as a fearful opponent.

The Emils gave birth to two strong young boys, Hans 
and Karl. Grandmother always beams when she mentions 
these two names-both are wonderful people who were great 
support to their mother after she became a widow in 1913. 
Hans willingly gives up luxuries in the knowledge that he 
can help his mother thereby or make life easier for her. Karl 
is happy that he has managed to maintain his position at the 
Dresden bank until now. I am sure he will not become a big 
spender either. It is said that he is somewhat nervous about his 
health. Well, you should ask him. After all, he should know.

Emil’s suffering began in 1912 and made an operation 
necessary. This operation was performed in Berlin by Profes-
sor Rotter. The relief provided, however, was only temporary, 
and Emil died from a serious disease on the 8th of September, 
1913. This was the first hard blow for his parents, who were 
attached to all of their children with an equal love. It took 
Elsa a long time to get over her grief. She moved in with her 
mother, who had meanwhile also become a widow, on the 
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Adolfsallee, where she is now a brave and proud mother.

Meanwhile, Ludwig was enjoying a pleasant and carefree 
time at the University. He was loved wherever he went. In 
order to prepare adequately for his state exam, he moved 
into quarters in Hohenwald near Schlangenbad for a few 
weeks. It so happened that Mother was in Schlangenbad at 
the same time at the health resort where I would often visit 
her. I would take the train to the Chausseehaus station and 
then continue on to Schlangenbad on foot with Ludwig who 
would be waiting for me on the station platform. But the 
world is small, and very soon my father-in-law got to hear that 
Ludwig had a rendezvous with a young lady on the road from 
Chausseehaus to Schlangenbad. When they found out who 
this young lady was, everybody in the whole family laughed. 
This is the story that I mentioned earlier on in my narrative.

In Berlin, where Ludwig was spending his final semester, 
he would frequently enter the house of Betty Herz. As a 
relative, he was always welcome there. Apart from one son, 
Hermann, there was also a daughter there by the name of 
Lotte with whom, together with her cousin, Käthe Landshoff, 
Ludwig was often seen. They used to go ice skating together 
and, to make a long story short, they are still running side 
by side through life. Ludwig, a bold and young man, without 
even a job yet, but determined to become famous one day, 
went straight to the feared Frau Betty to ask for the hand of 
her daughter. Being a clever woman, she replied, perhaps 
without a flutter in her heart, “Yes, and Amen.” And I believe 
she was right. Frau Betty’s husband was my mother-in-law’s 
cousin and had died very young. He was the owner of the 
world-famous jewelry store, Brothers Friedländer on the Un-
ter den Linden in Berlin, and was a single-minded, vigorous 
man. He’d always placed great value and known exactly how 
to keep a large house. In this respect, their only daughter did 
not take after the parents, mother and daughter having very 
different characters. But in her way, Lotte is a very dear and 
respected sister to us. Since she already belonged beforehand 
to our family (something my mother-in-law holds to be very 
important, since everything that goes by the name “family” 
is by definition good) she is perhaps the favorite daughter-
in-law. Oh, heavens, now I have done something good, 
and I can hear my husband protesting loudly against it. My 
husband is always proud to tell that he also frequented the 
Herz household as a student. Unfortunately, I don’t have a 
lantern to search into people’s hearts, and Mother Kätchen 
would be the last to admit it. So, instead of getting into a 

fight we should be happy to have such a mother.

The wedding took place at the end of November 1904 
in Berlin. Mother and Father Meyer travelled to Berlin for 
eight days to be there. It was a big decision for both of them, 
but since they cooked extra food for Father Meyer for the 
wedding, he smiled all the more broadly and became quite 
enamored of “Madame” Herz and would always tell his card 
friends a great deal about the capital city. Mother Meyer 
was herself, as always, happy to be back in her home under 
her petroleum lamp and tucked up in her familiar bed. The 
night before the wedding and the wedding itself were full of 
celebration and beauty. In Berlin, Ludwig had just become 
an assistant to Professor Heubner, the famous pediatrician, 
and thereafter under Professor Finkelstein, whose successor 
he was to become later, directing the children’s asylum of the 
city of Berlin (after the end of the war). He knew exactly 
how to establish a good name for himself in the scientific 
world and in the world of children’s pediatric medicine and 
is considered to be one of Germany’s leading pediatricians. 
In the year 1913, he took his higher doctoral degree (the 
Habilitation), as a private teacher in Berlin, and became a 
professor in the year 1922.

There were three children from Ludwig and Lotte’s mar-
riage. With Peter, the oldest, they tried out their modern 
experiments of controlled children’s nutrition. I remember 
that Frau Betty supported my husband in trying to assure 
more generous portions of food and nutrition for Peter. It is 
fortunate that pediatrics has since changed its mind on these 
matters, since the girls then received more food later on. Peter 
was raised by his parents in a disciplined fashion, right until 
today, and this does not seem to have harmed him in any 
way, since he has become, in every respect, a well-rounded 
person. Grandfather Herz tried to spoil him occasionally, but 
his strict and energetic mother protested loudly against it. 
I noticed this shortly before Grandfather’s death, when we 
spent Christmas of 1920 together in Berlin. It was then that 
Frau Betty suffered a severe heart attack during the night. 
We had just spent a cozy Christmas Eve on the Genthiner 
Strasse. Gustav was called immediately from the Hotel “Ad-
lon”. I shall never forget how depressed and sad he was when 
he returned. There followed several weeks of suffering and 
in the middle of January 1921, Frau Herz passed away. Who-
ever knew Betty Herz will never forget her. She was a real 
personality, a jewel for her family and friends who still today 
talk so highly about her, something which doesn’t happen a 
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lot in Berlin. She looked after her Lotte so well, that is, from 
the beginning to the end of the war, when Ludwig was away 
at war. This long separation was a real time of suffering for 
Lotte, so that it was twice as good that her mother was such 
a great support to her.

Of all the children, Peter has become particularly close 
to us through his frequent visits to our house, and even today 
in Munich I am learning to appreciate him again. He was an 
exceptionally talented student who even gained a premium 
in the school-leaving exams and now continues the family 
tradition studying medicine. He is also very musical. This is 
not inherited from the Meyer family which seems to have 
escaped this talent, but comes from his mother’s side. All 
in all, I think that the prognosis for his life looks extremely 
good. The girls too are very promising, as far as one can judge 
things at this point. Elsa resembles her grandmother Bette 
both outwardly and inwardly. She is an innocent, happy and 
contented young Berlin woman, pure sunshine for her mother. 
Ruth is also very much loved by her mother, but I believe 
that her father has a particularly soft spot for this daughter. 
He sees in her a future Rachel. Both daughters, as well as 
Peter, are models of modesty. And the girls have a certain 
leaning toward dancing.

Amelie has meanwhile found a good husband and is well 
married, like all the Meyers. Before that, she spent half a 
year at my urging at a boarding school in Brussels, where she 
learned French. When we returned from our summer trip in 
1903, we once again heard that one of the brothers and sisters, 
and this time it was Amelie, was busy getting engaged. Her 
fiancée was the banker Theodor Kronenberger from Mainz. 
This young man who today is the ideal of his mother-in-law, 
who only has good things to say about him, almost caused 
a riot when he asked for the hand of her daughter, because 
Mother considered their difference in body height to be an 
obstacle. I believe that my influence improved the situation 
a great deal since I had a very good impression of this nice 
person from the moment I met him and declared that one 
shouldn’t allow oneself to be influenced by external consid-
erations. I believe that Amelie and the entire family have 
never to this day regretted saying yes. The Kronenbergers 
(the three brothers who managed the business, of whom the 
oldest is an honorary member of the business community) 
managed to steer their banking business through difficult 
times in an exemplary fashion and today enjoy a very good 
reputation in the banking world. Theodor lavishes every kind 

of care and attention on his wife who lives the life of a god in 
France and is envied throughout Mainz. Two handsome boys 
sprung from this marriage, of whom the oldest is becoming a 
doctor according to tradition and the youngest preparing to 
become a mainstay of his father’s banking business. At the 
present time, he is expanding his skills under Willy Dreyfus 
in Berlin. Mother Kätchen is not only delighted about the 
gradual improvements in her dear Amelie’s status in her mar-
riage, but also because she has a daughter doing so well and 
living so close to her. She is just like Grandmother Jeannette 
in that she considers blood to be thicker than water.

Three weeks before the beginning of the world war, on 
a hot July Sunday, Mr. and Mrs. Moritz Meyer were setting 
out happily for Mannheim to visit their children and grand-
children. We received a sudden, unexpected phone call that 
Father Meyer had taken seriously sick in Mannheim. We trav-
elled over there as fast as we could to find that our dear father 
had had a serious stroke. After a few days, Gustav travelled 
back there again to fetch him home in an ambulance. Since 
his condition had improved a little, we were still hoping to 
be able to keep him alive, but our hopes were dashed when 
he succumbed to pneumonia. Ludwig and Lotte were quickly 
called back from San Martino di Castrozza, where they had 
gone for some rest and relaxation. After a brief struggle for 
his life, Father passed away on the 13th of July, 1914, sur-
rounded by his wife and all his children, at the age of 74. 
There is no need to tell you how great the sorrow was at his 
loss. We all have vivid memories of him still today and know 
how dear his memory is in our minds. The funeral took place 
on the 15th of July and was well attended. The place where 
he lies buried, resting from his happy life, is marked by what 
I consider to be a very tasteful headstone. If one considers 
that he died 14 days before the beginning of the World War 
and thus was spared from the sufferings of the war years and 
the after-war years, one can only believe that there is some 
happy significance in the fact that he left this world at a point 
in time in harmony with his personality.

But now, my dears, I want to turn again to happier 
things. In describing all our descendants, I still have not 
mentioned our only offspring. Well, there again, it is known 
that shoemakers always wear the worst boots, but since I 
believe without any false vanity that Walter could well be a 
favorite grandchild of Kätchen Meyer, this chronicle would 
not give her the pleasure it could were I not to mention 
something about him. I have already told you that Detta 
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Minna thoroughly spoiled him in his early years. After that, 
he had Fräulein Wöhlke from Bremen as his kindergarten 
teacher, who also made a strong impression on him. He 
nevertheless was devoted in his love of both parents and 
was delighted when he was allowed into the bathroom with 
his father in the mornings to be told either fairy stories or 
later to be shown military exercises. He really would imagine 
that he was a soldier and was delighted to promote himself to 
the position of lieutenant. Since Gustav was always late for 
lunch, because there was so much work to be done at that 
time, Walter had to eat ahead of him so that he could be in 
his little bed by 2:30. Until 2:30, however, he was allowed to 
sit in his high chair at the table and even to get some dessert 
if there was enough time, something he especially loved. If 
the clock struck 2:30, however, he would say, “Good night, 
Mother! Good night, Father!”, and would stand up, even if 
dessert had only just been dished out. Our guests could never 
believe this sense of discipline and would ask how we could be 
so cruel. But Walter had the right idea and never questioned 
that this was the way it had to be. Although Fräulein Wöhlke 
always looked after him very well, he did not look too kindly 
on her peculiar lack of discipline and order. Let any future 
daughter-in-law be warned about this, should she take offense. 
Anyhow, her lack of order was the reason why we dismissed 
Fräulein Wöhlke. But what our son wanted and what he was 
used to were a stronger issue. He was unable to get used to 
anyone else and we were obliged to rehire her. In his third 
or fourth year of life, he was visiting his grandmother in Ems 
with Fräulein Wöhlke. Uncle Dreyfus and I drove over there  
to join them one Sunday afternoon. It was our intention to 
try and encourage him to become more independent and so 
we left him alone in the garden. This experiment on our part 
almost had terrible consequences since being alone made him 
so nervous that he was beside himself and had to be brought 
back to the hotel whose name he remembered by a man 
who happened to be passing. In 1904 he began school and 
I remember well the surprise we had in Paris when he sent 
us his first school report in which he was given first place in 
class. I never really considered him a particularly good pupil 
and was totally delighted in my ambitions. His father was also 
very happy about it. He shared the position of first in class 
for all of his school years with his best friend, Otto Wagner, 
without ever having to study much. Although raising him 
has not always been as easy for me as it would appear, he has 
fortunately never caused us any real reason to worry.

During his school years, he would often go on journeys 

with us. The first time he came with us was on a long cruise 
on the “Viktoria Louise” to recover from the whooping cough. 
Walter claims, however, that he has few memories from all 
these journeys. When he was 13 years old, he was allowed 
to accept an invitation to visit Auntie Lotte and Uncle 
Ludwig in Grunewald. Mrs. Herz had purchased a very nice 
estate there for herself and her children and decorated it in 
a most tasteful manner. It was here they spent summers with 
all their children around them. Just recently, I happened to 
come upon a journal of Walter’s, in which he scrutinizes those 
people who at the time were strangers to him-his criticisms 
are still valid today-but speaks most highly and full of praise 
and recognition and respect for his Aunt Lotte and Uncle 
Ludwig whose qualities remain true to the present day.

During his high school years when he was in the second to 
last year of school, war broke out. It was hard to hold him back 
from registering as a volunteer soldier. It was only thanks to 
the intervention of his teacher at the time, Professor Spamer, 
that we were able to hold him back.

Although his cousin Willy offered him some tremendous 
openings in his banking business (both of them are still very 
good friends today), his heart was still set on a career as a 
doctor. And so, he first went to study medicine in Munich. 
I accompanied him there and he decided, contrary to his 
uncle’s advice, to follow our request and not become active. 
He became friends there with two men from Wiesbaden 
whom he had known superficially before, in contrast to 
home where he always had a large circle of friends around 
him. After half a year of study in Munich, he also had to put 
on a uniform and became an artillery soldier in Kreuznach, 
and later a first aid orderly. Now I was happy that he had not 
become a banker as I had initially wanted. On the first day 
of a vacation we took in 1917, we received the terrible news 
that he was being called up and would have to report in ten 
days for duty. He spent a few days with us in Berchtesgaden 
and then we had to let our only son go to war. This meant 
that the number of care packages we sent went up by one. 
The list was already quite long, but I believe that we were 
not about to forget the last name on the list. His time serving 
in the war effort went well and he was promoted to first aid 
lieutenant just before the campaign reached its unexpected 
end. Our joy at seeing him again was somewhat dampened by 
the fact that his division was one of the last to come home. 
We went three whole weeks without hearing from him. The 
worst thing was that he had mentioned in his last letter 
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that many cases of deadly influenza had struck the military 
hospital where he was working. We were sitting together 
one Sunday almost beside ourselves with anticipation, with 
Gustav reading to me from Taine’s “Frederick the Great”, 
when there was a telegram bringing us the first news of him. 
That night we heard from him by phone calling from the 
Eifel and were overjoyed to hear his voice. This must have 
been one of the most wonderful moments of our life. Since 
Wiesbaden soon came under occupation, Walter had to 
stay away another five days, and he chose Würzburg as the 
place where he wanted to continue his studies. Since we had 
become somewhat softened by the terrible calamities of the 
war, we granted him permission to join the newly founded 
“Rheno-Palatia”. This was something we never regretted, for 
during his further times of study he made many new friends 
here. Since anti-semitic tendencies were becoming more and 
more evident as a consequence of the war, it was the only 
right thing to do to show one’s true colors, and this is also the 
reason why all the grandchildren of Mother Meyer, at least 
those who are studying, have become K. Cer. Walter then 
went on to study in Cologne, Frankfurt and Berlin where, 
at the time of our silver wedding anniversary, he took and 
passed his state exam. Without being too proud as a mother, 
I can well say that he has always taken his duties seriously. 
He is currently an assistant doctor under Professor Umber in 
Berlin where he wants to go on to train in internal medicine 
in order, eventually and in the not too distant future, to settle 
in Wiesbaden and to support his father.

And now, dear Mother, you have the complete picture 
of your grandson. And please excuse me, dear reader, that 
I spent more time and detail on him than on the others. In 
the first place, I know more about him, and moreover I am 
convinced that Grandmother’s heart beats just a little bit 
faster when she hears the name of Walter. Is this indiscrete 
or even arrogant on my part? If you were to ask Mother, I 
would stand guilty anyhow in front of you, because I know 
her prompt answer would be, “I love all my children and my 
grandchildren the same.” But I would add to this quietly, 
“And one in particular!”

Our dear heroine seemed to bear the war years and the 
after-war years better than all the others I have named until 
now. Despite the fact that she had lost a dear grandson, 
something she will never get over, and that she knew that 
her son was a prisoner of war, which was a double worry for 
her, since he was far away in an unknown world and the 

family was without a breadwinner in Mannheim, she kept 
her deepest concerns locked deep inside and tried to make 
do with the situation. Since she asked so little of life, which 
I have told you about many times before, she claimed that 
going without food was a pleasure since she could think that 
by going without food she was saving other food for children 
who were at the moment more needy than her. She insisted 
on sending Julius regular care packages while he was a prisoner 
and to go offer her help in Mannheim. Even the things she 
loved most of meals, fresh bread rolls, she could do without, 
and I believe that even today she considers herself lavish 
when she treats herself to a bread roll occasionally. Even 
today she still drinks her malt coffee extract, only serving 
real fresh bean coffee when visitors arrive. Not that she does 
not enjoy coffee, just as Father Moritz was able to savor his 
tea with his rum, even though the rogue Paul Meyer tells 
everybody that it was more like rum with a little tea in it 
and that Grandmother would often call, “Moritz, don’t take 
so much rum!” And if today we say to Mother, “Why don’t 
you drink real coffee or buy yourself something nice?”, then 
her stereotypical answer is always, “It’s all the same to me” 
or “It doesn’t agree with me as well.”

When we returned from our summer vacation about four 
years ago, she really did look rather ill, and it turned out 
that she had actually had an attack of weakness during our 
absence due to undernourishment. Now it was our turn to 
turn our energies against this otherwise so energetic woman. 
Gustav was very strict with her and had all her food sent to 
her house with a result that she soon gained back her former 
strength. Although she suffered enormously that Ludwig 
had to spend the entire war as a medical officer in Russia, 
her motherly pride was also flattered by the fact that Ludwig 
gained a lot of respect during his stay in Oschmjana and 
received several honors. He in turn received the Iron Cross, 
first class, and had a street in the city named after him, the 
Dr. Ludwig-Meyer Street. She regarded the fact that Gustav 
was the administrator of a military hospital in Wiesbaden as a 
generous gift, for in spite of the unusual love which he showed 
to everybody, her Gustav will always remain her Gustav, as 
she will openly admit.

Since I have now been in Munich for eight days writing 
this down, and have left my master plan back in Wiesbaden, 
I only hope that I have not forgotten anybody. But since 
this could well be the case, I would like to present to this 
wonderful woman celebrating her anniversary all those who 
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are dear to her:

Julius, the oldest: A well-established merchant in 
Mannheim with a good heart and full of temperament.

Jenny: His wonderfully well-suited wife, hard-working 
in the business and at home, and understanding mother to 
three children.

Dr. Paul S.: The first and fortunate grandchild by mar-
riage, ambitious, hard-working in his practice. Too tall to be 
sufficiently supple. But old age makes you smaller.

Kurt and Ernst: Two boys who promised that they would 
become hard-working businessmen. Single-minded and 
hard-working.

Specialist Dr. Gustav: Hors de concours. Everything he 
has done until now he has done correctly. His happy mother’s 
heart recognizes this.

Alice: We trust that she has regained her health. At the 
present time, she is ill and therefore unhappy, like all Mey-
ers. When she is well again, she will make every effort to see 
the world through “Meyer” glasses and Mama Kätchen will 
always be happy.

Dr. Walter B.: The only and much too sensible son for 
his age. His own mother might complain about this, but for 
our heroine this is the greatest quality a person can have.

Mathilde: The most loving of women, and selfless daugh-
ter and dedicated mother.

Robert: An honorable man of stern opinion, a confirmed 
patrician and merchant.

Otto: A gifted and hard-working Bavarian.

Anna: The beautiful granddaughter.

Else: The attentive and thrifty daughter-in-law.

Hanns and Karl: Two sons totally dedicated to the well-
being of their mother, who would do anything to make life 
easier for their mother who lives alone.

Professor Dr. Ludwig F.: The pride of his mother, thor-
oughly spoiled by others and spoiling himself also.

Lotte: The best wife, exemplary mother and sweetest 
daughter-in-law.

Peter F.: The up and coming great man, as his outward 
appearance already shows.

Ilse: She will have an easy time in life.

Ruth: This will be the granddaughter whom we will be 
very proud of later. So, please, do not disappoint our expec-
tations!

Amelie: An elegant woman of Mainz who, already as a 
child as well as in the words of her mother, has always been 
able to see the truth.

Theodor: The son-in-law kat exochen, small but gracious.

Paul: The most ambitious and hard-working grandchild.

Kurt: A real “gamain” in the best sense of the word, always 
ready to help.

So, dear Mother, now I have painted your family one last 
time in a series of snapshots, of course only as they appear 
here before me, and I believe you have the right to be proud 
of each and every one of your descendants.

I would like to go back and mention the seventieth birth-
day we celebrated ten years ago, which only took place within 
a narrow circle of friends, unfortunately without Julius. Back 
then, the woman whose birthday we are celebrating today 
did not appear as fresh and as in command of her life as she 
does today. Difficult external events were probably respon-
sible for this, since today matters have become normalized 
again both externally and internally and she is able to bring 
to each individual and all true understanding. With her 
intelligent persuasive skills, she also has a great influence on 
things around her. I do still want to speak about her attitude 
to maids, which has always remained the same. Whenever 
she’s looking for a maid, I always say jokingly to her, “Why 
don’t you just simply announce that you are looking for a 
single maid and that each occurring work in the house will 
be executed by the mistress of the house herself?” The maid 
has the best of all worlds and is allowed to go out whenever 
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she wants on the one condition that she can accommodate 
certain weaknesses. Those weaknesses are not after all so 
bad and are not that many in number, but they should be 
named. The maid is not allowed under any circumstances to 
suffer from a love of eating and must go to bed early in the 
evening or go out and visit friends since the light bill is not 
allowed to go up beyond a certain limit. All in all, the maid 
has an ideal position, and the fact that she learns a lot and 
is accountable for saving money, everyone remembers her 
former mistress fondly. My mother often says, “My main job 
consists in receiving letters from maids who used to work for 
us.” So this is also proof that she is far more perspicacious in 
these matters than we in the younger generation.

The way we see Mother today at the age of 80, here before 
us, is the way she has always been: always busy, active, turn-
ing over in her mind how she should advise one or another 
of her children without upsetting them, always anxious to 
bring some kind of gift to a child she is visiting or the child 
who is sick (not a gift, however, that would cost her house 
and home). She was in the habit of putting aside all of the 
gifts that were brought for her so that she could at a later 
point give them to someone else, given the right occasion. 
It was only then that she felt real joy from the gifts that were 
originally intended for her. Even today, just like in the early 
days of her marriage, she is capable of being quite rude to the 
butcher if he doesn’t make the meat “nice” for her or includes 
too much bone with the joint. Her children’s visits give her 
unusual pleasure. No matter where they come from or what 
their career is, she listens to their reports attentively and 
full of understanding and her children are glad to accept her 
advice and her teachings. Then they go home and say that 
things could be done differently in this or that way without 
ever betraying their source, but proud to have such an intel-
ligent mother. She also refuses to let the pleasure pass by of 
having her children who come from a long way away not stay 
as her houseguests. She insists that the more spoiled of them, 
who do not object, that is, give up their own bed and go to a 
local pension. The wonderful tasting cakes, the meat roasts, 
and brown carps, which we never come close to being able 
to cook as well, always have to appear on the table during 
these visits, and cooked by her. When the sisters come from 
Mainz, she beams from ear to ear, and when Malchen, Minna 
or Klara have something good to say about her grandchildren, 
Kätchen feels this information becomes her property and is 
quick to tell it to other children when they arrive for their 
visits in turn.

And so now, as much as I regret it, I must draw this narra-
tive to a close. I would, however, like to say one more thing: 
not only you can be proud of your children, dear Mother, but 
we should all be proud to be able to call this unusual woman 
our mother. She has done so many great things through her 
selfless nature. And I believe that I am speaking in everyone’s 
name when I say thank you from the depths of my heart, and 
I believe I am able to promise in the spirit of all of us that we 
will all keep your example as a model in front of us for the 
rest of our days. And so you were right the other day when 
you recently said at a coffee party at Johanna Herz’s:

“If I had my life to live over again, I wouldn’t do anything 
different.”

Your forever grateful Alice.
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Karl Meyer’s recording

Karl’s own recording on his life,
done in 1976.

This is what I remember of the story of the Meyer Family 
should interest my children and grandchildren and is related 
here not only that they may take pride in remembering their 
ancestors but also to have a better understanding of their 
father and the generations which preceded him. 

The Meyer Family was of solid German Jewish back-
ground and our ancestors were expelled from Spain during the 
latter part of the 15th Century. They settled in the German 
state of Hesse which had been incorporated into Germany 
which was dominated by the State of Prussia. Prior to the 
middle part of the 19th Century the state of Hesse, as so many 
other German states, was a completely independent entity. 

Our family on my father’s side can be traced to approxi-
mately 1801, when my father’s great grandfather, Rabbi Salo-
mon Herxheimer was born. Rabbi Herxheimer was a famous 
Hebrew scholar and the first to translate the Bible into the 
then modern German. His Bible comments are still noted 
in the current Soncino Bible and his name is honorably 
mentioned in the latest edition of the Encyclopedia Hebraica. 

Another ancestor on my father’s side was Dr. Karl Herx-
heimer a noted dermatologist born in 1861 and perished in 
Hitler’s concentration camp in 1943. He was professor and 
Chief of Dermatology at the University of Frankfurt School of 
Medicine. He researched a skin condition which is known to 
this day as the Herxheimer Syndrome. Uncle Karl as recalled 
to his children was my grandmother’s youngest brother. 

Two outstanding members of my mother’s side were her 
two first cousins Dr. Ernest Friedberger and Hugo Friedberger. 
Unfortunately as Jews they could not further their careers and 

they both converted to Christianity early in life. 

Dr. Ernest Friedberger a noticed scientist whose specialty 
was hygiene and who taught his subject as professor at Uni-
versity of Kreiswalt School of Medicine for years until he 
was elected a member of the world famous Kaiser Wilhelm 
Institute of Medical Science in Berlin. He was actively teach-
ing there when I lived in Berlin in 1929 and had occasion 
to visit with him. 

Many years later in the United States, I read one of his 
articles presented in condensed form in the Reader’s Digest. 
His father Hugo immigrated to England about 1895 where 
he built the largest steel business there and became quite 
wealthy. Uncle Hugo not only converted to Christianity at 
the outset of the First World War  but also changed his name 
to Fry, his son Sir Jack Fry had taken over his father’s vast 
steel business was knighted by Queen Elizabeth several years 
ago. Sir Jack died last year from cancer. 

They were successful and prosperous bankers, business-
men, and doctors in both parts of my family. The doctors in 
the family married into families of great wealth and received 
vast dowries on their wedding day as it was the custom. My 
cousins, my brother and I up to the outbreak of the First 
World War, 1914, enjoyed a very sheltered and secure life 
but perhaps not a happy one. My brother and I had a gov-
erness, a German Fraulein who looked after us but all was 
supervised and held together by my paternal grandmother 
Kätchen Meyer who was born in 1845 and died in 1936. She 
was a remarkable woman of high intelligence with a grasp 
of politics and international affairs, who could discuss any 
subject with members of her family, intelligently and with 
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deep understanding. She was an avid reader, not only of the 
German Classics, but also of the modern German writers 
of the day such as: Thomas Mann, Gerhardt Helpman and 
others. She was in addition a very smart business woman who 
never ever spent money unless she actually had to. Yet she 
was most generous to me personally as she in fact helped me 
finance my trip to the United States. When we got married 
and she was then over 90 years old, grandmother mailed us 
as a wedding present 10 Marks every month for a full year 
which was the maximum the German Government allowed 
her to send. 

Grandmother Meyer was of great help to my grandfather 
Moritz, who was born in 1841 and died in 1914. And with 
whom she raised their family of six children. 

Grandfather Meyer was in the grain business and he pros-
pered during the German-French War of 1870 as a supplier 
to the Prussian Army. He was a man who liked to enjoy life, 
he liked his bottle of wine with each meal and had a wine 
cellar with enough bottles of wine to last my grandmother for 
many years after grandfather had passed away. Grandfather 
Meyer had made it a habit to stop his working day at about 3 
PM in the afternoon in order to go to a beer garden and play 
cards and drink beer with his friends. My grandmother had 
to keep after grandfather to put in a good day’s work but she 
finally realized that one of her sons just would have to look 
after the grain business. Their son Emil, my father, was made 
a partner at the time of his marriage.  My father was about 
30 years old when he married my mother Ilse Friedberger on 
January 12th, 1901. 

My father was a man of high business ethics, but a man 
who never minced words and who never hesitated to tell you 
what he thought, whether he would make a friend or foe of 
you, he was a prodigious worker always on the job, seven days 
a week. On Sundays he would drive out to the outside farms 
to collect outstanding debts. And I well remember one trip 
that he took me along, I must have been about five years old 
in a surrey and horse for the ride. 

My father played the piano well and as I remember had a 
beautiful voice. During his courtship he sent his bride-to-be, 
love poems which my mother cherished and had collected 
and assembled in a leather bound book. My mother was 
well educated, she attended finishing school where she was 
taught the social graces of Victorian Europe. Although greatly 
handicapped by manic depressive symptoms which developed 
after her first son was born, she had an inborn shrewdness 
and personal charm which made people like her instantly. 

But unfortunately her love and understanding towards 
her sons were blunted by her sickness, which worsened 
over the years. My parents’ marriage was arranged as it was 
customary by a marriage broker and involved a large dowry 
of 100,000 gold marks, which in 1901 was the equivalent of 
25,000 gold dollars. 

I believe that my father was very much encouraged by his 
parents –if not pushed into this marriage– which brought an 
awful lot of money to the business and also helped to provide 
for their youngest sons’ medical education. 

Mother brought these facts to grandmother’s attention 
more than once, facts that grandma Meyer did not particularly 
like to hear with her grandson as a witness. 

I believe that my parents’ marriage was not a very happy 
one. After my brother´s birth mother showed manic depres-
sive symptoms which perhaps were dormant before her mar-
riage but apparently remained with her throughout her life. I 
really never knew my mother as a completely normal person, 
and she was only able to stay with her family when her mental 
state was balanced between depression and mania. My father 
was very understanding and a good husband who carried the 
burden of a sick wife with great dignity. 

On August 31, 1906, the second son was born to my 
parents at the University Hospital in Geisen. My mother 
wanted to be near her mother´s home when her baby was to 
be born which explains my being born in Geisen where my 
maternal grandparents lived, rather than in Wiesbaden where 
my parents made their home and were I spent the first 21 years 
of my life.  From 1906 to 1913 my family lived at Kirschgasse 
50 in the business section of the city of Wiesbaden which in 
1926 had a population of approximately 150,000. 

Wiesbaden was and still is known for its famous hot water 
springs, similar to Saratoga´s springs in this country and was 
a very attractive place to live because of its mild climate. My 
father and grandfather owned the property which consisted 
of our living quarters which faced the street , the warehouse, 
a building completely separated from our living quarters by a 
large cobblestone yard. To the right of the warehouse was a 
two story building which housed the offices of the firm of S.I. 
Meyer and Co. the partnership of my grandfather and father. 

As a youngster of about five, I liked to watch from the rear 
balcony of the living quarters the drivers with their wagons 
and their team of horses bring in the grain from Kansas and 
the Winnipeg wheat and I should add that a good part of 
the farm products which my father sold came from America, 
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Canada. 

On my sixth birthday I received a present which I cher-
ished. It was a miniature soldier’s guard house painted in 
white with black stripes which were the colors of the state of 
Prussia which my parents had placed on the rear balcony. It 
had a seat inside but I didn´t sit inside the guard house very 
much because I loved to march in front of the little house 
proudly displaying my soldiers uniform. 

I started school at the age of seven and as it was local 
custom, began my first walk to school with a huge pretzel 
which was about my size in one arm and a slate with a piece 
of chalk in the other, and my mother watching me that I 
didn´t drop a thing walked the course with me. 

The first weeks and months of school where not taken 
seriously by me. As a matter of fact were not taken seriously 
by me at all. And my teacher and there was only one teacher, 
teaching all the subjects, and I remember his name it was 
Herr Shauss who was very unhappy with my progress or lack 
of it. My rank in class was 19 out of a class of 22. I had failed 
in most subjects, and my father as sick as he was, –the year 
was 1913–, and he had been suffering from stomach cancer 
for two years, tried to help me with simple arithmetic but 
he impatiently soon gave up and I remember well when he 
explained: “Karl, you never will learn math”. Thus creating 
a mental block in simple arithmetic, I´m still not very skilled 
in simple mental arithmetic. 

My failure at school in grades 1 and 2 were caused by 
deeply disturbing conditions at home. There were my father´s 
hopeless two years sickness with cancer which finally ended 
in his death at the age of 43, on September 8th, 1913, and 
my mother’s mental imbalance which meant depression and 
mania. 

I remember when my two first cousins, Walter, –who 
became an M.D. in school practices medicine together with 
his wife, and Fritz, Fritz enlisted into the German Army 
although he didn’t have to. He volunteered and was killed 
in battle during the first weeks of the First World War, at 
the age of 20–. 

My two cousins told me that my father had died. I think 
it must have rained early that morning of September 8, 1913, 
because when I went out to look for our dog Flucky puddles 
of rain water had just settled between the cobble stones of 
our courtyard, and it was then that my cousins called me 
with such sad looks in their eyes that I felt that something 
terrible had happened. 

There were many problems that faced us now with our 
father gone and mother was then 32 years old and unable to 
stay with her two sons, each seven and ten, because of her 
mental condition and a business which sooner or later had 
to be liquidated. It was then that the two grandmothers took 
over. It was decided that grandmother Bertha Friedberger 
my mother’s mother would move with us to take care of my 
brother and me, and grandmother Meyer would look in on 
us every day or so. 

Grandmother Friedberger, a deeply religious woman 
saw life much as it related to her orthodox Jewish religion, 
a belief she tried to instill on her two grandsons with little 
success. While we attended Hebrew School during the week 
and Sundays too, we dropped all religious education after our 
Bar-Mitzvas. While grandmother Friedberger looked after our 
physical well being such as food and shelter and she kept a 
strictly kosher household, it was grandmother Meyer who 
really influenced me more than any other person during my 
formative years. She gave me the confidence to live through 
the difficult years following the death of our father and the 
never ending problems with mother. Her praise encouraged 
me to do better work at school and I took my studies increas-
ingly seriously, just to get her praise and affection which I 
so desperately, eagerly wanted and which no one had before 
given me. 

My work at school improved considerably and within 
three years I was considered the second best all round student 
in my class. When I graduated from high school I had an 
almost perfect record in all subjects, except freehand form, 
a subject in which I had failed and which spoiled my total 
score and made it less than 100. 

The German school system prior to the First World War 
was on two levels, one for the poor and one for the rich. 
The poor sent their children to the tuition-free workshule 
which prepared them to become apprentices to the various 
trades. They would start work at about the age of 13 but while 
working had to be sent by the employer to a continuation 
school for twice a week for further education until the age 
of 16 and all class instruction would end. Those who could 
afford it, sent their kids to a special grammar school called 
Untershule which would last for three years to be followed 
by three years of junior high school and three years of senior 
high school. You would then have to pass a difficult state 
supervised final examination which lasted several days. The 
successful candidate could then enter junior college for three 
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additional years as pre university training. 

Both my brother and I had to end our education with a 
high school diploma and attended a special school for busi-
ness and accounting throughout a year. I should inject here 
that the years following the First World War, the years 1919 
to 1923, were years of a complete economic chaos, ending 
in the collapse of the German monetary system caused by 
inflation. It was a deliberate and cruel act to devaluate the 
Mark and the German interior bonds thus throwing the 
course of the First World War to the backs of the widows 
and orphans, the pensioners and the unsophisticated. My 
mother with two dependent children after the death of our 
father had to invest all her available money –the proceeds 
from the sale of the business and all other sources which 
exceeded 125,000 dollars, 1913 gold dollars–, into imperial 
bonds in line with the then valid German law. By 1922 all 
of it was without value. As by then the mark was stabilized 
at 4,200,000 marks to one US dollar. 

No person should ever have to live through such a period. 
Established values such as thrift and hard work were made 
a mockery of, and made no sense anymore. All this left an 
indelible sense of insecurity on both my brother and myself. 
And we had no choice but to look for work immediately to 
support our mother and ourselves. 

My maternal grandmother continued to live with us, 
and with her financial help the funds were all invested in 
industrial shares and foreign bonds and were thus inflation 
proof. We somehow survived one of the most difficult periods 
of our lives. I was able to recollect that an account book was 
always kept showing how much grandmother contributed and 
how much each and everyone shared in household expenses. 

I started work at the age of 16 as an apprentice with the 
Dreisner Bank in Wiesbaden, a position I secured with the 
help of my Uncle Dr. Gustav Meyer who was a friend of a Jew-
ish banker in Germany. I was first assigned to a book keeper 
who was not a friend of the Jews and he let me add rows and 
rows of figures six days a week from 8 to 6. I was so to speak 
a human adding machine. As regular adding machines were 
just coming onto the market but perhaps hadn’t quite reached 
our town yet. This time was my assignment  for two months 
when I was added to the Correspondence Department. 

The use of typewriters was restricted to one young lady 

who was secretary to the Vice President; all other routine 
correspondence was carried on in the Correspondence De-
partment with pen and ink. My handwriting was so very poor 
that it finally was brought to the attention of the manager, 
the friend of uncle Gustav. The manager sent a messenger to 
my department together with one of the letters I had written 
in low hand with specific instructions that he wanted to see 
the person who had such a terrible handwriting. I went to 
his office fearful of what would happen, but it all turned out 
right. The Herr Director urged me to take courses to improve 
my handwriting and I did but, was not too successful to sat-
isfy the Director’s sense of what a good piece of handwriting 
should really look like. 

To everyone’s relief I was then transferred to the Security 
Department where I really found myself as an assistant to a 
security salesman. And I was also placed in charge of the 
ward.  My social life during the years 1922-1926 was centered 
around a close circle of friends of young people of upper-class 
Jewish families of the same background. My brother and I 
were invited to join dancing classes arranged for by mothers 
whose children were in the same age group and of course they 
knew us and our family well. It was however mandatory for 
a young man, before he accepted, formally to call on various 
parents of the young ladies in the group, before being al-
lowed to take any girl of that group out for any social, sports 
or cultural event. 

Such a visit was carefully prescribed, it was always on 
a Sunday, never before noon, and it was all very formal as 
to length of visit, what to wear, etc. I remember that I had 
picked as a girlfriend a young lady by the name of Judith Hess, 
the daughter of an architect. Judith was rather small, but she 
had beautiful black eyes and she was highly intelligent with 
a good deal of charm. She had her heart set on me too but 
early marriage was not possible because I had other plans for 
my future. I had become aware that in my position with the 
Dreisner Bank in a small German city, advancement could 
only be very limited and I felt that I had to broaden my 
banking experience in order to succeed in my chosen field. 
To further that end I had asked the opinion and advice of my 
uncle Eric Friedberger, my mother´s younger brother and the 
father of my cousins Gerald and Vera. My uncle fully agreed 
with me and was able to obtain a position for me with his cor-
respondent bank in Berlin, the Deutche Effectum and Wexel 
Bank as a member of its Security and Exchange Department. 

I spent two of the happiest and most productive and 
interesting years of my life in Berlin. It was the period of the 
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late 20´s, 1927 to 1929. I had a well paid and interesting job 
right in the center of Germany. 

Berlin before the World War II was the capital of the 
German Republic and was also the cultural and art center 
of Germany. I had a number of Jewish friends with whom I 
explored the night life of the big city and generally led a happy 
existence. Many weekends were spent at my uncle Ludwig‘s 
country house at the suburbs where a carefree young crowd 
would gather for tea and dancing on Sunday afternoons.  Ber-
lin in the years of the late 20´s was a very liberal city with no 
restrictions or morals whatever. Thinking back over the years 
I must say that Berlin as far as loose morals are concerned 
was not any better if not much worse, than New York´s 42nd 
street of today. Anything and everything was permitted from 
pornographic books to sexy shows to easy pick-up of girls in 
any restaurant, beer garden or coffee shop. 

Yet with all the attractions that life offered, I felt very 
strongly that the economic situation in Germany was deterio-
rating rapidly and the future of a young man should he remain 
in Germany, would be bleak indeed and uncertain at best. 

Hitler at that time was not taken seriously at all. He was 
then the leader of a very small political splinter group, one 
of many political parties. I had when I lived in Wiesbaden, 
thought of going abroad especially the United States to 
further my business training. But I was not able to make 
successful contact with any firm located in England or the 
United States. While it was a difficult task to become affili-
ated to such a firm, I hadn´t given up. I knew that my aunt 
Alice, the wife of my uncle Gustav, my father´s older brother 
was the first cousin of the banker Willy Dreyfus who was the 
head of Dreyfus and Co. in Berlin, an old, highly respected 
and privately owned Jewish bank. I also heard that the Drey-
fuss bank had an affiliated bank in New York by the name 
of Strupp and Co. whose managing partner was Mr. Nathan 
who had been an apprentice in my uncle Theodor´s Bank 
in Mainz where he had started his banking career. Aunt 
Alice incidentally, was the niece of the late Jacob Schiff, the 
well-known philanthropist and founder of the international 
banking firm of Kuhn, Loeb and Co. 

Jacob Schiff was the grandfather of Dorothy Schiff owner 
and publisher of the New York Post for many years. My aunt 
was able to arrange an interview for me with her cousin Willy 
Dreyfuss. I remember the interview well, I gave Mr. Dreyfus 
a brief background story of my business experience, and then 
went on to point out that a young man needed additional 

experience in the banking business, particularly the banking 
business abroad. He agreed with me and offered to help me 
obtain a position with Strupp and Co. in New York. I was 
really hired right there and then as Mr. Dreyfus was also a 
partner in Strupp and Co. At the conclusion of our talk Mr. 
Dreyfus said: “You should stay in the U.S. about five years, 
then return to Berlin and I will then be interested to offer 
you a position in my organization”. 

Little did we both realize than in less than four years this 
old established bank was permanently closed by the Nazis, 
and he as so many other German Jews were made refugees 
and had to flee Germany where they and all their ancestors 
had lived for centuries. 

As to my own family, my uncles, aunts and cousins, with 
few exceptions were able to flee the Holocaust. All my uncles, 
aunts and some cousins have passed away since living in many 
different countries. The surviving cousins on my father´s side 
are the following: Ernst who settled in Mexico, Anna who 
lives in Chile, Walter and Peter , both doctors established 
themselves in England. Paul a radiologist fled to India he has 
since retired and lives in Canada as does his brother Kurt. 
Cousin Ilse resides in Israel, her sister Ruth lives in New York 
City. Cousin Otto who remained in Germany perished in a 
concentration camp.  

On my mother’s side, there remain cousins Walter, Gerald 
and Vera. Cousin Walter fled Germany for England shortly 
before World War II but returned to Germany after the war. 
He is a university professor at Heidelberg University. Vera 
and Gerald and their parents were trapped in Holland by 
the Nazis. Their parents died in Hitler´s gas chamber but 
Vera and Gerald survived. Vera resides in Kansas, Gerald in 
Amsterdam. My brother Hans, my sister-in-law Greta and 
Gaby emigrated to the U.S. in 1937. All now have families 
and have been reasonably successful in their chosen fields. 

All our children, they are now a new generation of the 
Meyer family. The descendants of Rabbi Salomon Herx-
heimer of Germany. Personally I was fortunate to leave 
Germany a few years before the rise of Hitler when I sailed 
to the U.S. from Southampton, England on August 7, 1929 
on the Cunard Liner, Homeric. I never had any regrets on 
leaving Germany as there was nothing to hold me. My brother 
was well settled in Cologne, my mother was permanently 
confined to a nursing home and my grandmothers who were 
then in their 80´s were well-taken care of. It was with great 
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hopes and youthful optimism that I set out on this trip to 
America, I knew that I would face an uncertain future but 
I also felt that perhaps a better life would await me instead 
of remaining in Germany where life sooner or later might 
change for the worse. 

How I felt in America shall perhaps be told at some later 
date...
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Ilse Meyer’s interview

Interview with Ilse Meyer, 
conducted by Margalit Bejarano on October 23, 2000 in Jerusalem.

MB: Maybe we start with your parents, Dr. Ludwig Meyer and 
Lotte Hertz, what do you know about their family?

IM: Well, they where great great grand cousins, they had the 
same great grandparents, the same family really.
My mother was the daughter of a very famous jewel family, 
they had a big shop in Berlin the Brothers Friedlender was the 
name of the shop. The brother of my grandfather married Mrs. 
Friedlender who was the owner of the shop and then he took 
in his brother and both the brothers Herz where jewelers, so 
they made from the Friedlender shop –were he married in–, 
a very very famous shop in Berlin in the most famous street 
of all of Berlin: Unter den linden.

MB: And your father came from where?

IM: My father came from Wiesbaden, there was a big family, 
he was a doctor and his brother was also a doctor and most 
of the sons from these two doctors were also doctors.
All the cousins were medical people and in our house one 
only spoke about medicine and who would be a professor in 
this town and who would be a professor in that town. That 
was our atmosphere, medical only medical. Like my father 
who was a professor in Berlin, his brother was a doctor in 
Wiesbaden and the son of the doctor was again a doctor, and 
all the cousins; everybody was a doctor.

MB: It was a Jewish family, was it religious? Assimilated?

IM: German assimilated, my father was in the First World 
War, in the club of the Jewish front soldiers, the Jews made 
their own club in the German Army.

MB: What did he do during the War?

IM: I think I give you a book about my father where every 
detail is written, I made the book, I collected it and when I 
make the book I’ll give it to you.

MB: You show me here a letter?

IM: This is a letter from the Central Archives of the Jewish 
people, they received all the personal papers of my father, I 
asked them if they are interested and they said they are very 
interested, then I said you could have them but only if you 
send me the copies, and this is all the copies of the letters, 
its not letters, its the story of my father’s life.

MB: You have here all the documents.

IM: The most interesting thing is the last, it is a letter from 
Russia, because my father was in Russia during the War and 
they thanked him very much… he made good to the Jewish 
people in Russia during the War.

MB: Do you know where he was?

IM: Ukraine, he was sent as a German doctor as part of the 
army to serve on the Russian front and he cured also the Rus-
sian soldiers, especially the Jewish, he made a Jewish kitchen 
and he took care of the Jewish patients. He was a Stabsartzt. 
Stabsartzt is the doctor for the army and there was in Russia 
a Stabsartzt Meyer Strasse.

MB: Well, you at that time were a child?
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IM: Yes I remember he brought to his three children, he 
brought one banana, that was something new for us, we didn’t 
ever seen one. My brother put it in three parts and his part 
he put into his mouth and ate, we shall not, we would not 
eat it, we keep it, we eat it tomorrow and we put it in our 
night table and were very excited that the next morning we 
could eat this little piece of banana. And it was black. We 
could only throw it away.

MB: Can you describe your home?

IM: We were rich people because my grandmother was very 
rich and when she died we heard often she left one million 
gold mark, that was a lot of money.
We had a very big apartment in Berlin and we had a beautiful 
house in Casilda. My grandmother bought it for my parents 
when I was born, as a present. Because the family Meyer 
had lots of lots of boys but it had no girls, I was the first girl 
and for that my parents bought it, she gave it to them (my 
grandmother).

MB: A two story house, with two floors, and you were living 
upstairs?

The bedrooms were upstairs.

MB: It was in a nice section?

IM: Grunewald, Grunewald is where the villas are, the nice 
houses, wald is the forest, beautiful streets and when I was 
in Berlin five years ago, we went there and had a look and 
still the place is very wonderful. That was the house and 
went through two streets, the front was one street and the 
backside was another.
In the summer we were in that house and in winter we were 
in Berlin, because my father was a doctor and had to work 
in the hospital and we had to live in town.

MB: Can you describe?, your father was probably very busy 
but your mother…

IM: I remember a very beautiful life. My father worked in 
the hospital, it’s for children without parents and he was a 
director, it was a very good job. Then he had private practice 
in Berlin. We had a very comfortable wonderful life.

MB: Who were your friends or the friends of the family?

IM: Jewish people, I had no non-Jewish friends as a child.

MB: What school did you go to?

IM: Augustus Victoria Schule

MB: It was not a Jewish school?

IM: No

MB: So your friends in school were also Jewish?

IM: No, I had more Jewish friends than non-Jewish friends. 
I did not go to the religious classes. My father went there.

MB: And for Yom Kippur?

IM: We went to the synagogue.

There is a very famous synagogue in Berlin, still, the Bran-
denburg Strasse, my grandmother gave money to the building 
and she has a place there and we could always sit with her 
and I was always very proud of it. I visited the synagogue five 
years ago; it is still the most beautiful synagogue in Berlin 
and maybe in Germany.

My brother was four years older than I was, so I was sixteen 
and he was already a medical student and we gave a lot of 
parties and we loved to give the parties; there were 20 to 30 
children invited from different ages, boys and younger girls. 
It was always for dinner and when we where finished eating 
we danced.
After school my father sent me to England to see and to live 
like a lady, that’s what he wanted. I went there twice, once 
for three months and once for half a year, in London.
When I came back I was a teacher in gymnastics.

MB: In school?

IM: No, privately

MB: Then I got married at nineteen.

MB: Can you tell me a little bit about your husband?

IM: He was a doctor, he was assistant of my father, Walter 
Hirsch, he was from Köln.
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MB: Your first child was born when you where twenty

IM: Yes

MB: A few years later the Nazis came to power, it probably 
changed your life?

IM: Oh yes, I said to my husband every day, what did you do 
for our immigration. I wanted to leave Germany and I had 
a terrible, terrible quarrel with my father, he said you want 
to go to Palestine, your children will be sick and you will 
leave poorly. I loved my father, he was such a good looking 
man, but I was so furious, I cried and I said to him: “You say 
my children will be sick in Palestine and you know I’m only 
going to Palestine and nowhere else” and I rubbed my head 
and I cried and went out and closed the door.
Next morning my father came out of his bedroom and said to 
me: “Your mother and I decided to go with you to Palestine”.
This was in `32, we didn’t go immediately, my father and 
my husband went in ’35 to look for license from the English 
people for being a doctor.

MB: You participated in some Zionist organization?

IM: Yes I was a very big Zionist; I worked voluntary for a 
Zionist organization in Berlin.

MB: What did you do?

IM: I collected money

MB: What gave you the idea of going into?…

IM: I had Zionist friends, there was one very very famous 
rabbi Klintch, everybody loved him. He had a synagogue 
and spoke about Palestine.

MB: Did you learn Hebrew?

IM: Yes, we started to learn Hebrew, we started in Berlin, and 
we had a very good teacher

MB: Your family was preparing to come to Palestine, and 
when they came they were looking for a job?

IM: That was not so difficult, my father had a job already 

when he was in Berlin, as director of the children’s part of the 
hospital in Jerusalem and then he got another job as director 
of the Hadassah hospital for children in Tel Aviv.

MB: And your husband?

IM: He came also to Tel Aviv.

MB: So they came first and you joined them later?

IM: Yes, they came in ̀ 35 and me and my mother came later 
and we brought the things from the house, everything we 
wanted to bring we could bring.

MB: You went to Tel Aviv?

IM: No, I never went to Tel Aviv; I said I would only go to 
Jerusalem. Then my father got the big job in Hadassah in 
Tel Aviv and they said would you come with us to Tel Aviv? 
And I said no, I came to Israel to be in Jerusalem. Then my 
sister and my brother came and said our parents are going to 
Tel Aviv and you are not going with them? And I said no, 
I’m staying in Jerusalem.

MB: Your brother and sister also came?

IM: No, my brother lived in London until he died and my 
sister first went to London and then to America.

MB: How was your integration in Palestine? Was it difficult 
in the beginning?

IM: Not difficult, I loved it here; my husband had a practice 
and worked in the hospital. I loved it… we found friends here 
immediately. I gave gymnastic lessons

MB: In your house?

IM: No, there was a youth thing; I have gymnastic lessons 
in the big garden there.

MB: In what language did you teach?

IM: Hebrew

MB: Did you learn Hebrew very quickly?
IM: Well, I came here and I knew enough Hebrew. In the end 
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I had a hundred pupils a month, children from six years to ten.

MB: How was your life?

IM: We were very sociable, we gave a lot of parties, we had 
a lot of English friends, people who lived here, the director 
of the electric company, teachers…

MB: Then you remarried.

IM: Yes, (my second husband) came from Russia; he was a 
writer, a translator. He spoke very good German but didn’t 
like to speak German. When I said something in German 
he answered in Hebrew.

MB: What do your children do?

IM: The first one is a psychiatrist in Chicago, the second is 
a director of oranim school for educators. Yuval works with 
tourists.

MB: Well,  thank you very much.
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Daniel Offer, M.D.: A Narrative of the 
Life of an Empiricist

     

by Marjorie Kaiz Offer

The professional life of a psychiatric researcher can 
easily be reviewed by examining his curriculum vitae—the 
empirical data that quantify his professional achievements: 
his degrees, appointments, awards, and grants, and the books 
and papers he has written and edited. But Daniel Offer’s vita 
presents only a black and white portrait of him. And while it 
is true that as his student I trained to be an empiricist, as his 
wife I find that a narrative rendering of his story is essential 
to a full understanding his life.

  
 Daniel was born Thomas Edgar Hirsch on December 24, 

1929, in Berlin, Germany, into a distinguished family that had 
lived for many generations within the walls of the old city. 
Throughout her life, Daniel’s mother Ilse proudly displayed 
the centuries-old document that granted this privilege to her 
Jewish ancestors. As the first child of Walter Hirsch, M.D., 
and his wife Ilse, and as the first grandchild of Ludwig Ferdi-
nand Meyer, M.D., and his wife Lotte, Daniel, as he would 
later be called, had been preceded by three generations of 
physicians. He was showered with love.

      
 In the early 1930s, Daniel’s family watched as Hitler, Na-

zism, and virulent anti-Semitism arose in Germany. Ludwig, 
the chief of pediatrics at Berlin University, and Walter, an 
assistant professor of pediatrics, were ardent German citizens 
who had served their country honorably in World War I. Yet 
both lost their positions when Hitler became chancellor and 
immediately barred all Jews from government positions. Also 

disturbing was the fact that three-year-old Daniel enjoyed 
marching about the playroom shouting “Heil Hitler!” and 
saluting—with the wrong arm. 

     
   With the domestic situation deteriorating, Ludwig and 

Walter traveled to Palestine in 1934 to see what opportuni-
ties might exist for them there; Ilse, Daniel’s mother, was an 
ardent Zionist and had argued for emigration to Israel rather 
than to the United States. So, in the spring of 1935, urged by 
their gentile friends and convinced that it was time to leave 
Germany, the family flew from Berlin to Trieste, then boarded 
a ship for Haifa. As Amos Elon writes in The Pity of It All: 
A Portrait of the German-Jewish Epoch, 1743-1933, “The 
rich had the fewest problems”: Daniel’s family escaped with 
their china, crystal, silver, and furniture. Ludwig and Lotte 
Meyer settled at 29 Idelson Street in Tel Aviv in a house that 
would later be recognized as a treasure of the Bauhaus school 
of design. Daniel, his baby brother Michael, and their parents 
moved into a small flat at 15 Gaza Road in Jerusalem, then 
only a sleepy backwater town of forty thousand without even 
a single traffic light. So on a warm September day in 1935, 
Daniel headed off to school for the first time, wearing the 
lederhosen that he would quickly exchange for khaki shorts.

      
  Despite the curfews, the water rationing, Arab terrorist 

attacks and stresses of World War II, Daniel had an idyllic 
youth. His life was filled with Boy Scouting, rummaging for 
antiquities in the hills around Jerusalem, and playing with 
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his rambunctious friends. In the sixth grade, he wore braces 
on his teeth, took lessons in social dancing, and, with future 
cabinet minister and Knesset member Yair Tzaban, experi-
mented with cigarettes on the roof of the shed that stood 
behind his family’s apartment building. He kept a large map 
of Europe and eagerly followed the Allied war effort. When 
he was fourteen, he overheard his parents and grandparents 
making plans to flee Palestine for New Zealand with only 
the clothes on their backs, if necessary, in the event that El 
Alamein fell to the Afrika Korps of the German Army. Each 
year he visited his brother Michael at Michael’s boarding 
school in Kibbutz Beit Alpha in the Galilee, a community 
so thoroughly socialist that at bath time, that Daniel was 
embarrassed and delighted to find himself in the shower with 
both boys and very grown-up girls. A third child, Daniel’s 
brother Juval was born in 1937.

        
In February of 1948, all thirty boys and girls of Daniel’s 

senior high school class at the Hebrew Gymnasium were 
dismissed in order to enter the army and begin training for 
the war that was certain to begin as soon as the state of Israel 
was declared. Daniel was chosen for the Palmach (“strike 
force”), the commando units that for years after the war 
would furnish the young state of Israel with its military, po-
litical, and cultural leaders. It was then, during his six weeks 
of basic training at a base near Tel Aviv, that Daniel legally 
changed his name from Tommy Hirsch. Rejecting the name 
Tommy because it was the nickname for the British during 
the British Mandate of Palestine, and Hirsh because it was 
German, he named himself Daniel Offer, proudly claiming 
his identity as a citizen of Israel. 

       
The state of Israel was declared on May 14, 1948, and, 

as expected, the armies of six Arab nations attacked the fol-
lowing day. Daniel, who was stationed in the Negev, was sure 
that he would not survive the war—his only weapon was a 
twenty-pound Canadian rifle, a virtual antique. But during 
the six-week War of Independence, Daniel, who was not 
athletic but nonetheless very fast, served admirably both as 
a scout and as a member of a submachine gun unit. One of 
his most profound memories of the war is of Egyptian planes 
strafing his camp site. As he ran to safety and dove into a 
trench, a young friend, a girl who could not move as quickly 
as he, was shot and killed. After that he fought in the battle 
of Rouchama, helped take Beersheva, then headed south 
with his unit to participate in the liberation of Eilat, the last 
battle of the war. 

He spent the second year of his army service in the medi-

cal corps. Then, in 1950, after his discharge from the Israel 
Defense Forces, he spent one semester at Hebrew University 
where he studied physics and typed a Hebrew translation of 
Gogol’s Dead Souls for his future stepfather, the poet and 
writer Yitzchak Shenhar.

       
 Israel did not have a medical school in 1950. And because 

Daniel’s father and grandfather wanted him to receive the 
best possible preparation for a medical career, they recom-
mended that he go abroad for his undergraduate studies. This 
would of course be followed by a medical education. So with 
a letter of acceptance from the University of Rochester in 
hand, Daniel sailed from the port of Haifa in the summer of 
1950. His most vivid memory of his arrival in America was 
of the food. Having come from a young country where both 
the quality and quantity of food were very limited, this skinny 
young man suddenly found himself in a world of plenty. On 
arriving in New York, he was met by friends of his family. 
When they stopped at a supermarket and asked him to select 
a steak, Daniel picked out a nice, small steak thinking that it 
was intended for the whole family. Daniel was shocked when 
his host then picked out four additional steaks for dinner.

    
His three years at Rochester were an education in more 

ways than one: for the third time in his mere twenty years 
Daniel had to adapt to another culture and master yet another 
language. When, cleverly, the university placed the three 
freshman foreign students in a room together and Daniel 
found himself living with a German and an Englishman, he 
and the Brit quickly formed an alliance. Daniel enjoyed clas-
sical music. Luckily, Rochester is the home of the Eastman 
School of Music—an ideal place to be. (To this day, when we 
hear a piece of music and I say “Name that tune in five notes,” 
he can usually name both the composition and the composer.) 
And he did like a good prank: when the university required 
students to wear jackets and ties to dinner on the weekends, 
he and his friends did just that but left off their shirts.

    
 After three years at Rochester he came to the University 

of Chicago to attend medical school. He published his first 
paper, “Psychosomatic Aspects of Ulcerative Colitis,” while 
still a student, an early indication of the research career 
that lay ahead. Following medical school, he did his year of 
internship at the University of Illinois in Chicago where he 
formed a relationship with the Institute of Juvenile Research 
that continues to this day.

While still an intern he interviewed for a residency in 
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the department of psychiatry at Michael Reese Hospital and 
Medical Center in Chicago, a nationally renowned depart-
ment that had distinguished itself in research, training, and 
patient care. The interview for the residency was a stressful 
one—Daniel walked into a conference room in which twelve 
august psychiatrists were poised around a large table. When 
the department chairman, Roy Grinker, commented, “You 
don’t look like a commando,” Daniel quickly replied, “I was 
a very special commando.” When Roy then asked, “What 
kind?” Dan answered, “A Jewish commando.” Daniel was 
accepted for training and began his residency on July l, 1958.

 
In the summer of 1960, Jack Wineberg, then director of 

the Illinois State Psychiatric Institute, had his eyes open for 
a bright and eligible young psychiatrist who would be suit-
able marriage material for the daughter of friends. He invited 
both Jay Hirsh and Daniel Offer to a large party at the home 
of Judith Baskin, a lovely young woman, who took an im-
mediate liking to Daniel. They married in July of 1961 and 
children soon followed: Raphael in June of 1963 and Tamar 
in February of 1965. Daniel’s career began to soar with the 
publication in 1966 of Normality (written with Mel Sabshin), 
and the publication in 1969 of The Psychological World of 
the Teenager. Professional joy was coupled with personal 
sadness when Judith was diagnosed with breast cancer. Tragi-
cally, she died at the age of thirty-six in May of 1976. Daniel 
suffered a double loss: she had been his partner not only in 
life but in research as well. 

        
Daniel found himself living a bittersweet existence. 

Although in 1977 he achieved a lifetime goal of becoming 
chairman of psychiatry at Michael Reese, he was a solitary 
man raising two young children alone. Always a respecter of 
data, he turned to Edward Goldfarb, a Reese psychiatrist re-
nowned for his “little black book.” To my great good fortune, 
Eddie recommended me, Marjorie Kaiz, then a young widow 
with an eight-year-old daughter, Susan. 

       
 Daniel and I met in January of 1979 and he courted me, 

not with flowers and candy, but with copies of his books. 
I found him to be charming, interesting, and fun and we 
married in August of that year. And, when Dan became 
my husband, he became a father for the third time when he 
adopted my daughter Susan.

        
Our years together have gone much too quickly. Our 

children have grown and prospered. Each has achieved a 

graduate degree, married a fine partner, become the parent 
of two children, and acquired a mortgage. They telephone 
us frequently from their homes in Sunnyvale, California; 
London, England; and Austin, Texas. We watch with great 
pleasure as our five granddaughters and one grandson travel 
the well-worn paths of human development.

       
Most surprising to Daniel has been the discovery that once 

again he has a wife who is a research partner. It took him a 
while to accept my unconventional credentials—a bachelor 
of science degree from the Medill School of Journalism at 
Northwestern University—but just as he had mentored more 
than seventy research fellows in adolescent psychiatry, Daniel 
mentored me. “Regular Guys: 34 Years Beyond Adolescence,” 
written with Eric Ostrov, is the product of our collaboration.

For the past seven years Dan has been on renal dialysis. 
This has not prevented him from teaching, doing research, 
publishing, and exploring the world, however. He has been 
dialyzed in no less than twenty-seven clinics around the 
world—“suds factories,” we’ve nicknamed them. While we 
have had many unusual experiences associated with dialy-
sis, none can compare to the sessions that took place on a 
two-week cruise from Buenos Aries, Argentina, to Santiago, 
Chile. For three hours every Monday, Wednesday, and Fri-
day, Dan found himself in a tiny room with a fellow patient, 
Ahmed, who had been born and raised in Cairo, Egypt. He 
too had come to America for his education; he had a Ph.D. 
in engineering from Stanford and had built a career in the 
United States. And he too had fought in the 1948 war—but 
on the side of Egypt. These two souls tethered to the same 
life-giving machine at the end of the world had some very 
interesting conversations. 

Exactly how Daniel Offer, M.D., will be viewed by future 
generations I cannot say—Daniel has taught me that the best 
research takes a long time so, sadly, I will be unavailable to 
collect the data.   

But if it is true that the value of a life can be measured 
by what one bequeaths to posterity, then Daniel will leave 
behind three important legacies by which future generations 
may evaluate his life: first, there are his many publications—
twelve scientific books and monographs, sixty-seven scientific 
articles, and three psychological tests and interpretive manu-
als; second, are his three children and six grandchildren; and 
last is his participation in the founding of the state of Israel, 
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a dream that lay dormant for two thousand years and came 
to fruition in the time of his youth.

    As Daniel’s wife and collaborator and as the empiricist 
he trained me to be, I am immensely grateful for the abun-
dance of variables in Daniel’s life and for the richness of 
the data that have made him the man that he is. And I am 
confident that when future generations take the measure of 
his life, they will find that his many gifts—his research, his 
family, and his service to Israel-comprise a munificent legacy.

D A N I E L  O F F E R
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Gunther Seelman co-wrote this book 
in Spanish relating his and others' experi-
ences in the island prision of Quiriquina.

Gunter, because of his role as a member 
and leader of the Socialist Party in Chile 
was imprisoned in 1973.

Here are a few excerpts from his book:

INTRODUCTION  

Right from the first day of the military coup, September 
11th 1973, in the Quiriquina island, situated in the Bay of 
Concepción, a prison was established for the political prison-
ers, leaders of the Unidad Popular. The gymnasium of the 
sailors’ training center was chosen and therefore the prison-
ers were under charge of the Chilean navy. The Quriquina 
is one of the less known detention camps that the military 
junta set up, maybe because very little has been written about 
it or maybe because outstanding figures of the overthrown 
government were not imprisoned there. Nevertheless over 
1500 people passed through the island and as described by 
the historian Alejandro Witker suffered “daily humiliation, 
hunger, cold, psychological pressure and death”

After 30 years of these events, we want to remember, 
contributing in this way to the historic memory from the view 
of the victims of the repression. At the same time we want to 

render a tribute  to the women and men 
who shared together with us the hard 
experience, specially those that stood out 
through the strength of their convictions 
and the dignity in their behaviours as well 
as   the solidarity shown towards the rest. 
We thank everybody who made the pub-
lication of this book possible.
We also want to contribute to heal the 

profound wounds that were produced in the Chilean society 
through the social and political confrontation in those years, 
rescuing the basic values of democracy and human rights 
which were underestimated. Respect for diversity, pacific 
resolution of social conflicts, tolerance in face of different 
ideologies and beliefs were some of them.

Finally we express our hope that the recuperation of these 
values will contribute to a reunion between the civil society  
and the Armed forces.

We thank everybody who made the publication of this 
book possible.

                   
The last chapter is titled: Retrospective Views

Thirty years have gone by since our detention in the 
Quiriquina island as political prisoners. The images of what 
happened there are clear and awake intense emotions in us. 
The time that has passed has closed some of the wounds, but 
others are still open. It is impossible to forget the suffering 
caused to so many people only for thinking differently.

Nevertheless time facilitates a dispassionate reflection 

Gunther Seelman's book:
Te Recordamos, Quiriquina     
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about the circumstances that surrounded the political facts. 
That is why we have thought that it is important to register 
the current opinions of several of the people we have inter-
viewed and of course of the two authors.

Through their account we can know what they think and 
feel today, how they visualize the values for which they fought 
and suffered at that time, what happened in their lives and 
which are their dreams and hopes today.

Rosa Lizama: Staff  in the Chilean Ministry of Health.
Ana Sandoval: Community leader.
Juan Elgueta, Retired teacher.
Ramón Carrasco, ex city councilor in Talcahuano
Patricio Cid, medical doctor
Octavio Ehijo autor and retired Navy Capitan 

Gunter Seelmann:
“Since the seventies, the world has changed notably. 

Chile has also undergone these changes. We are far away 
from the passion that politics awoke during the second half 
of the 20th century. Politics have been discredited and moved 
further away from ideologies, solidarity and social ethical 
principles have been abandoned have been substituted by 
the cold and pragmatic figure with the economical nature. A 
different new person is promoted, who, instead of projecting 
him or herself towards other human beings,  encloses him 
or herself acting in an individual competitive and egoistical 
level.

The mercantile society and the globalisation of course, 
do contain positive elements such as, among others,  techno-
logical progress in informatics and cybernetics. At the same 
time they produce inequity and social tensions in all nations 
and inside each one.

The bumbling and superb ideals from yesterday have 
crashed in a paradoxical and unpredictable world. Am I 
gloomy because of this?. Definitely not. Today’s world is not 
what I dreamed of, but it still is my world which I hope will 
surpass its unhappiness. People have turned out to be more 
complex than my maestros taught me. The human being with 
whom I have contact has two faces: one, is kind, the other, 
perverse. During many years I only devised the positive side 
and badness remained hidden. Recognizing this ambiguity 
causes pain and disappointment but it also obliges me to 
accept that I form part of it.

I cherish the hope that men and women really become 
more human, just and spiritual, that they don’t destroy them-
selves or their environment.
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Conversation with Dr. Roger E Meyer
     

The scientific journal, Addiction, is the premier publication in the 
field of alcoholism and drug addiction. Over the years, the editors 

have conducted interviews with research leaders in the field, 
from different countries. This interview was published in 2012.

In this occasional series we record views and personal experience 
of people who have specially contributed to the evolution of ideas in the 

Journal’s field of interest. Roger Meyer is an American psychiatrist who, 
throughout a long and fruitful career as addictions researcher and research 

center director, has exemplified an interdisciplinary view.  
He has helped position clinical research in the broad field.

A: (Addiction):  Can you tell us something about your 
personal background and early years? 

 
REM: In terms of my personal background, I was born and 

raised in New York City in a mixed Irish, Italian and Jewish 
neighborhood. My father had come to the United States from 
Germany in 1929 at the age of 23, having survived a child-
hood of lost parents1,  the stresses of the first world war, and 
the devastation caused by the massive postwar inflation in 
Germany. His extended family included a number of distin-
guished academic physicians in pediatrics, dermatology, and 
public health, but my dad and his older brother were largely 
treated as orphans while being raised by both grandmothers. 
It was probably the grimness of his past, coupled with the 
possibility of a new beginning in America, that enabled my 
dad to leave his family in Germany-thus avoiding the events 
that followed in the 1930s.

My mother was born in New York to immigrant parents 
from Eastern Europe. Her parents came to these shores as 
children where they worked as child laborers in factories, 
and never had the opportunity for an education . My mother 
trained as a commercial artist, but the talent in her gene pool 
was not transmitted to her sons . My dad was in and out of 
work through the early and mid-1930s; my parents were mar-
ried in 1935; my dad found permanent employment in 1937, 
and I was born in 1938 (after which my mother worked as 
a contract artist part-time from home). Like so many Jew-
ish sons of my generation, I felt much riding on my talents 
and intellect in terms of charting a future for myself and a 

1 His father died when my dad was 7. His mother had bipolar disorder and was 
intermittently hospitalized. He was raised by his maternal grandmother (who moved 
into his home), and his paternal grandmother (Kaetchen) who was his major source of 
encouragement. 

respected place for my family in America. Until the end of 
World War II (and, even into the early 1960s), American 
Jews of my parents’ and grandparents’ generations suffered 
from the “polite” anti-Semitism of quotas at universities and 
medical schools, “restricted covenants” that prohibited them 
from buying or renting housing in certain areas (or staying at 
certain hotels and resorts), and discrimination in employment 
practiced by a number of major banks and corporations. My 
generation was the first to experience the US as a real land 
of full opportunity, irrespective of race, creed or ethnicity. 

As was not uncommon in the 1940s, I went through the 
first six grades of elementary school in 4 ½ years. Following 
a less than stellar experience in junior high school, I was 
admitted by competitive examination to one of the finest 
high schools in the city (Stuyvesant). The student body (all 
male) was populated by some of the brightest people that I 
have ever known, and the competition was intense. I per-
formed well enough, but, with my parents’ encouragement, 
I chose a small liberal arts college in upstate New York for 
my next stop on the educational ladder. Hobart College was 
as different from my earlier years as one might imagine. New 
York State’s drinking age was 18. I was 16, and had never had 
an alcoholic beverage. The drinking on the campus led to 
the deaths of several of my schoolmates from auto accidents 
and/or accidental overdose. For the most part, fraternities 
were the major drinking venue, and I was very much outside 
of that orbit. (Nearly all of the fraternities excluded Jews, 
Asians and blacks). Apart from the social mismatch, Hobart 
College turned out to be the best possible choice for me in 
all respects, and I was admitted to Harvard Medical School 
upon graduation.
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Addiction: How did you become involved in research 
on the addictions?

Roger E Meyer (REM) reply: I discovered psychiatry as a 
medical student, observing the revolutionary changes then 
taking place in psychopharmacology and in community based 
treatments. For me, these changes heralded a transformation 
in the practice of psychiatry, and a path toward understanding 
the causes of mental illness. I saw psychoanalysis as reaction-
ary, with an institutional structure that impeded inquiry. I 
saw psychiatry as an opportunity to do research, particularly 
clinical research. I completed an intensive medical internship 
in Seattle in 1963 and came out of the experience feeling 
like a physician.  I then began a psychiatric residency back 
at Harvard in a very psychoanalytic environment.  In my 
second year, I chose to do research in psychopharmacology, 
and in my last year I completed a one-year advanced program 
in community mental health that had previously been at the 
Harvard School of Public Health.

A:  So you found your way to addictions research through 
research in psychopharmacology and training in community 
mental health? 

REM: Yes, during my first year of residency, I met Dr. 
Gerald Klerman (my first role model in psychiatry). Gerry 
was an encyclopedia of information about psychiatry, psy-
chopharmacology, and the history of medicine. I had been 
accepted into the US Public Health Service (PHS) as an 
alternative to mandatory military service; and, with Gerry’s 
support, I was invited to work in the addictions program at 
the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), which I 
saw as an opportunity to link my interests in public health and 
psychopharmacology, and I decided to accept the position.

CHANCE FAVORS A PREPARED MIND

A:  What was your experience at NIMH?

REM: My first six months at NIMH were a combination 
of a crash course in addictions, introductions to the leading 
figures in the field, and an orientation to government. I came 
under the influence of Mitchell Balter, a social psychologist, 
who became my first mentor in the addictions field. Mitch’s 
interest in epidemiology led me to the rich literature in drug 
and alcohol addiction. Later, a site visit to the Addiction 

Research Center at Lexington introduced me to some of the 
greats of that time and place: Harris Isbell, William Martin, 
Nathan B. Eddy, Jack O’Donnell, and, most importantly, 
Abraham Wikler (perhaps the most creative psychiatrist 
of his generation, and largely unknown to most of his con-
temporaries in the US). In December 1966, in connection 
with my role in government, I attended a meeting of the 
Association for Research in Nervous and Mental Disease in 
New York where I encountered state of the art science across 
the addictions field   I was hooked! I could now see a career 
path following models already laid out by the likes of Abe 
Wikler, Jack Mendelson, and Jerome Jaffe; three psychiatrists 
who were able to conduct translational research, a rarity in 
psychiatry to this day.

A: And the next step?  

REM: By January 1967, I was in the Center for Studies of 
Narcotics and Drug Abuse, part of a new Division of Special 
Mental Health Programs that also included the National 
Center on Alcoholism headed by Jack Mendelson. Our Cen-
ter Director died within three months of assuming office. So, 
at the tender age of 29, I was named Acting Director of the 
Center, a program that, seven years later, evolved into the 
National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA).

A: And what were some of the tasks that confronted you 
on taking up that job?  

REM: During the summer of 1967, I was asked to get a bet-
ter sense of the public health consequences of hallucinogenic 
drug use in San Francisco.  Later in the year, our Center was 
asked about rumors of carcinogenicity and teratogenicity of 
hallucinogens. We convened an expert, multidisciplinary 
panel and its output became my first monograph (1).

A: What else did this job entail?

REM: Our Center also had responsibility for funding ex-
tramural research, including Avram Goldstein’s early work on 
the opiate receptor, reviewing a broad portfolio of clinical and 
basic research, and approving the use of hallucinogenic drugs 
in research.   We were given the responsibility to develop the 
national marijuana program. We were also asked to develop 
community-based treatment programs for heroin addicts. 
Although it was strongly recommended that we focus our 
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support for the latter effort through the nascent community 
mental health centers, we believed that this was not the right 
strategy because the vast majority of these centers lacked 
expertise in addiction. We ultimately selected six programs 
for funding, including those in New Haven (Herbert Kleber), 
Chicago (Jerome Jaffe) and New York City (Efren Ramirez).  
The national marihuana research program was developed 
with the extraordinary help of a former executive of Mead 
Johnson Pharmaceuticals (Coy Waller) who volunteered his 
services (without cost) to our program. Together, we estab-
lished a plantation growing marijuana in Mississippi, and 
we acquired the necessary precursor molecules to synthesize 
delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol. 

A: Exciting times?

REM: It was a heady time: I testified before the Congress 
and was invited to advise the Pentagon on marihuana use in 
Vietnam; and, our programs were well funded. Despite strong 
urging from NIMH leadership to remain Center Director, I 
decided (with strong support from my wife) that the best 
next step would be to learn about addiction at the ground 
level and not from the heights of government. In my train-
ing as a resident in psychiatry, I had never worked with an 
alcoholic or an addict; and, I was intrigued by the possibilities 
for productive translational research on addictive disorders. 
I felt that I had acquired an excellent working knowledge of 
the contributions that multiple disciplines were making to 
advance our understanding of the pathways into and out of 
addiction and the implications for treatment and prevention. 
It made me more aware that the basic sciences underlying 
psychiatry were much broader than psychoanalysis and must 
necessarily involve non-psychiatrists who were skilled in 
research methodology. That understanding has been at the 
heart of my passion for the addictions field, and it guided me 
throughout my subsequent career as a researcher and research 
center director. 

A:  What did you do after you left the Center in 1968?

REM: I went to work at Boston University (BU) as the 
Deputy Director for Research Training in Psychiatry, a posi-
tion that was funded by an NIMH training grant.  I wanted 
to create a research program in addictive disorders.   My 
overarching goals were to develop animal models of opiate 
addiction that could be used to screen new medications; 

and, to adapt the bio-behavioral clinical research methods 
developed in the alcohol field by Jack Mendelson and Nancy 
Mello to my own studies of addiction. 

Efforts to Create Clinical and Animal Behavioral Models 
for Translational Research

A: So you went back to Boston with the intention of 
developing a more empirically validated model of addiction?

REM:Yes, at BU I began my original research with Dr 
Steven Mirin (who was my first mentee), on the reactions of 
heavy and casual marijuana smokers to marijuana in a labora-
tory setting. (2) (3).  At that time, I also began studies of oral 
etonitazene self-administration in a two-bottle free-choice 
drinking paradigm in mice in Joseph Cochin’s laboratory in 
pharmacology. The animal studies were an important stage 
in my own scientific development (4) (5), and in the later de-
velopment of my first research center grant award.

 
A:  How did you make the transition to biobehavioral 

clinical studies?

REM:  While I was still in the Department of Psychiatry 
at BU, Jack Mendelson re-located from NIMH to become 
Chair of the Department of Psychiatry at Harvard’s unit at 
Boston City Hospital, which was right next door to the BU 
Medical Center. The National Commission on Marihuana 
and Drug Abuse (the Commission), an advisory group em-
panelled by the Congress and the White House, had just 
released a Request for Applications for a study of the effects 
of chronic marihuana smoking on heavy and casual users. 
Although the funds were very limited, Jack suggested that we 
jointly apply to conduct the study at Boston City Hospital. 
Building upon the paradigm that he had applied to drinking 
behavior of alcoholics, we undertook a study of free choice 
marijuana smoking among 10 daily heavy marijuana smokers 
(compared with 10 casual users) over 21 days on an inpatient 
research unit. We assessed the differential reinforcing potency 
of cannabis in these two groups (6).  

A:  These individuals were given ad libitum access?

REM: Yes, but they had to work for the access; in essence 
to “purchase” each cigarette using points generated on a hand 
counter.  It was clear that marijuana smoking did not have 
the same urgency for the smokers, even the heavy smokers, 
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that Jack had observed for alcohol in alcoholics.  
Participation in the study launched a seven-year collabo-

ration and lifelong friendship with Jack, a long collaboration 
with Tom Babor at Harvard and then at the University of 
Connecticut, and my first hands-on experience with a be-
havioral analysis model of addictive behavior in humans that 
would lend itself to multi-disciplinary collaboration. With 
Jack Mendelson’s strong encouragement, I left the depart-
ment of psychiatry at BU and became associate professor of 
psychiatry at Harvard and Boston City Hospital. With the 
support of Joseph Cochin, I was able to continue my animal 
studies in the department of pharmacology at BU. Both Jack 
and Joe were very generous mentors, who shared their insights 
and their resources, and encouraged me to pursue my research 
interests and activities.

A:  What happened next?

REM: Those collaborations with Jack, and with Joe 
Cochin, and Conan Kornetsky at BU came together in a 
research center grant that I submitted for federal funding. 
The clinical core of the center grant involved bio-behavioral 
studies of volunteer heroin addicts given 10 days access to 
heroin while under treatment with a narcotic blocking drug 
or placebo on a research ward. 

A: What were some of the challenges that you faced in 
launching the clinical studies? 

REM: Prior to our own work, interdisciplinary clinical re-
search in the United States was largely limited to fixed – dose, 
fixed – interval, clinical experiments utilizing prisoner addicts 
at the Addiction Research Center at Lexington Kentucky. 

A: What were some of the most important ethical and 
methodological issues that you needed to address? 

REM: All of our subjects were men who volunteered with 
no promise of special treatment in the criminal justice system 
and they were paid only for the time spent participating in 
the research. The subjects had to be over the age of 22, with 
at least a two-year history of heroin addiction and at least 
two unsuccessful attempts at drug rehabilitation. Prospective 
subjects met with a recruitment counselor over a number 
of weeks to establish their eligibility to participate in the 
program and to ensure that they understood all aspects of 
the research and the follow-up treatment that was offered.  

Research subjects’ confidentiality was protected under rules 
established by the federal government. Before admission to 
the unit, the hospital attorney interviewed each subject to 
obtain informed consent. 

We built a unit that had a major therapeutic component 
to it.  All subjects were offered state-of-the-art treatment with 
naltrexone and counseling during aftercare and the opportu-
nity to prepare themselves for aftercare during the research 
ward stay. The Advisory Board of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts Division of Drug Abuse Treatment reviewed 
the program and concluded that the research program was 
not only ethical, but was among the best treatment programs 
in the State at that time. Some argue that exposing addicts 
to their drug of choice leads to relapse. In our heroin studies, 
there was no difference in outcome on naltrexone at follow-
up in the community between subjects who had received 
naltrexone on the unit (blocking the effects of heroin) and 
those who experienced unblocked heroin during 10 days of 
access (7). Subsequently, our studies in alcoholics given an 
alcohol challenge and followed up in the community showed 
no effect on compliance with the medication disulfiram (8) or 
on treatment outcome (9), compared with subjects who had 
not participated in the research. 

A: What was the focus of the studies of heroin use by 
heroin addicts?

REM: The studies were designed to test Wikler’s hypoth-
esis that an individual treated with a narcotic blocking drug 
who is allowed to administer heroin will repeatedly challenge 
the narcotic blockade, exponentially increasing the behavior, 
until there is behavioral extinction. 

We saw no evidence of operant patterns of extinction as 
had been postulated by Abe Wikler. Importantly, in spite of 
the fact that others on the unit were getting high, craving 
in the naltrexone-treated subjects remained low, and none 
chose to leave the unit, despite their exposure to powerful 
drug cues. For many years, I have cited these results to argue 
that “cue reactivity” is not a sufficient laboratory model for 
situational craving unless drug self-administration is possible. 

A: So the subjective report of craving actually mirrored 
drug self-administration behavior? 

REM: Yes. While this series of studies (7), included many 
interesting findings, the results on “craving”, validated by 
actual behavior, really excited my interest. While there is no 
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question that conditioned abstinence can be generated in the 
animal laboratory (10) and in clinical studies (11), we failed to 
find any evidence of withdrawal-like phenomena in relation-
ship to “craving” or actual drug self-administration. What was 
clear was that the anticipatory subjective state (“craving”) 
was associated with the expectancy of drug “availability”; 
and, the subjective state was “rewarding” and not aversive.  
Recent research in animal models has appeared to confirm 
the rewarding properties of the anticipatory state. (12); (13)

A: What else stands out in terms of the heroin/naltrexone 
studies?

REM: Laboratory models of drug self-administration 
behavior are an optimal proof of concept paradigm to test 
the efficacy of pharmacotherapy in addiction treatment. By 
examining the efficacy of naltrexone in our subjects given 
10 days of access to heroin, we could anticipate a number of 
issues with regard to outpatient follow up. Naltrexone would 
be effective if the patient actually took it. The challenge 
was in getting the patient to take it, by simplifying access 
and by rewarding medication adherence under observation. 
With a modest monetary payment ($1), in association with 
medication administration at the pharmacy, we demonstrated 
improvement in short-term medication adherence. 

A: In your bio-behavioural work it is abundantly evident 
that you met all possible ethical expectations.  You have 
referred very positively to the Lexington researchers and 
research tradition.  Within the expectations of the time do 
you think that Lexington researchers were ethical when 
they administered addictive drugs to prisoners and observed 
the acute and chronic effects of these drugs, as well as any 
withdrawal effects?

REM:  Your question really merits another entire inter-
view. By today’s standards, the research program at Lexington 
would be considered unethical because of its reliance on 
prisoners who participated in studies that lacked standards 
of informed consent, or were in violation of the recommen-
dations of the Declaration of Helsinki. But, the research 
program at Lexington needs to be considered in the context 
of the then current practice in the United States. Prison -- 
based research did occur before World War II in the United 
States, but during the war and until the early 1970s it became 
the bedrock of clinical research in this country. By 1972, 
more than 90% of all investigational drugs were first tested 

for safety in research subjects who were prisoners. Indeed, 
until that decade, the principal objections to prisoner based 
research were based upon a concern that these individuals 
would be given special privileges or early parole.

A: While you published many papers on your opiate stud-
ies, you presented many major findings in the book that you 
wrote and edited with Steve Mirin, The Heroin Stimulus (7)

REM: I really felt that the complexity of the work could 
not be communicated well in any one article or series of 
articles. Naively or grandiosely, we also hoped that the book 
would more clearly convey the interdisciplinary perspec-
tive that formed the basis of our research.  For example, 
behavioral pharmacologists tended to prefer small sample 
studies, and seldom applied statistics to their results. We ap-
plied multivariate statistics to look at the different variables 
that might account for observed behavior. Reinforcement is 
obviously important, but behaviorists regarded the concept 
of “craving” as unnecessary, and they tended to minimize 
host differences in the development and maintenance of 
addiction-explaining the entire phenomenon in Skinner-
ian terms. We felt that the information that we gathered 
on the subjective state (“craving”) could best be validated 
by observed and quantified behavior, but that the behavior 
in the absence of information on the antecedent subjective 
state would merely reify operant theory without advancing 
science beyond the extant animal models.

 
A MOVE TOWARD AUTONOMY LEADS TO 
ADMINISTRATION

A: But after your success at Harvard and Boston Univer-
sity, at the age of 39, you left Boston to become the Chairman 
of Psychiatry at the University of Connecticut. ,

REM:  In 1972, before we could actually begin our 
research, all of the clinical departments at Boston City Hos-
pital were consolidated under the Boston University School 
of Medicine. As a Harvard faculty member, I was offered 
the opportunity to transfer my clinical research to McLean 
Hospital, one of the two major psychiatric teaching hospitals 
at Harvard. The McLean administration was most gracious 
in welcoming me, and nine months later Jack Mendelson; 
and, in rapidly renovating a research unit for my studies.  
But the major problem about McLean, from my perspective, 
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was that the culture of the hospital was overwhelmingly 
psychoanalytic and the emphasis of the treatment model 
involved long-term inpatient hospital care with intensive 
psychotherapy.  Starting in 1975, I was approached by a 
number of medical schools to become a candidate for chair 
of psychiatry. I hoped that by taking on major administrative 
responsibility, I would be better able to build and sustain a 
research program and to avoid the marginalization that I 
felt at McLean. At the University of Connecticut (UConn) 
I saw a magnificent facility and a virtually empty hospital. 
Incredibly, psychiatry was on the first floor, not hidden away 
somewhere. They also had an inpatient alcoholism treat-
ment unit.  I obtained a commitment from the Dean that 
our department would always be able to retain 10 alcoholism 
treatment beds in the hospital, for what I envisioned to be a 
first class treatment, research and educational program. Ap-
plying some of the lessons learned in the heroin/naltrexone 
work, I felt that I could make an important contribution to 
alcoholism research and treatment; and, as a department 
head, I could help to bring addictions into the mainstream 
of psychiatry and of medical education. 

A: Did you imagine that you would be able to create an 
interdisciplinary research center at a relatively small medical 
school that was still in the formative stages, and was not in 
close proximity to the relevant basic biological, behavioral 
and social science faculty?

REM: In January 1977, I started to commute two days a 
week from Boston to Farmington, Connecticut to begin my 
tenure as Chair, while transitioning out of McLean and pre-
paring the manuscript for our book. During this time, there 
was an announcement that the National Institute on Alcohol 
Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) would fund its first research 
centers.  Tom Babor, whom I had recruited to McLean as part 
of the clinical research program, and I sketched out a vision 
for an alcohol center consisting of three parts. The first part, 
which actually became the typology study, was an effort to 
characterize alcoholics in treatment and to follow them to 
identify characteristics at the onset of treatment that might 
have predictive value over a three-year course.  We believed 
that if we could enroll more than 300 patients over the first 
18 months, we could begin to analyze data that would inform 
subsequent studies of treatment interventions. Tom agreed 
to be a long distance participant in our Center (he had just 
started his McLean-based Research Career Investigator award 
from NIAAA).

The second area of research emphasis was biobehavioral 
studies in alcoholic patients. Based upon my naltrexone 
studies in heroin addicts, I felt that we might be able to dif-
ferentiate gradations of severity of alcohol dependence by 
assessing physiological and subjective responses to placebo 
and real beer.  A psychophysiologist at the Institute of Living 
in Hartford, Charles Stroebel, had some very creative ideas on 
measurement. He and his boss and mentor (Bernard Glueck, 
Jr).were eager to collaborate with us. 

 
A: I would guess that genetics was the third piece.

REM:  Right. Jim Stabenau, who had been the first 
Chair of Psychiatry at UConn, had a strong background in 
the genetics of schizophrenia. He suggested that we develop 
studies in sons of alcoholics and that we follow the cohort 
through the age of risk. 

We were able to obtain what we needed to establish 
feasibility and to process the grant application; but, in that 
first round, we did not get funded.  

We were encouraged to re-apply.  The good news was that 
we were then funded; the difficult news was that the grants 
were each capped at $200,000 (direct and indirect costs) 
per year; and, we were expected to complete our projected 
studies which had been budgeted for costs that were more 
than double this amount. .  

A: Definitely a challenge!  

REM: Yes, but the start-up problems (compared with the 
challenges of our heroin project) seemed manageable, if I 
could find the right people. I called Lee Robins at Washington 
University for some suggestions about candidates for local 
direction of the Typology project. Lee recommended Victor 
Hesselbrock. Tom and I visited him in St. Louis during our 
first Center Directors meeting and we were very impressed. 
His wife, Michie Hesselbrock, (also a Washington University 
PhD), had been coordinating Lee Robins’ projects. We hired 
Michie to be the site leader of the Typology project, while 
Victor launched the study in sons of alcoholics when Jim 
Stabenau developed health problems. 

A: Other recruitments?

REM: I felt strongly that we needed to bring in additional 
senior faculty. I invited Jerry Jaffe to visit our department 
as a consultant in connection with a State of Connecticut 
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drug and alcohol treatment program. From that consult, 
Jerry indicated that if we could find appropriate resources, 
he would be interested in joining our department.  At that 
juncture, the new Medical Director of our affiliated Veterans 
Administration Hospital approached me with a request to 
build a stronger research, clinical and teaching presence 
in psychiatry at the hospital. In addition to Jerry Jaffe, we 
were able to recruit Ovide Pomerleau from the University 
of Pennsylvania, Dominic Ciraulo from Tufts, and Alexan-
der Nies from West Virginia University.  All had a strong 
commitment in the addictions area.  Ovide revitalized the 
psychology training program. As always, Jerry was a fount of 
ideas and with Dom Ciraulo, he began studies on the effects 
of antidepressants in the treatment of depressed alcoholics. 

In addition to his own work, Ovide was a great resource to 
me in the recruitment of a post-doc (Richard Kaplan), and in 
working with Richard and me on the studies of conditioning 
factors in alcoholics, which demonstrated that more severely 
dependent alcoholics were more likely to experience the 
conditioned effects of alcohol when drinking placebo beer 
than less dependent subjects or non-alcoholics. (14).

 
 RECRUITMENTS AND SUPPORT FOR YOUNG 

FACULTY CREATE A TEAM

A: So by 1982, you had put together an impressive group 
of researchers and a significant research infrastructure.

REM: By 1980, we had also successfully applied for a 
post-doctoral training grant that extended our resources by 
enabling us to recruit some very bright young people to alco-
holism research—and we had the senior faculty committed 
to their education. Of the four centers that were funded in 
1978 we were the only one renewed in 1982. By 1982, Tom 
Babor had agreed to relocate to UConn with the renewal of 
the Center Grant. 

A: An unusual aspect of the program at UConn was its 
recognition of young faculty and post-docs. Can you elabo-
rate on that?

REM: Yes, in the early days of the Center, some senior 
faculty felt that their names should be on every paper, even 
remotely related to their research.  I appointed a committee 
of junior and senior faculty that Tom Babor chaired. The 
committee recommended that we follow the American 
Psychological Association criteria, which required serious 

involvement in the preparation of the manuscript and the 
research in order to claim authorship. That tradition has 
continued at UConn, and has recently become more common 
in academic medicine in the United States. 

A: What happened next?

REM: 1982 was really the best of times. Our Center grant 
application had received a very high priority score in the 
review, and we were looking forward to 5 very productive 
years. During the summer of 1982, we were privileged to 
host a mini-sabbatical for Professor Griffith Edwards. Tom, 
Victor and I wrote about the organization of the Center at 
that time in an article published in 1985 (15), but by the date 
of publication, the dynamic had changed.  In early 1983, 
the Director of the Institute of Living stepped down and a 
national search was initiated for his replacement.  I heard 
from my some of my senior colleagues around the country 
that candidates were being invited to the Institute with an 
offer from the School of Medicine to include the UConn 
Chair of Psychiatry. When I confronted the Dean (who had 
recruited me) about the rumor, he indicated that if I were a 
loyal faculty member I would hand in my resignation as Chair. 
I told him that I would not resign; and, I pointed out that 
our Center had just been renewed with a very high priority 
score. We had been the first federally funded research center 
at the school.  He commented that there was no future for 
federally funded research centers. With the aid of one of 
our faculty (James O’Brien) who was well connected to the 
Governor, I worked very hard on a political front to delay 
any action by our medical center administration. But the fate 
of our clinical facilities was determined elsewhere, when the 
United States Congress authorized the implementation of a 
program to reduce lengths of stay for medical and surgical 
patients. Psychiatric beds were exempt. Health insurers fol-
lowed suit, and pretty soon, psychiatric beds became a much 
more valuable commodity for hospitals facing empty medical 
and surgical beds. And the Institute of Living’s board, to its 
credit, decided that it did not want to integrate its program 
with the State of Connecticut. But the period of uncertainty, 
combined with broken promises from our VA administration 
led to the departure of Jerry Jaffe, Ovide Pomerleau, Alex 
Nies and Dominic Ciraulo by 1985. 

THE NEED TO REBUILD
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A: So what steps did you take to reinvigorate the depart-
ment?

REM: First, I had to reinvigorate my own research inter-
est. During the summer of 1984, I spent a mini-sabbatical 
with Griffith Edwards at the Maudsley Hospital in London. 
The experience energized me and focused my interests on 
the Alcohol Dependence Syndrome and possible markers 
of severity (16). The results of the work that I had done with 
Richard Kaplan, supported the importance of the severity of 
alcohol dependence in the conditioning phenomena that we 
observed.  I was still interested in “craving” as a response to 
alcohol availability and the craving that followed beverage 
consumption. In my view, the latter was the basis for alcohol-
ics’ impaired control over drinking.  I saw rich possibilities 
in neuroendocrine correlates of “craving” as one of the foci 
for the Center grant renewal application that was scheduled 
for submission at the end of 1986. To examine parallel paths 
in human and animal studies, we recruited Bill Shoemaker 
from Scripps to head our animal model work. 

Ovide Pomerleau had meanwhile recruited an extraor-
dinary group of fellows and faculty (Ned Cooney, Mark Litt, 
and Ron Kadden) who were interested in disaggregating 
craving, by stimulating positive and negative moods in the 
presence of an alcohol stimulus. They shared a strong interest 
in cognitive behavioral therapy. With Tom Babor’s and my 
encouragement, they assessed alcohol dependence severity 
across some established scales. (17) 

A: So considerable rebuilding was achieved?

REM: The rebuilding job of replacing three full professors 
and one very successful assistant professor was still a major 
challenge. The core of our nascent pharmacotherapy pro-
gram at the VA Hospital was at risk. I began some strategic 
conversations with Herb Kleber, the director of the addiction 
research, training and clinical programs at Yale. The emphasis 
at Yale was on drug abuse, which complemented our alcohol 
research center. Herb and I saw the tremendous opportunities 
in a full collaboration, and we asked Tom Babor and Bruce 
Rounsaville from Yale to chart some promising opportunities.  
Bruce and colleagues offered to work with us in the develop-
ment of pharmacotherapy trials and to provide mentorship 
to a young psychiatrist, Hank Kranzler, to develop a phar-
macotherapy program focused on buspirone at the UConn 
site.  Stephanie O’Malley, who was transitioning to faculty 

status at Yale, was his counterpart in a study of fluoxetine in 
New Haven. 

A: What other developments were there?

REM:  We had completed our initial studies in sons of 
alcoholics.  With an unrestricted donation from Heublein 
Corporation, we were able to build and staff a neurodynamics 
laboratory headed by Sean O’Connor, an electrical engineer 
and psychiatrist. . He and Victor Hesselbrock sought to de-
termine whether the results from Henri Begleiter’s laboratory 
showing the relationship between the P300 component of the 
evoked potential and risk of alcoholism was specific to that 
disorder or linked to an externalizing personality disorder. 

A: Other developments?

REM: Most importantly, our program had expanded out 
beyond the Center grant to investigator initiated grants and 
major collaborations. Tom Babor and his team directed the 
project development and data analysis for Project MATCH, 
the largest psychotherapy/behavioral therapy project ever 
conducted. The Center’s Typology study results informed the 
treatment matching design and methodology.  Ron Kadden, 
Ned Cooney and Mark Litt directed the UConn clinical site 
in Project MATCH based on their work on the enhance-
ment of coping skills. Victor and his team became a critical 
component in the Collaborative Study on the Genetics of 
Alcoholism, a landmark project that was the dream of Henri 
Begleiter and T. K Li. Our Center’s work on the P300 in sons 
of alcoholics, and the rigorous assessment battery that Vic-
tor and his colleagues developed, made the UConn site and 
investigators a key part of the network. 

A: Any other important developments at this time? 

REM: Before our pharmacotherapy studies could get un-
derway , the manufacturer  of fluoxetine notified us that they 
would not provide the drug for outpatient studies in alcohol-
ics.  We were forced to go in a different direction. Based on 
the effects of naltrexone in a rodent model of drinking be-
havior,  and exciting preliminary data from the University of 
Pennsylvania on its effects on drinking in alcoholics, we were 
encouraged by Chuck O’Brien, the Director of the research 
center at Penn to attempt to replicate their work-- which is 
how Stephanie O’Malley and colleagues ended up studying 
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naltrexone.  Together data from our two centers (Penn and 
UConn/Yale) led to the FDA approval for naltrexone to 
treat alcohol dependence. Having completed my studies of 
naltrexone in heroin addicts a decade earlier, I felt a certain 
a connection between the new results and my previous work 
that was a mixture of emotional and intellectual excitement. 

A: It seems that the developments that began with the 
renewal process for the 1987 Center grant resubmission have 
stood the test of time! 

REM: Between 1987 and 1992, I think the Center really 
thrived. People collaborated well with each other and with 
investigators at other universities. There was a sense that the 
Center mattered, and that young investigators and post-docs 
were valued highly and deserved serious mentorship. Our 
now senior faculty had come of age, and contributed exciting 
ideas for research.  

In 1986, our new Dean announced to me that the 
school had been given a significant sum of money from the 
privatization of a non-profit health system in Connecticut. 
He insisted that the psychiatry department be given one 
of these four positions and I was named Physicians Health 
Services Professor as an endowed Chair. The Chair was tied 
to our research focus. In 1987, the Dean asked me to add the 
responsibility for the medical school’s faculty practice plan 
to my administrative portfolio.  

A: You had become a very senior figure in the field by this 
time, and your new responsibilities must have been helpful in 
securing your clinical and research base at UConn..

REM: By the late 1980s, in the alcohol field, among the 
psychiatry chairs, and in the broader world of psychophar-
macology, I sensed myself moving from young Turk to elder 
statesman within what seemed like a blink of time. When 
I was elected President of the Chairs group in psychiatry in 
1990 and President of the American College of Neuropsycho-
pharmacology in 1992 (the first alcohol clinical researcher in 
either role),  I felt that perhaps alcohol research was going 
“mainstream”.  By 1992, our Center grant was renewed for 
a fourth cycle;  and, the psychiatry department had become 
the top research department, on a per capita basis (in terms of 
NIH support) at UConn. And, when the school faced another 
crisis, the Dean asked me to add the role of Executive Dean 
to my jobs as Chair and Center Director. 

  

A: That sounds like a superhuman work load.  How did 
you do it?

REM: Both the psychiatry department and the alcohol 
research center were running well, with solid administrative 
support. I was able to recruit separate administrative staff to 
support my role in the Dean’s office. I cut back on clinical 
time, and I was no longer able to be directly involved in the 
day-to-day aspects of my research on craving. Even with these 
changes, by 1992, my three administrative jobs at UConn 
had worn me down a bit. In the fall of that year, I started a 
year-long sabbatical at the Center for Advanced Study in the 
Behavioral Sciences at Stanford. I was able to lead our grant 
renewal application in the year before the sabbatical, and I 
was able to negotiate an agreement with the medical school 
administration to provide new support for Center faculty as 
a demonstration to NIAAA of the value of the program to 
the medical school. 

A:  Your mini-sabbatical in London in 1984 had certainly 
re-charged your enthusiasm about alcoholism research. Were 
you hoping to achieve the same outcome with the sabbatical 
at Stanford?

REM: I felt comfortable taking the one year sabbatical 
because of the state of the department and the Center; but, I 
was concerned about imminent changes in leadership at the 
Health Center. It all had taken a huge effort, and I was not 
sure that I had the capacity or influence necessary to continue 
to protect and grow our programs. 

My research interests were still focused on the relation-
ship between craving and alcohol dependence.  I went to 
California and tried to sort out where I should focus my 
interests. Our youngest daughter had just left for college, 
and we had no urgent ties keeping us in Connecticut. At 
Stanford, the new Chair offered me the opportunity to 
come on faculty to do full-time research. I was also invited 
by several medical schools to consider a position as Dean of 
the Medical School or Vice President for Health Affairs. I 
chose to accept a position at George Washington University 
with broad responsibility for the entire enterprise (hospital, 
medical school and other health science schools).  The job, 
while fraught with problems, was in Washington, a place that 
my wife and I had loved during the two years that we had 
spent there when I was at NIMH.
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A: After an immensely contributory career in academia 
you tackled that new challenge – how many years were you 
at George Washington and what followed?

REM: I actually spent just under two years at GW. We 
completed the first Chair recruitments in many years, brought 
together an outstanding clinical, operational and financial 
team that generated the first “profit” ($35 million) in a 
number of years from clinical operations, forged a research 
partnership with a nearby non-profit basic science center, 
initiated a public health school, and increased the member-
ship of our wholly owned health maintenance organization 
(HMO) by nearly 50%. This enabled my boss, the university 
president, to proclaim that since we were now profitable, 
we should sell off the clinical operations (hospital, clinical 
department faculty and the HMO). Having feared his tepid 
commitment to the school, I had negotiated a 5 year contract 
going in; so I had 3 years to chart a new path. I was offered 
the vice presidency at another school in the Midwest, but 
my wife and I really loved Washington; so in 1997 I started 
a consulting business with three other partners to small 
and non-US based pharmaceutical companies interested in 
developing CNS-active drugs in the US. I also began work 
as a part-time consultant to the Association of American 
Medical Colleges (AAMC), focused on strengthening clini-
cal research programs at US medical schools. In 2002, as our 
business began to get very busy, I dropped my role at AAMC 
to focus on the other consulting activity. 

A: And as well as giving extraordinary service to your 
science I believe you have enjoyed a very happy family life?

REM:  The key event that has gone unmentioned so far 
was my good fortune in finding the right lifetime partner. I 
was very lucky that I was ready to make a commitment to 
one person at the exact time that I found that person during 
my residency. With Sheila, over nearly 45 years now, we have 
been privileged to raise three daughters (each accomplished 
in her own right) and now to experience the joys of being 
grandparents. My children remind me that I never missed a 
breakfast or dinner with them when not on travel; and, the 
stories that they remember from their childhoods reassure me 
that they felt a lot of attention and affection from their father 
(and mother). That is the deepest satisfaction.

A: And satisfaction in professional achievement?
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REM: From a work perspective, I feel that I was privi-
leged to enter academic medicine in the United States at a 
particularly good time. The research career goals that I set 
out to achieve as I was leaving NIMH in 1968 were achieved 
beyond my wildest expectations. The privilege of serving as 
a consultant to the White House in the Nixon and Reagan 
administrations (in particular) was a special opportunity to 
affect policy. My service as a reviewer for NIDA, NIAAA, 
FDA, and the Department of Veterans Affairs taught me 
a great deal about a broad range of research topics. My 
friendships within the addiction research community have 
been very meaningful. I know of no other field of research 
in psychiatry where the physician researchers are as com-
mitted to a multidisciplinary perspective or are as generous 
and mutually supportive. Most importantly, my former col-
leagues at UConn, especially my mentees represent the real 
lasting contribution to the field. What was striking to me as 
I went off on sabbatical was how my leadership role at the 
Center had evolved from being the source of research ideas 
to a more avuncular style and status of leadership. When I 
took my last mini-sabbatical at the Rockefeller Foundation 
Center at Bellagio Italy in 2000, I re-connected with the pas-
sion that I felt about alcoholism research. I put my thoughts 
together in a paper that I published in Alcoholism: Clinical 
and Experimental Research. (18). The message of my article 
was, in retrospect, a re-statement and further elaboration on 
what I had learned at NIMH on the importance of the broad 
base of research across public health, clinical observation, be-
havioral, psychological, and social science, and the multiple 
disciplines now grouped under the term neuroscience and 
genetics. On reflection I saw a continuing need to develop 
an interdisciplinary model of alcoholism that can only come 
out of models of interdisciplinary research that are perhaps 
yet to emerge. 

A: If we caught you on a rare day not working, how would 
we find you spending your time?

REM: Enjoying time with my family, biking along the 
C&O Canal, playing tennis, reading history and several 
daily newspapers, and a recent hobby: making slide shows of 
trips that my wife and I have taken. The DVDs that I make 
include the music of the local culture as background, and my 
voice-over guiding the video.  

A: Now a final question if I may.  You are someone who 
has always enthusiastically accepted responsibilities toward 
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younger colleagues.  Bright young people in the USA have 
no shortage of career choices.  If a young clinical researcher 
were today to approach you and say ‘Dr Meyer, you have vast 
experience, tell me why I should make addictions and their 
frequently stigmatized patients my priority choice?’ what 
would be your answer?

REM: Over the past 13 years (as a consultant to industry, 
government and the AAMC), I have appreciated even more 
that we in the addictions field have clinical research and 
animal models that should be the envy of our colleagues in 
the rest of psychiatry. The young person should understand 
that to really know the field, one should be able to read a 
multidisciplinary literature and to think outside of the box 
created by American psychiatry and the DSM. You should 
seek to collaborate with biological, behavioral and social 
scientists who will know more about research, but who will 
value what you can bring from your clinical observations and 
experience. You should be prepared to “get little respect” from 
your colleagues who study schizophrenia or mood disorders. 
You should be capable of developing empathy for the struggles 
that patients and families go through in coping with addic-
tion as a chronic relapsing disorder, and you should be able 
to provide hope and informed treatments (often repeatedly); 
applying or recommending the best evidence based interven-
tions that are available. There is no other area of psychiatry 
that has so much imminent promise.

REFERENCES

1) Meyer, RE (Ed).  Adverse Reactions to Hallucinogenic Drugs.  Report of 

a Conference held at the National Institute of Mental Health, Chevy Chase, 

Maryland, September 1967 (with selected background papers). National 

Clearinghouse for Mental Health Information, 1969.

2) Meyer, R.E., Pillard, R.C., Mirin, S.M., and Shapiro, L.M.  Administra-

tion of marihuana to heavy and casual marihuana users.  American Journal 

of Psychiatry, 128(2):198-204, 1971.

3) Mirin, S.M., Shapiro, L.M., Meyer, R.E., Pillard, R.C., Fisher, S.  Casual 

versus heavy use of marijuana: a redefinition of the marijuana problem.  

American Journal of Psychiatry. 1971;127(9):1134-40.

4) Meyer, R.E., Cochin, J., Miller, J.M., and Rosow, C. The relationship 

between aggression and host differences in vulnerability to opiate addiction 

in the white mouse.  Problems of Drug Dependence, pp. 6660-6667, 1970.

5) Hindman, R.D., Miller, J.M., Meyer, R.E., and Cochin, J.  The effect of 

length of exposure to etonitazene upon drug seeking behavior.  The Phar-

macologist, 13(2):262, 1971.

6) Mendelson JH, Rossi AM, Meyer RE.  The use of marihuana: A psycho-

logical and physiological inquiry.  New York: Plenum Press, 1974 

7) Meyer, R.E. and Mirin, S. M. The Heroin Stimulus: Implications for a 

Theory of Addiction. New York: Plenum, 1979.

8) Kranzler, H.R., Dolinsky, Z., Kaplan, R.F.  Giving ethanol to alcoholics 

in a research setting: Its effect on compliance with disulfiram treatment.  

British Journal of Addiction 85:119-123, 1990.

9) Dolinsky Z, Babor TF. Ethical, scientific and clinical issues in ethanol 

administration research involving alcoholics as human subjects. Addiction 

92:1087–1097, 1976.

10) Wikler, A., Pescor, F.T.  Classical conditioning of a morphine abstinence 

phenomenon, reinforcement of opioid-drinking behavior and “relapse” in 

morphine-addicted rats.  Psychopharmacologia 10: 255-284 1967

11) Wikler, A. Opioid Dependence: Mechanisms and Treatment. Plenum 

Press. New York 1980

12) Weiss F, Koob GF. The neuropharmacology of ethanol self-adminis-

tration, in Neuropharmacology of Ethanol: New Approaches (Meyer RE, 

Koob GF, Lewis MJ, Paul SM, eds), pp 125–162. Birkhauser, Boston, 1991.

13) Vavrousek-Jakuba E, Cohen CA, Shoemaker WJ (1990) Ethanol effects 

of CNS dopamine receptors: In vivo binding following voluntary ethanol 

intake in rats, in Novel Pharmacological Interventions for Alcoholism 

(Naranjo CA, Sellers EM eds), pp 372–374. Springer-Verlag, NewYork.

14) Kaplan, R.F., Meyer, R.E., and Stroebel, C.F. Alcohol dependence and 

responsivity to an ethanol stimulus as predictors of alcohol consumption. 

British Journal of Addiction, 78:259-267, 1983

15) From Collaboration to Integration:  The University of Connecticut 

Alcohol Research Center in Concept and Practice Babor, T.F., Meyer, R.E., 

and Hesselbrock, V.M. Bulletin of the Society of Psychologists in Substance 

Abuse, 4(1), pp. 3-15, 1985.

16) Meyer, R.E. Old wine, new bottle:  The alcohol dependence syndrome. 

Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 9(3):435-453, 1986. 

R O G E R  M E Y E R



182

17) Cooney, N.L., Meyer, R.E., Kaplan, R.F., and Baker, L.H.  A validation 

study of four scales measuring the alcohol dependence syndrome. British 

Journal of Addiction, 81, pp. 223-229, 1986.

18) Meyer, R.E. Finding paradigms for the future of alcoholism research: 

An interdisciplinary perspective. Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental 

Research. 25(9):1393-1406, 2001



183

E P I L O G U E

More than 70 years after having to flee Germany, the children from the 8th Generation of the Meyer 
family came along with their parents and grandparents from Israel, Unites States and Mexico to meet in 
Washington, DC, 2008.

(From left to right) Standing: Yarden, Meitar and Seguev Meyer, Shir Yehoshua, Nicole,  Andrea and Mi-
chelle Meyer,  Alma and Rotem Meir. Sitting: Julio Meyer, Saul Meyer-Fong,  Ron Yehoshua and Amir Meir.


